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- BOGGS, Circuit Judge. Johnny Phillips shot and killed Phil Glodo in 2007 with a shotgun

. loaded with birdshot aﬁer a day-long argument in which Glodo héd been the belligerent party. In _

2009, a Kentucky jury convicted Phillips of wanton murder and sentericed him to thirty years in

| prison. The' key evidence; at trial was autopsy photographs and medical testimoﬁy showing that

~ Glodo had been three feet away or more when the fatal shot had been fired and that he was shot

directly in the back of the head bétween the ears. Buit in 2013 Phﬂllps dlscovered an X-ray of the

deceased Glodo’s skull tha_t' was taken by the medical exa.miner’s‘ofﬁcé and nof turned over in the’

+ course of Brady discovery. He filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus on this basis. Phillips

argues that this X-ray shéws, or could be used in conjunction W1th expert testimony to show, that

© the fatal blast was. ﬁred at ah angle rather than straight-on from behind, which he further argued

suggested elther that there had been a struggle and that he had mdeed been acting in self-defense

or, altematlvely, that he had rot acted Wantonly by pointing the gun Squarely at the back of Glodo’s
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head and pulling the trigger. The district court denied'Phillips’s' habeas motion, and'Phillips
appealed.
Since the state concedes that that the X-ray was suppressed; the appeal turns on whether

the X—ray is favorable and materral Sée Brooks v. Tennessee, 626 F.3d 878, 890 (6th C]I 2010).

(3 of 35)

Most of the ev1dence at Phillips’s trial was equivocal; the physrcal evidence that purported to show

* _that he had shot Glodo squarely in the back of the head, and from far enough away not to have
been in a close physical struggle was crucial. 'Had the X-ray been made available to Phillips at the

time of his tr1al that trial could have been tumed into a “battle of the experts.” Thls is different

enough from What actually happened to “undermme[] conﬁdence in the outcome of the tnal ” -_ '

Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 434 (1995) (quoting United States v. Bagley, 473 Us. 667, 678

| (1985)). Accordingly, we reverse.

L FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY
| A. The Shootmg
~On the evenrng of October 18, 2007, Johnny Phillips shot and kﬂled Phrlhp Glodo. They
had started that day as friends. Phrlhps and Glodo lived in Laurel County, Kentucky, near London.
Earlier that day, they had traveled to Tennessee to geta boat license. Phillips v. C’ommonWealz.‘h,
QQIO WL 2471669, at *1 (Ky. June 17,L 2010). According to a mutual frlend, Randy. Capps, they
" had begun drinking even before that trip. Ibid. When they retorned after the trip to Phillips’s house,

they had planned to hold a cookout. Instead, Phillips took a nap, while Glodo drank beer on the

patlo Medical tests taken after Glodo’s death would indicate that his blood-alcohol level hadbeen

~at least O 14 that day. It seems that when Phrlhps woke up, he said somethrng that Glodo construed
. as accusing him (Glodo) of st_ealmg fifty dollars from Phillips. Glodo flew into a rage and stayed

in one for the rest of the day.

2 a
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The two parred ways that afternoon with the quarrel unresolved. That evenjﬁg, Phillips and

hrs ‘wife Angre visited the house of Randy Capps and his family. Capps was a mutual fnend of -

both men; i1 fact Glodo usually Vlsrted his house about four nrghts a Week while Phﬂhps came
"by about once a week. Cepps told Phi_llipe that Glod_o had ealled him repeatedly that aftemoon,
threatenjng to “kick [Phillips’s] ass.” As the Phillipses eociahzed with Capr)s, each man received
- more calle from Glodo, who foid Capps.that.he would sic his two Great Danes on Phillips. Phillips,
2010 WL .2_47'1.669, at *1. Angie could he_ariGlodo screaming into the phone when he was talking
with ]E;hilh'ps directly. Later, profanity—lérced voicemaile fhom Glodo would be found on Ph.illi.ps;s

phone.

After thirty to forty-five minutes at the Cappses, Phillips and Angie left. Phillips diove his _

- wife home, and then, leaving behind the motorcycle they had been riding, he returned to the -

}

..Capps-es’-- house alone in his pickup truck. As it would transpire, the truck had a shotgun in the

back.! Phillips and Capps' were in'the driveway talking about a boat tarp; they had been there for

about five to ten minutes when, just before 10 PM, Glodo pulled up and said, “What now, MFer?”
Ibid. Glodo and Phillips began to 'argue. At this point, Capps;- pointing out that he had children
inside, asked them to take their quarrel somewhere else. Id. |

Phllhps got into his truck and 1eft first, heading in the direction of his house; Glodo let him

out, then followed close behind. “As Phrlhps prepared to pull away Glodo yelled ‘Tl ram your

7 thllzps 2010 WL 247 1669 at *1. Capps could hear Glodo gunning his engme as he drove

_ after Phillips, though he doubted the former COuld catch the latter, as Phrlhps had a new truck and

L At trial, another friend of Phr]_hps Jerry Blanton, testified that this was Phillips’s “rabbit gun,” and that it
would have been rare for Phillips 7ot to have had a shotgun in his truck during huntmg season. At the prosecution’s

" - request, the court took notice that it was not rabbit-hunting season on the night of the crime. Angie Phillips testified

that Johnny Phillips had not taken anythmg from the house to his truck when he dropped her off, and Blanton testified
that had Phillips wanted to hurt a person, he had other guns that would have been more suitable.
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. Glodo’s was an older vehicle. As the two men droVé down the narrow éountry r.oad, two ridérs on
horseback approached from the other direction, followed by a truck towing a lar.ge horse trailer.
Philﬁps and Glodo pulled into the gravel parking lot of a chu:r(:h-to allow these to pass. Once in

 the lot, thc_ajr each exited their trucks. -. | |

Within mere minutes, Glodo lay on the ground, 'dyﬁg from a single gﬁﬁshot_ wouna that
entered the back of his héald.2 Phillips called 911, and remained at the sceﬁe as police and
paramedics: arrived. A Greeﬁ River fixed-blade kﬁife was 'recove'red from the.scene; no usable

. fingerprints ';wér'e‘ found on it, but some DNA was récovered. This Was enouéh-to exclude Phﬂlips

' as the source of the DNA but could not rule Glodo out or in. Nelther man had pfevmusly been seen

w1th that k:mfe 3 “[F]ollowmg the shootmg Phﬂhps gave a statement to the police in Wh1ch he

* claimed, inconsistently, that the shooting was both accidental and done in self—defense.” Phillips,'

2010 WL 24716609; at *3. Tn part, he said:

It was an accident.... It really was an accident. The gun went off prematurély. :

T'used it [the shotgun] to push him away from me and it went off.... He was standing
like this at me and had something in this hand.... When he come at me.... He rushed
my truck, he rushed to the side of my truck, I pushed him away from the truck with
my truck door, know what I mean.... He come up to my truck. I was watching him
in the mirror and they weren’t moving quick enough for me to go on the horses and
_stuff coming down that hill.... I pushed him off, basically used my door to get some
* room to get out of the truck, and as I come out of the truck I come with the gun, I
pulled a shotgun out beside me. I was trying to scream at him get back in your damn
truck, get the hell away from me and leave me alone and he was coming like this
~ and his hand was at his side. In this hand right here is the one he had had the knife
in, all I could see was shiny chrome and he carries a .44 that long ... in that hand
cause he was coming at me like this, know what I mean, with this arm extended,
with his forearm like extended...

2 Capps would later testify that it was two to three minutes “at the most” from when the two men left his
driveway until he heard the gunshot. A witness who had been one of the men on horseback sa1d that the gunshot came
roughly thirty seconds to one minute after he passed the two trucks.

X,

3 Phillips produced testimony that this was unlike the sort of knife he would own, while the state evinced
testimony from Randy Capps that Capps had never seen Glodo with a knife. -

(5 of 35)
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That’s when he come at me with his forearm, I didn’ tknovtr if he was going to try
and push me.... I raised that gun up cause he had that thing in his left hand when I

raised the gun up. He was coming at-me and I took the gun'and give it that and he
drdn’t move four inches and the gun went off.

.I swear on my mother’s grave I d1dn’t mean to shoot that man. .

Ibid. (e'llipses in original). Physical evidence produced at trial did give some indications of what

happéned at the scene. According to police, the two trucks were found abou_t half a car length apafrt |

. (60f 35) -

“or more.” The night was very'dark. Phillips told police he was standing about at the reat driver- -

side wheel well of his truck when the fatal shot was fired; the location of the ¢j ected shotgun shell

roughly confirmed this. Holes were found in the driver’s side windshield of Glodo’s truck, which - -

the prosecution argued corresponded to shotgun pellets and therefore indicated the gun had to be

pointed more level than up, though the angle of fire was not established with any great deal of

precision.
“B.  Phillips’s Trial

Phillips was tried in the Laurel Circuit Court on June 2 and 3, 2009 Phillips, 2010 WL

.2471669 at *1. Prior to his trial, Ph1111ps moved for the dlscovery of Brady evidence, mcludmg .

for ‘[alny results or reports of phys1ca1 or mental exam_mahons and of scientific tests or

expenments concerning the deceased.” The trral court ordered Brady discovery. The state turned

over its autopsy report and several color photographs, but not the X-ray in question in this appeal.
© At tdal, the Corhmonwealth called Dr. Jennifer Schott, the then-state me_dical examiner

Who had performed the autopsy. The Commonwealth also -showed the Jury postmortem

photographs of the back of Glodo s head, W}nch as the prosecutor put 1t when arguing for

adm13s1on “show[] a central location of the wound between - you see both ears in the photo.” Dr. |

Schott was directly exammed on thése photographs as they were shown to the jury. She agreed |

that it showed that Glodo was shot “111 the back of the head” and told the jury that the Wound was
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“in the middle” (as opposed to on the “right-hand side [or] the 1eﬁ;hand side”). She also explained

that a photo in which Glodo’s hair had been shaved post-mortem showed markings around the

Wound (“satellite 1esions”) that indicated the spread of shotgun pellets, as the shot moved further -

from the mouth of the gun. This in tun mdwated she argued that the end of the gu.n was “three

feet or more” from Glodo’s head though she caveated that “for a deﬁmtwe answer, you would

need a firearms examiner.”™ (The state did produce a firearms examiner, Gareth Deskins, but not

to testify to this point; rather, he testified that the shotgun used in the shooting had a normal trigger-

' pull weight and a flmctioning‘safety;-thus_'rebutﬁng' any suggestien fhat the gun accidentally

discharged.) Dr. Schott testified to the direction from which the shot had been fired:

Q

A-.

Clarifying, you said you also examined the back of his head, correct.
The pellets entered the back of his head.

Pellets. Not bullet. Pellets entered the back of h1s head. D1d you recover
some of those pellets?

: Yes I did.

And where’d you recover them from‘? '

From the inside of the head

' Okay And that would lead us to believe -~ that would lead you to beheve

that the direction of the pellets' track?

In general, the drrectlon was back to front.

Meaning the back of Mr. Glodo’s head to the front?
Yes. V

In addi_tion to-this physical evidence, the state introduced evidence of the incénsistencies

PN

. of Phillips’s story on the hight of the shooting—mainly his switching back and forth between

* . *Somewhat incongruously, the Kentucky Court of Appeals, in Ph.rlhps s2012 collateral attack on msufﬁc1ent
assistance of counsel, took a different view:

Dr. Schott clearly stated she was not a firearms examiner; however, she testified that she had
performed approximately 1200 autopsies as a medical examiner. Dr. Schott performed an
examination and autopsy of the victim; consequently, we believe she was qualified to render an
opinion regarding the manner in which the wounds were inflicted.

Phillips v. Commonwealth, 2012 WL 5457645, at *5 (Ky. Ct. App. Nov. 9,2012).

6
6 a
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explaining the shooting as an accident and as self-defense and inconsistencies in some of the

 details, such as where Glodo was shot, how far away Glodo was when shot, and how Phillips got

out of his truck—both through pohce testrmony and by playrng recordrngs of his 911 call. and
police interviews. Nevertheless the stress laid on the physrcal evidence that Phr]lrps had been shot

' squarely in the back of the head cannot be overstated. In its opening, the Commonwealth declared

. (8 of 35)

| that, “what we will be asking thr's jury to t'rnd is that the defendant is guilt}r of murder. We will be

asking the jury to find that because the defendant intentionally took a 12-gauge shotgun, pointed

it at the back of the victim’s head, and pulled the trrgger ? At the close of Phﬂhps s jury. trial, the
' prosecutor addressed the jury agam ‘

Ladies and gentlemen, don’t — I keep saying he was shot in the back of the head.
That’s obvious. But don’t forget what Dr. Schott told us, that the bullets were
traveling from back to front, okay? That doesn’t give credence to his story that he
was shot from the side and grazed and took a chunk of his head off. He was shot
from the back, and the bullets were from back to forward -- the pellets did, not

-~ bullets. But the pellets went from back to forward, which means that shotgun was
fired directly from his back mto h1s head. That is intentional murder.

g The jury found Phillips gurlty of wanton murder the next charge down not Jntentronal nurder.

But the basis for the wanton-murder instruction was that Phrllrps had pozm‘[ ed] a loaded gun at

somebody’s head.”> (Emphasis added.)'Moreover, the instructions for wanton murder required -

“citcumstances manifesting in [sic] extreme indifference to human life.” Tt is hard to see how the
.pro secution’ s argument that “the pellets went from back to forward, which means that shotgun was
fired directly from his back into his head” would not therefore have gone to this charge as well as

* that of intentional murder.

5 The prosecution’s closing argament does not contain a clear separate argument for why Phﬂhps should be

found gurlty of wanton murder, as opposed to the intentional-murder argument just quoted. Nevertheless, in explaining

the meaning of the charges to the jury, the prosecutor said, “Anytime you pull a loaded gun on somebody, we all know
what could happen. We all know the worst-case scena.no is that gun goes off, okay? If you think that’s what happened,
. he’s guilty of wanton murder.”
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The defense theory at trial was, as PhJ]llps now describes it, that:

Glodo had been shot during a physical altercatlon that he had initiated. According
to defense counsel, Glodo had attacked Phillips with the knife found at the scene
after threatening him throughout the day and into the night. Phillips, acting in self- -
defense, attempted to push Glodo away with his gun, and a struggle in the dark -
ensued. Phillips’s gun went off, and Glodo was killed. To support that theory,

- defense counsel pointed to statements Phillips made to the 911 dispatcher and to
the detective that he believed he may have shot Glodo in the face, upper torso, or -
chest, suggesting that Ph1111ps had no idea that he had shot Glodo in the back of the
head

Brlef for Petitioner at 10-11 (record citations omltted) Ph1111ps was helped by the extensive
testlmony from prosecution witness Randy Capps and defense witness Angle Ph1111ps showmg that

Glodo had been the belligerent one all day On the other hand he was harnpered by the fact that

(9 of 35)

both his statements on the night of the shootmg and his counsel’s argument at trial contmued to

equivocate over Wheth'er,th_e shooting had been aceidental or self—defense. The blggest problem,

* . as Phillips now points out, is that “the defense lacked any evidence to challenge the centerpiece of - -

the C-ommonWealth’s case—Dr, Schott’s testimony regarding the gunshot Wourld in the back of

Glodo’s head.”
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The jury was givén instructions on (inte_rltional) n:uurdler,6 wanton mﬁder,7 secondfdegfee -
m:mslautc;hte.r,8 and reckless hémicide.? The jury found him guilty of wa_ritoﬁ murder after a bﬂef,
sanie—déy deliberation, and then delibi_a_rated aéain and arriVed ata senténce of tthty years. Phillips
appczlﬂed aé of right to the Kenmc];y Sﬁpreme Coﬁrt, which upheld his conviction and sentence.

Phillips, 2010 WL 2471669.

C.  State and Federal Post—Conviction Proc'eedingsv
 In 2011, Ph1111ps filed a collateral challenge to his conviction m the Kentucky state courts

Phillips v. Commonwealth 2012 WL5457645 at *2 (Ky Ct App. Nov. 9, 2012). As part of this

§ “Ingtruction number 5, ‘Murder,” *You will find the defendant guilty of murder under this instruction if and
" only if you believe from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt all of the following: That in this county on or about
October, 18, 2007, and before the finding of the indictment herein, he killéd Phillip Glodo by shooting him with a
shotgun and that in so doing he caused the death of Phillip Glodo intentionally and that in so.doing he was not
pnvﬂeged to act in self-protection.””

7 “Instruction number 6, ‘Murder,’ [sic] “If you do not find the defendant guilty under instruction number 5,
you will find the defendant guilty of mu.rder under this instruction if and only if you believe from the evidence beyond
a reasonable doubt all of the following: That in this county on or about October 18, 2007, and before the finding of
the indictment herein, he killed Phillip Glode by shooting him with a shotgun and that in so doing he was wantonly
engaging in conduct which created a grave risk of danger to another and thereby caused the death of Phillip Glodo
under circumstances mamfestmg in extreme mdlfference to human life and that he was not’ pr1v11eged to act in- self-
protection.” :

& “Instruction number 7, ‘Second Degree Manslaughter,* ‘If you do not find the defendant guilty under either
instruction number 5 or aumber 6 you will find the defendant guilty of second-degree manslaughter under this
instruction if and only if you believe from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt all of the following: That in this
county on or about October 18, 2007, and before the finding of the indictment herein, he killed Phillip Glodo by
shooting him with a shotgun and that in so doing though otherwise privileged to act in self-protection, the defendant
was mistaken in his belief that it was necessary to use physical force against Phillip Glodo in self-protection or in his
belief in the degree of force necessary to protect himself, and that when he killed Phillip Glodo he was aware and
consciously disregarded a substantial and unjustifiable risk that he was mistaken in that belief and that his disregard .
" of that risk constituted a gross deviation from the standard of care that a reasonable person would've observed in the
same situation,”” '

9 “Ingtruction number 8, ‘Reckless Homicide,” “If you do not find.the defendant guilty under instruction
numaber 5, number 6, or number 7, you will find the defendant guilty of reckless homicide under this instruction if and
only if ‘you believe from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt all the following: That in this county on or about
.. October 18, 2007, and before the finding of the mdictment herein, he killed Phillip Glodo by shooting him with a-
shotgun and that in so doing, though otherwise privileged to act in self-protection the defendant was mistaken in his
belief that it was necessary to use physical force against Phillip Glodo in self-protection, or in his belief in the degree
of force necessary to protect himself, and that when he killed Phillip Glodo he failed to perceive a substantial and
unjustifiable risk that he was mistaken in that belief and that his failure to perceive that risk constituted a gross

deviation from the standard of care that-a reasonable person would've observed in the same sitnation.”” |
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challenge, Phillips engaged forensic scientist Larry Dehus, who raised the possibility that X-rays

would havé been taken of Glodo’s skull at eutopsy. The state denied that any such X-ray existed;

and the Kentucky Court of Appeals ultimately rejected the argument as procedurally barred.
szllzps 2012 WL 5457645, at *4

In 2013, however a state open-records request ﬁled on.Phillips’s behalf re\tealed that such
an X-ray did exist, and in April 20 14, the state turned it over. Phllhps thereupon brought a Brady

claim in state court; this was rejected on the grounds that such an argument should have been rarsed

on direct appeal. Phillips v. Commonwealth, 2016 WL 2894026, at *3 (Ky. Ct. App. May 13,

2016).
Phillips then: turned his efforts to federal court, where he filed a petition for.a writ of habeas

corpus under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, based (in pertinent part) on the Brady violation. A magistrate judge

initially recommended denying Phillips’s claim. The district court reversed the magistrate judge'

and ordered an evidentiary hearing on the significance of the X-tay.

At that evidentiary heuring, the Commonwealth pro.duced as its sole Wimess Dr. J ennifer
'Sch_ottl,. the c'oroner ‘and forensic pathologist who testified at Phillips’s trl‘al, thile Phillips’s
o attorney produced forensic scientist Larry Dehus, who had first anticipated the existence of the X~
ray in Phlllrps s 2011 challenge Some problems resulted from this mismatch of" spec1alt1es Dr.
Schott echoed testimony she had given at trial and conceded that she was not a ﬁrearms expert.

Dehus was forced to admit that, not being a doctar, he was not properly trained in reading X-rays.

In particular, Dehus stated (in response to a question from the court) that the X-ray was taken from =

the back of the head up toward the face, but Dr. Schott pointed out that the X-ray had been talgen'

from the face down toward the back of the head. (Dehus doubled and then tripled down on his

-contentlon.) The district court, meanwhile, at certain t:lmes seemed to misapprehend the standard

10
10a
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by which Brady evidence is to be evaluated, framing the inquiry as one into the sufficiency of the

evidence: “What I’m interested in leaming is, how does this x-ray change anything? Why is it or

is it not material to the medical examiner’s determination? . . . . And let’s talk about . . . whether
or not that even differs with her original _testimony.” (Emphasis added.) -
The heart of Dehus’s testimony concerned the X-ray:

A. ....The opaque particles are pieces of shot.” |

Q. And are you familiar with the type of projectile that was used in this case?
A Tt was birdshot ammunition, yes. . l '
Q. Bxplain to the Court what birdshot is.

A. Well, it’s a large number of small BBs. And I think indicated, when I read the
report, about .12 inches in diameter. And depending on the size of the load, there
could be anywhere from 170 to 220 pellets in that type of b1rdshot

Q. And it would be fair to say that the x-ray that we have there s not 200 birdshot
in the skull, is there?

" A. It certainly doesn’t appear to be that number It’s not possible from the x-ray to
individually count each pellet. But it doesn’t seem -- it doesn’t appear to be
anywhere near that number.

(Emphasw added) Phllhps S attomey also elicited testlmony conftrmmg that shot had not exited
through the front of Glodo’s skull. From this, and from the lack of shotgun Wadding on the X-ray,°
Dehus concluded that Glodo must have been shot at an angle. (As the district court pointed out in

its opinion after the heating,- the wadding and exit wound testimony are procedurally barred from

being a basis for relief, because both were knowable prior to the discovery of the X-ray.)!! On

10 Dehus argued that, “There is no mention of the recovery of the plastic shotgun wadding from the wound

_ or any,mention of it being found in the area of the scene. If a - in a direct shot to the back of a head at a distance of

three feet, a wound would be expected ~- it would be expected that the plastic shotgun wadding would travel with the
shot and enter the Wound in the head.”

1 Dehus-had had access in 2011 to both the autopsy report and autopsy photographs from which the exit-

wound and wadding points could be gleaned. Indeed, Dehus appear to have made them in the report he made in support
of Phillips’s 2011 state collateral challenge. The Kentucky Court of Appeals rejected an ineffective-assistance-of-

_counsel challenge based 6n the failure to hire a ballistics expert at the time of the original trial; the opinion specifies
that only Phillips’s “own conflicting statements” were provided as évidence.for this theory. thllzps 2012 WL
5457645, at *4.

11
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‘redirect, Dehue would go on to 'opine- that, indeed, the direction of the shot could be deterr_ni_ned '

from the X-ray itself:

Q. What does the x-ray show you as 2 balllstlcs person? .

A. If you know where the entrance wound is and you know where the bullet or the
majority of the shot ends up, then that can give you an indication of the dJrect1on .
of travel of the bullet or shot in the body.-

Q. And in this case, did it show you that?

A. Yes. ' |

Q. What direction did it show you"

A. In my opinion, it’s - the shot ended up in the right side of the head and the

entrance was towards-the left side of the head.

Finally, it is Worth notmg fhat i both his argument to the court a:nd his direct- and Cross-

examinations, Phillips’s counsel repeatedly seemed to conflate angle (whether the shot was fired

straight-on or from an angle) and distance (whether the muzzle ‘was closer to or further from

Glodo’s skull): So too did Dehus and Phillips himself (who spoke briefly at this hearing). Bach

used the phrase ‘execution style” ta charactenze ‘walking up behind the individual and shootmg
squarely in the back of the head” This phrase and mdeed this concept was not used at the original

trial—and it would come back to bite them‘.

For'fhe Commonwealtﬁ, Dr. Schott testified that, in keeping with standard.practice for |

gunshot wound victims, the state’s autopsy technicians would have ta.ken the X-ray. before she

pefformed her autopsy. The X—rayl was taken fo tell what kind of proj ectile—shot or bulleté—wa_s
in the skull pre-autopsy. She alsc testified that during the autopsy, she ha(i recovered 19 pellets as
a represen’paﬁve sample “for the purpose of them béing examined” by the crime &1ab. Dr. Schott
emphasized that as the X-ray was oniy a two—dimensiopal image, without another X-ray from the

. side, she could not tell the exact location of any shot. Therefore, she saici,'the X-ray had “no bearing

on direction of the njury.” When asked, “can you tell from the x-ray how many pellets are -- in

12 v
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the head[,]” she respoﬁded, "‘[n]o.”- Dr. Scho_tt did not testify directly one way or the 6ther to
Whgthef all the shot one would expect was there; on cr_oss—éxamiﬁation her position was that she
could not speak to firearms questioné, and thus that position prel:v.enteld her from reaching the
question. The state also seemed at pains to affirm that Dr. Schott still believed the victim to have
been shot “m the back of the head.” Dr. Schott cdnfnmed_ﬂlem was no exit Wéund. '

After the hearing, the district co_urt'ru_led that “the x-ray is not favorable to the defendant.
Nor is it material.” Phillips v Valentine, 2018 WLl4976801, at *2 (E.D. Ky. Oct. 15, 2018). First,

it set aside information that could have been obtained before the discovery of the X-ray. Then, the

(14 of 35)

- court found that what was left was the X-ray evidence.bearing on, as Dehus had put.it; “the

‘djiection ofthe shot and the relative quantity of the shot.”” The heart of the district court’s opinion
is that:

Dehus’s testimony about the significance of the x-ray is not reliable. He testified
that “as best [he could] tell,” the x-ray was taken from the back of Glodo’s head.

. (DE 137, Tr. at 19, 20-21, 50.) Jennifer Schott, the medical doctor who performed
the autopsy of Glodo, however, testified that the x-ray was taken front to back. (DE
137, Tr. at 31.) Dehus conceded that he was not qualified to say whether the x-ray
was taken from the front or the back because his is not a medical doctor. (DE 137,
Tr. at 52.) Dr. Schott is a medical doctor. Further, she served as the medical
examiner for the Kentucky Department of Justice (Pf.. Ex. I, Tr. at 2-3) and would
necessarily be more familiar with its procedures. Thus, her testimony on the angle
of the x-ray is more credible. Because Dehus believed the x-ray was taken from the
back of Glodo’s head, any conclusions that he drew from the x-ray are unreliable. .

. Bven assuming, however, that Dehus’s opinion is correct and that Glodo was shot
from behind at an angle and at a distance, that does not undermine confidence in
the jury’s finding that Phillips committed wanton murder. A person is guilty of

~ wanton murder under Kentucky law when he “wantonly engages in conduct which
creates a grave risk of death to another person and thereby causes” the person’s
death. KRS § 507.020(1)(b). Evidence that Phillips shot Glodo from behind at a
distance is not inconsistent with the jury’s verdict. Wanton murder does not require -
a finding that Glodo was.shot “execution style” in the back of the head. If anything,
-evidence that Phillips shot Glodo in the back of the head from a distance contradicts
Phillips’ claim that he shot Glodo in self-defense. Further, Dr. Schott did not testify
at frial that Glodo was shot “execution style.” In the portion of the trial testimony
that Phillips provided the Court at the hearing, Dr. Schott, testified that Glodo was

13
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shot at “three feet distance or more.” (DE 137 Tr.at39; Pf Ex. I, Tr at 13; DE 30-
7, Com. Bf. at 13.)

For all these reasons, the Court does not find the x=ray favorable-to Phllhps or
matenal to, his guilt.

Id. at *4-5. The ChStl’lCt court thus demed the petltlon for the writ of habeas Corpus but granted a
cert1f1cate of appealability as to the Bvrady issue. The matter is now before us.
I  STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is a habeas proceedihg following an evidentiary hearing. Therefore, we review the
dtstrict court’s conclusions of law and of mixed questione o.f law and fact de novo, while reviewing
its factnal findings for clear error. ng v. Westbrooks, 847 F:3d 788, 795 (6th. Cir. 2017j; see a_lso
Bennett v. Brewer, 940 .34 279, 286 (6th Cir. 2019). |

The Kentucky state courts held that Phﬂhps S Brady clalm had been procedurally defaulted

on appeal Therefore, Phﬂhps must demonstrate both cause for the default and preJudlce from the

(15 of 35)

alleged constitutional error. Brooks v. Tennessee, 626 F.3d 878, 890 (6th Cir. 2010). Where the

error is a Brady violation, however, the test for assessing cause and prejudice merges into the test. -

for assessing the Brady claim on the merits:

To demonstrate a Brady violation, a habeas petitioner must establish three
elements: “The evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because
it is exculpatory; or because it is impeaching; that evidence must have been
suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and prejudice must have
ensued.” Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82, 119 S.Ct. 1936, 144 L.Ed.2d
286 (1999). A habeas petitioner -demonstrates prejudice by showing that the
suppressed evidence is “material.” Id. at 282, 119 S.Ct. 1936.

A state’s suppression of Brady evidence constitutes cause under the procedural-
default doctrine. Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 691, 124 S.Ct. 1256, 157 L.Ed.2d
1166 (2004). The prejudice prong for both analyses is the same. Jd. Thus, a
petitioner who proves a Brady violation demonstrates cause and prejudlce to excuse
procedural default of the Brady claim. Jd. '

Brooks, 626 F.3d at 890-91.
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.  ANALYSIS
i A. The X-Ray Was Suppressed

To take the easiest quest1on ﬁrst there is no questlon that the X-ray was suppressed. The

(16 of 35)

’ government 1tself acknowledges “the prosecutlon s madvertent suppress1on of the X—ray of the

. victim’s head[.]” Brady does not requlre that the suppression be del1berate Strzckler 527 U.S. at

- 281-82; see also Barton v. War den S. Ohio Corr. Faczlzty, 786 F. 3d 450 465 (6th Cir. 2015). Nor

does Bmdy reqmre that the prosecutor s office have had knowledge or possess1on of the material

at the time of tnal See za’ at 281. (In our case, the Commonwealth mamtalns that prosecutors

denied the existence of the X-ray before the courts _1n._2013 because it never knew that the X—ray

existed. The Commonwealth’s current attorney admitted at the evidentiary hearing, however, that
- this was only speculation. |

The Commonwealth admits on appeal that, “Phrlhps has estabhshed cause for the default

in that the X—ray was not turned over to Phillips until an open records request was made As we

have seen; “cause for the default” and the Brady suppression mqulry are the same. Brooks 626
- F.3d at 890-91. The'refore, the gdvernment has conceded the suppression element of the Brady

test.

| B. 'jThe X-Ray Was.Favorable :

Phillips’s argument is that the X-ray shows that there \tzas far less shot m Glodo’s skull
than one would eipect‘had the fatal blast been fired straight-on from behind, as the prosecution
~ alleged at trial. The blast, in other words, must have been at an angle,. so that only some of the shot
 emitted ﬁom the shotgun entered h1s skull This in tum Phillips argues shows—or Would.have
' allowed him to argue at trial—that the prosecut1on s theory of the case was mcorrect and that

physwal ev1dence corroborated Phllllps S tale of self defense. The ev1dence could have been used

15
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for Jmpeachment of prosecution witnesses (Dr Schott and forens1c examiner Deskins) as well as
to serve as the basis for expert testrmony in the plamttff s case- in-chief. The X-ray ev1dence and

the argu:ment built from it, finally, would have played a role in mitigation, as well as ‘exculpation.

(17 of 35)

| Without it, jurors convicted Phillips of the second—most—serious crime charged; with it, even if he

were not acquitted, perhaps they would have found him gurlty only ofa lesser mcluded offense
We evaluate the argument Just outlmed through two drscrete parts of the Brady test. The
first, whrch asks whether the X-ray was “favorable” “asks only which party the evidence favors
Clark V. Warderz, 934 F.3d 483, 492 (6th C1r. 2019). Evidence providing an alternatrve explanatrou
ot how the decedent died or undermiuing the prosecution’s theory of the case is favorable. .See,
e.g., Jamison v. C_ollins, 291 E.3d 38t), 385 (6th Cir. .2002). Moreover, because the .favorability

inquiry “asks only Which party the evidence favors,” Clark, 934 F.3d at 492 (emphasis added)

credibility mqutnes are not approprrate at thls stage. Ibid. Normally, the questron of credibility

anses n the context of w1tness testjmony See, e. g ibid. In our case, however ‘we have an X-ray

- that does not ‘speak for 1tself partlcularly to those not trained to read one. For ﬂllS exact reason, .

* the district court had originally ordered an evidentiary hearing, observmg that “the Court lacks a

medical degree and cannot. on 1ts own determme what [the. X—ray] shows.” As we have seen, at

that ev1dent1ary hearmg, the Commrnonwealth produced Dr Schott as its sole witness, Whrle Ph1111ps
produced forensic scientist Dehus. In making its deterrmnatrons, the district court appears to haye
. equated the value of the X-ray with'the credibility of the expert witnesses. The court then used the
question of which direction the X-ray was taken from (about vvhich the_'court' questioned both
. Witnesées) as a touchstone for which vvitneés was more credible. |

. Dehus’s mistake as to the direction of the X-ray is damagirig, as is his insistent doubling-

down in the face of medical testimony to the contrary. However, when stripped of matters we

16 .
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cannot now take inito account (such as the wadding issue, or the lack of marring of Glodo’s face) -
and of lnatters on which'Dr. Schott rebu‘tted him (his orer—conﬁdent statements regarding the

- direction of the shot, given her jooints about inability to trace this in a 2-D image), the heart of his
testimony is: 1) There were 170 to 220 pieces of shot m the shell that was ﬁre(l. 2) Had the shell’
‘been fired straight-on at the distance indicated, these should all have wound up in Glodo’s skull. -
3) The X-ray does not show anywhere near that number in Glodo’s skull 4) Therefore, the shot

' h:rus-t have been ﬂred'at'an angle. .It is _upori.the tlnrd of these points;wheﬂler or not the X-ray
shows what one would expect to see—that the question of favorab1l1ty turns.? Here, 1t seems
noteworthy ‘that Dr. Schoit did not rebut this point directly. She test1fied that she could not tell |
“from the x—ray how many pellets are...in the head[.]” But elsewhere, she stated that X-rays of
this type “give me a general idea of the distribution of the pellets or of the bullet "

Grven how X-rays work there would be a srgmﬁcant and V131ble difference between.an X-
ray of a skull with a full load of 170-220 metal pellets in it (or nearly that many) and one with far
fewer than that. That observation was the heart of Dehus’s argument: “It’s not poss1ble from the
x-ray to md1v1dually count each pellet. But it doesn't seem -- it doesn't appear to be anywhere near
that number.” As Dr. Schott herself admitted (mdeed, argued), the X-ray ls-la two-dimensional
photograph. Therefore, Dehus’s: error.asto whether it had been taken from the front or the back
do_es.rlot seem to affect the basic ability to argue such pointe as the density of shot .shown. Even
with Dehus’s skill somewhat in question, le: cdnclude that we cannot dismiss his basic conclusion -
.that there was not nearly enough shot in the skull to support the Commonwealth’s theory. Or to

put it another way, the X-ray provides some support for Phillips’s theory. We particularly ca:miot '

12 Dr, Schott admitted that she was not qualified to address the ﬁrst point, but at trial, the state’s ﬁrearms
witness gave testimony suggesting this general type of shell might have “2 or 300 shot” shot in it. Thus, we can take
Dehus’s testimony on this point as relatively uncontested. The state produced no evidence—nor argued—to suggest
the second point is wrong, at least as to the vast majority of the shot.

17
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discount this conclusion in view of the Commonwealth’s and Dr. Schott’s inability to rebut it
directly.

Phillips also developed—better on appeal than at the evidentiary hearing—.—a second,
’somewhat Weaker argument: It is possible to use the X-ray to tell if the shot was fired at an angle

or straight—on based solely on the distribution of -the shot in the X-ray in terms of being on or off-

(19 of 35)

center Thrs is subject to similar analys1s as that above about the sheer quantrty of shot. Dr. Schott

demonstrated at the evidentiary hearmg why the 2-D nnage could not be used to trace the
~ directionality of any given pellet. But if the mass of the pellets is to one 31de, that woul_d suggest
that they were fired at an angle. As Phillips points out, the mistake over whether the X-ray was

taken back-to-front or front-to-back would not matter for this inquiry, because either way, off-

" centeredness would remain. But Dehus’s testimony at the evidentiary hearing was less well

developed on whether this was so than in the case of the sheer-quantity argument above.
| As to the district court’s -equating Dehus’s' credibility with the value of the X.-ray, had
Dehu's.’sf testimony itself been the _Brady. material, this kind of creclibility judgement would have
been inappropriate. Cf. Clark, 934 F.3d at 492. Here, however, nfe are in a somewhat ‘anomalons
aituation: The Brady material is the X-ray itself, and as an inanirnate object, it does not present a
credrbrhty ? questron in the usual sense—~but on the other hand, most Judges cannot evaluate it
without an expert mterrnedwry Thus, as compared to Clark, thls srtuatron poses a sl1ght1y different
question: What is the role of the court in evaluating the credlblhty of the experts who will help 1t

evaluate the meaning (rather than the cred.tb111ty) of the Brady materralV

On the one hand, courts perforrn a screenmg role constantly as to expert credibility, both -

before testimony is given at trial and in ev1dent1ary hearmgs. Such a role, to some extent, seems

necessary here: obviously, it would be a recipe for chaos (and injustice) if courts were obligated
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o ;ccept as tfue any testimony; no matter _h_ow blatantly incorrect and self-serving, regardjﬁg the

value of a sﬁpposed piece of Brady eVi&encé. On the other hand, however, we have recognized

 “the Supreme Cqu:.t’s directi\-fe that “the criminal trial . . [be preserved] as the chosen-foruin for

_ascertaining the trath about ctiminal accusations.’” Clark, 934 F:'3d at 492 (quoting Gumm v.
Mitcheél, 775.F.3d 345, 364 (6th Cir. 2014) (quotiﬁg United Sz‘ateslv. Jernigan, .492 F.3d 1050, .
1056—57' (9th Cir. 20075 (en bapc) '(quoting. Kyles, 514 US at 440) (brackets in original))). If the

~ evidence suffices to create a battle of the expeﬁs, .suchl a battle should be Waged at trial, not simply -
before 2 judge in a post-hoc settiné. | '

There are éood reasons to thmk that the threshold fér the fa'vorabilit‘y Inquiry should be
fairly low. Most of the key. cases treat it only glar'u.:ingly13 ;;)r even omit to discuss it.'* (We note,
howevef, that thié is likely due. to the- fact that the Brady material 1n =qu¢stion is usually 'eithef _ |
‘testin:ion_y or :;;o]ice notes ﬁat, if believed, .are obviously favdrabie:) The’physical evidence here
obviously dbés not have an innaté credibility préblem,' and nor was the testimony surrouhdjng it
blatantly self-serving .'or' dishonest. To the c‘ontrary;' despite .an unfortunate ﬁ:tisstep or two, it made

‘ ouf the ‘ffavorability?” in the Brady sense, of the X-ray evidenée to Phillips. In short, we Hold that |

the evidence was favorable, and thus we move on to materiality.

C. ‘Thé X-Ray Was Material
The materiality inquiry a;sks ifthereis a ‘;‘reasonable probahility’ of a differentresult . ...
The question is'not whether the defendant would more likély- than not have received a djfferen_t
‘veraict with the evidence, but Whethgr in its absence he recéiyed a fair trial, understood as a trial

resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence.” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434 (emphasis added); see also

13 See, e.g. Banks, 540 U.S. at 691; Clark, 934 F.3d at 492.
Y See, e.g. United States v. Tavera, 719 F.3d 705, 710-11 (6th Cir. 2013).

19
" 19a



Case: 18-6184 Document: 37-2  Filed: 09/01/2020  Page: 20 (21 of 35)
Case No. 18-6184, Phillips v. Valentine |

Castlebérzjz v. Brigano, 349 F.3d 286, 291 (6th Cir. 2003). “A‘ ‘reasonable probabihty", of a
different result” is said to have been demonstrated | “when the government’s eV.identiarsl _
suppression ‘undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial.”” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434 (quoting .
Bagley, 473 U‘.S_. at 678). We are warn'ed, moreover, not to conflate materiality vtith' the

_ sufﬁciency—ot"—theQeVidence inqdiry. Kyt'es, 514 US at 434-45; Bies v. Sheldon, 775 F.3d 386,
3I99. (6th Cir. 2014). In particular, “A d,efendant ne_ed not demonstrate that aftet ,dliscountin';c;r the

- inculpatory evidence in light- of the nndiselosed enidence,' there would not have been e_nongh left
to.convict.” Bies, 775 F.3d at 399 (duoting Kﬂes, 514 U.S. at 434—45)

In assessing this part of the Brady analysis, 1t is important to note how _equivocal much of
the evidenlce at Phillips’s trial was. For most of the two days, including from. many of the
prosecutmn w1tnesses the ] jury heard at length about Glodo’s anger and aggressmn that day But
. Dr Schott’s testlmony, and her explananon of the photographs of the back of Glodo’s skull :
appeared to show as a matter of uncontroverted fact that Glodo had been shot squarely from behmd
(and _from a distance of over 'three feet away). These, oombined with. Phillips’s mcons1stent :
_ | explanations on the day of the .shooting—characte'rizing the shooting on the 9 1 1 call and in a police
“interview as both an accident and self-defense—were, on our reading of the tr1a1 transcript, the key
turning points. Here was the indisputabie '(oir so it seemed) etzidence: Phillips had raised-a shotgun,

_ aimed it squarely at the back of Glodo’s head when there was a distance of at least three feet
between them, and pulled the trigger. No matter What had come before that is not self—defense
- and it is very hard o square with acc1dent As we have seen, the prosecunon strongly emphas1zed
this key point in both its opening and closing arguments. -
. Viewed in this 1ight, itis easy to see how different the trial could have been had Phillips -

had the Xfray and expert(s)—firearms and, perhaps, medical—of his own. Instead of an'equivocal
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catse swayed by one piece of indisputahle evidence, the jury would have seen an equivocal case
.plus a_battle.of'the expefts. Relying on the X-ray, Phillips could hatve produced an expert to testify
that the physienl evidence was consistent with his accourit of a glancing- shot, fired in the course
of a struggle. Phillips may also.have called a mec_licat_l exatniner, $0 as to have covered some of the
_weaknesses that Dehus; alone, clearly created. -

His counsel coultl also have used the X-ray for impeachment pu;poses. Dr. Schott testified
, at the trial that based on. the pellets she recovered from inside Glodo’s head, “the d1reot1on [of the
pellet’s track] was back to front.” Phillips’s counsel could have impeached th1s conclusion on the
basis of the X-ray Moreover, Dr. Schott testlﬁed at the evidentiary heanng that, durmg the autopsy
and after her techmc1an had taken the X-ray, she recovered only a sample (19, out of an unknown
total) of the pellets in the head so that th‘ese could be submitted to the police lab for exammatmn.

As we have seen, she strongly disclaimed the ability to track the direction of the shot on the basis

(22 of 35)

of the X-ray, saying that it had “no bearing on ‘the direction of the injury.”' Introducing'the X—ray _

would have allowed the defense to cross—enamine Dr. Schott as to why she was so confident that
.this -representative recovery, conducted to obtai_n 'material f_orlh_allistic ana.lysis, allowed her to
reconstruct the path. of the shot, while finding no use at all for the X—ray in th1s regard. Similaﬂy,
the X-ray couldhave been'usetl to weaken Dr. Schott’s testimony reéudmg the photograph,
showing the central location of the wound: the ‘argument ptes’umably would be that though the
entry wound was in the middle of the back of the head, the X-ray showed thet.'the shot had been at
. an anéle not straight-on. | |

The Commonwealth also called a ﬁrearms expert at tr1al for the purpose of showing’ that
the tngger and safety of the shotgun worked normally. Ph1111ps outlines to us the line of quest1onn:1g

on cross—exar_rnnatmn of this witness that the X-ray would have made poss.lble:-
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Apprised of the x-ray of Glodo’s skull, counsel could have elicited compelling
testimony from Deskins that Glodo had been struck ata significant angle. Counsel
could have asked Deskins to count the number of pellets in the x-ray, and compare
that number to’ the number in the shell. Counsel could have asked Deskins about
the pattern of pellets in the x-ray, and compare that to the normal pattern of
distribution of shotgun pellets. Finally, counsel could have asked the ultimate
question—whether the x-ray indicated a direct shot or an angled shot. '

Brief qf Apﬁéllant at 34. Moreover, as Phillips now points out, the availabillity of these lﬁés of |
cfoss—e);amiﬁatic;n Hberafes the value of the X-ray (to some degtee) from the cfcdibility of Dehus:
with the X-ray alone, such lines of crpss—examination would-have been possible. After all, itis our
conﬁdeﬁcé in ;the trial, ﬁot our con-ﬁdeﬁce in Dehus’s testimony, that is the questioln. ;t)éfore us
today.
r].."here is also the role this evidence might have played in mitigation. Br&dy eviaence need
only bé material tc; either guilt or punishment. Strickler., -527'U.S_. at 280. PHi]lip‘s was charged with
iﬁtentional mu:rder, Wantén murder, éécond—degreg ménsiaughter, and reckless ilomicide. (See
supra, p..9 & m.6-9.) The two lessef—included charges; below that of which Phillibs .Was
| . convicted, héve self-defense éleﬁents.ls Soif the jurors believed that the X-ray indicated the shot
was a;c an anglé, and agreed that such a fact indicated that there ]iad been 2 struggle, then even if
they were not convinced that thié evidence was wholly exculpatory, they may. well have decided
that it -showéd' iﬁperfect sélf—:defense and so “mitigated” down to a lesser charge. This ‘would be
“ﬁﬁgaﬁon” in only the collociuial seﬁse:‘ really, the ]ury would be finding hlm innocent of one

chargé (Wantoﬁ murder) and guilty of anothef, lesser charge.

15 These were the reckless-homicide and second-degree-manslanghter charges, respectively. See nn.8 & 9
supra. Bach is a type of imperfect self-defense. In each, the defendant had to a) be entitled to act in self-defense; but
b) be mistaken in his belief that it was necessary to use force or to use the degree of force employed. In the case of
- second-degree manslaughter, the jurors would also have to find he was “aware and consciously disregarded a
substantial and unjustifiable risk that he was mistaken in that belief” and that his disregard was grossly unreasonable.
In the case of reckless homicide, that “he failed to perceive a substantial and unjustifiable risk that he was mistaken

in that belief? and that his disregard was. grossly unreasonable.
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But it is quite conceivable, alternatively, that they might have mitigated in, the technically-

accurate sense. As Phillips argues .

Evidence tending to prove that Phillips did not shoot Glodo directly in the back of
the head, but rather at a significant angle, would have mitigated Phillips’s conduct
-and likely convinced jurors to impose a more lenient sentence at or near the twenty-
year mandatory minimum sentence for the crime of Wanton murder '

This argument also undern:unes confidence in the sentenemg decision. When the jury conv1cted '

Phillips of wanton murder, they likely found that the discharge was indeed accidental, but that -

raising a loaded gun and pointing it squarely at the back of a man’s head was wanton behavior.
For ﬂiat reason, evidence indicating that the gun was not leveled a_t Glodo might have gone a long
.way to mitigate the penalt-y. A gun held in his general direction, and 2 nervous slip of the.ﬁnger,
would be very different than taking dead-aim at the back of Glodo’s head. Thus, a jury that Was
provided with the X-ray might well have sentenced Phillips to fewer than the th1rty Sfears chosen
by the jury. | | |

We have not, we must note, been able to find a case in which Strickler’s instruction that

' Brady is material to punishment as well as guilt, 527 U.S. at 280, has been applied outside the |

capital context. Were we ruling solely on this basis, that might give us more pause. However, as

pomted out above this is not the sole basis for our ruling; moreover, the Supreme Court i 1s clear -

~ on this rule, even ifit has not been broadly applied.

The state argues that notw1thstand1ng the X-ray, the evidence showed that Phillips returned

to Capps’s house, where Glodo was to be found about four nights a week, with a loaded gun in ]ns -

‘ car; that he got out of his car in the parking lot and that shortly before. the fatal shots were fired,

“he was using a loaded gun to fend off Glodo, and that the gun must have been at least relativeiy

" level since holes, arguably fr,om some of the shot, were found in Glodo’s windshield. Cf. Ph'illips', '

2012 WL 5457645, at *5. This, the argument then goes, was enough for the jury-to find him guilty
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of wanton murder, defined as “Wantonly engagihg in conduct which created a grave risk of danger .
to another and [shooting hlm] ... under circumstances manifesting m extreme indifference to
human 1'1fe,” regardless of the X—ray. The district-court found this argument persuasive, concluding
that: “Even assuming . . . that Dehus’s opinion is correct and that Glodo Was‘ shot from behind at
an.angle and at a distance that does not undermine oonﬁdence in the jurv’s finding that Phillips
commrtted wanton murder » Phillips, 2018 WL 4976801 at *¥5.
The problem however is that this is prec1se1y the form a sufficiency-of-the- evrdence
‘ analysis-takes and the Supreme Court has told us exphcrtly that the Brady inquiry is not to be
equated to sucha test The district court framed the question as whether it could reconcile the new
" evidence with jury’s verdict, rather than whether, in light of the new evidence, it still had
conﬁdence in “the outcome of the tr‘ial.” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434, Compare the statement of the
district court that “[e]vidence that Phillips shot GTodo nom behind at'a distance is not inconsistent
Withl the jury’s verdict,;’ Phillips, 2018 WL 4976801, at *5 (emphasis added), with that of the
Supreme Court tha't-“[a] defendant need not demonstrate that after discounting the inculpatory
evidence in light of the undisclosed eviderice, there Would not have been' enough left to convrct.”
Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434-45. Tt was error for the district-court to rule on this basis.’
The dissent ably presents the case for how a good- prosecutor could still have .obtamed a
* conviction for wanton murder and a 30-year sentence. The proper legal quesuon, however is
" whether the X-ray is “material” in the sense that it undermines our confidence in the course of the
trial, not that it requires a conclusion that the outcome Would necessarily have been different, or -
.even that it 18 50.1% hi{ely that there would have been a different outcome. If there is to be a battle
of the documents from the record, the reader is invited to-consider Whether as a defense attorney,

you Would rather go to the Jury with only the dlssent’ photo (Dlssent Appende A), and
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accompanying testimony; or with the jury also having -access to the X-ray (Ar)pendix A to lth'is
oprmon), and the best accompanymg testrrnony, Cross- exammatlon and argument that could be
based on the: X-ray (“Where are all the pellets?”). The answer would seem obvious. And as a -
prosecutor, would you feel that you still could obtain the same conviction and sentehce, but you
| lwould. prefer that the defense not have the Xuray?_Again, the ahswer is clear. |
The jury’s verdict required it.to' find that Phillips was not hriﬁleged to act in self-protection, -
-. Which is-easier to find when there ie a full-on shot to the back of the head. It i.s easier to find
. .reasonable doubt oh that point if Phillips’s theory of a struggle and r)ushjng Glodo away is
buttressed by evidence that the shot was at a slanting angle. You may consider it a judgment c.all
as to how much hett_er_ it would be for the defense attorney, and hQW'much harder for.thelpmsecutor,
D . :
Jbut there is no gaihsaying' the direction of effect. It is -our task to make the call of how much it
- takes to "‘qndermine confidence.” Under the facts and law, as-,shown above, our confidence is not
'destroyed but. it is undermJ:ned. | .
Asa ﬁ_ual word, we also find convincin-g our recent case Carusone V. Warden; N C’ént.

Corr. Inst., 966 F.3d 474 (6th Cir. 2020). Carusone had been in 2 ﬁght over money W1th another |
man, whom he adrmttedly stabbed at least once in the arm and once in the chest; the other man
d1ed. Id. at 476. The state tr1ed and convicted Carusone “exclusively on the theory—as the

prosecution repeatedly' emphasized in its cloeihg argument at uial;that-Carusone ‘plunged [a]
hnjfe into the Victhaj’s heart.”” Id.- at 475. Later, “Carusone discovered that the State had Withheld'.
- ﬁve pages of the hospital’ records (including thé ER doctor’s report and a chest r—ray) ”? Id _
at 476—77 (emphasis added) Thrs Brady evidence showed that the hole in the side of the Vrctrm s
: heart was consistent with. a needle used at the hosp1ta1 to drain blood from around his heart

(“pencardrocentesrs”). Ibid. The Vretlm had actually died of a heait attack induced by drugs, stréss,
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and the fight with the Carusone. Id. at 477. In state post—conviction relief proceedings, Carusone

produced somewhat better expert testimony than we have in this case, and the state court

acknowledged that he had “plainly dlsoredlt[ed]” the theory that the state had relied upon at trial.

Id at 475 (brackets in or1g1nal) see zd at 477 But the state appeals court apphed Brady as though

it were a snfﬁc1ency—of—the—ev1dence test: It upheld the conviction on an alternate theory that the

. struggle with Carusone had led, in part, to the fatal heart attack. Id. at 478-79. We granted
Carusone a writ of habeas corpus, noting that “the test for materiality under Brady ‘is not a
sufficiency of eyidence test’” but rather that “the suppressed evidence “‘undermine[s] confidence

in the verdict.”” Id. at 479 (quoting Kyles,‘ 514US. at 434, 435) (brackets in original).

The'.parallels to our case. are plain. Kentl_J.eky relied “exclusively on the theory”’—which

“the prosecution repeatedly emphasized in its closing argument at trial”—that Phillips had shot

Glodo “directly‘ from his back into his he'ad.” Carusone, 966 F.3d at 474. Like Carusone, Phillipé

later discovered an X-ray that called thls theory into senous question. And the Ohro courts in _

- Carusone s case erroneously treated the Brady inquiry as a sufﬁc1ency—of the- evrdence mqurry,
just as the‘ district court did here. But that is not the correct inquiry: Kyles, 514 U.S. at.434. If the
prosecuﬁon snppressed evidence; inadvertently or otheryvise, that calls into serious question the
: th‘eory of death in'a murder trial—as it did here and in Carusone¥we cannot simply handewaye

that away. We hold that there has been a material Brady violation.

We are reluctant to undo a jury verdict finding someone guilty of such a serious crinie'._'

That is particularly true in a situati'on_ like this one, where so much of the case turned on the jury’s

judgment as to what was in someone’s mind and, to a lesser extent, on an understanding of local

conditions and culture. But we are convinced that, had Phillips had the X-ray to rely on, the course .
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" of his trial would likely have been quite different. We are.not, in short, “conﬁden[t] in the outcome
of the [original] trial.” Ibid.
" IV. CONCLUSION |
" For the foregoing reasons, we REVERSE the jﬁdgment of the court below and REMAND
_' with instructions to grant a conditional writ of habeas corpus, ordering the state to either retry or -

release Phillips.

27
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SUTTON, Circuit Judge, drssenting. Tn this harmless etrror case about'the materiality of an |
© X-1ay, there is much 'to say, as I will say over the next few nages But nothlng shows the'
harmlessness of th1s om1ss1on more than the prcture of the back of Phillip Glodo shead, the V10t1m~
of the crime. See 1t for yourself at Appendix A. Read what you wish, but nothing illustrates rny
pornts Better .than the i)icture itself. _ ' ' ,

No one doubts that J ohnny Phﬂlips_shot and killed Glodo. And no one doubts that, when
the State neglected to provide Phillips with an x-ray of Gledo’s- skull, it legitimately exposed itself
to this Brady eiaim; ‘Buta govemmental mistake of this ilk, all agree, .does not by itself entiﬂe
Phillips to habeas relief. Phillips had to show that the x-1ay’s suppressienscast “the whole” of his
)  trial in “such a different light as to undermine confidence in the [jury’s] verdlct ” Kyles v. thtley,
514 U S. 419; 435 (1995). Phllhps cannot do that. The suppressed x-ray does not support his.
defense: Its introduction at trial indeed would have Wors'ened his lot. With respect, I see no basis.
for vacating his convict_ion.' |

Jurors at this murder trial heard two differen;t accounts of what transpired on October 18,
2007, m the parking lot of'Star of Bethiehem Church in Laurel, Kentucky.

* From Phillips’ vantage point, the jurors heard that Glodo charged him with a knife while -
he clutcned a loaded snotgun. The' two grappled in close quarters, ‘and during tnis altercation, '
: Phillips shot and killed him. Ph1111ps at first called the shootrng an acc1dent but later changed his

, rmnd and described 1t as an act of self- defense
From the victim’s vantage point, jurors heard—and saw t]arough Appendix A—that
Phillips shot Giode in the'back of his head. ﬁe did so from a distance of at least three feet measured
- muzzle to cranium—and at least five feet counting the length of the shotgu.n s barrel. That, the

prosecutlon argued, amounts to murder, not an accident or self-defense.
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| As 1ble’c\xzeen 'tilese accounts, thé jury vo’;ed to convict Phillips of wanton, but not intentional,.
mﬁder. , That was sensible. And the foren:sic' gvidencc leaves no room for douibt to this. day.

Where does the suppressed x-ray come in? Mostly in support of the Sfété’s case. Phillips
built much of his defense-a.round the supposed préximity 1b.e‘cween him and Glodo. .In his original :
, in_t_erview'with the police, he claimed to shoot Gloao from just four inches away. At trial, Phillips
argued that he and Glodo stood “closé togetﬁer” and femained “nex;c to each other” Whgn the gun
;Nent off. ROA at 88—89. The x-ray undermines those claims. According to Larry De_hus, Phillips’
exi)ert witness, the x—fajf c'onﬁ.rms.that Phillips shot -Glodo frém a distance of at least ﬂ’]1;66 feet
and .Iikely four feet. or more. That coinci&és w1th the estimates the State’s expert witness, Dr.
Jennifer Schott, providéd of “three feet disté.nce or more.” R. 137 a.t 41. The x;ray thus calls
Phillips’ credibility into doubt.

But,‘ Phillips insists, there is a more favorable’_way to use the x-ray. It allowéd h1m to:
undgrmine thg Sta_tté’s inéinuatioﬁ that he shot .Glodo "‘eiecution style” directly from behind him.
I a-t. 18; see Carusone v. Ward-en, N. Cent. qur. Inst., 966 F.3d 474, 479 (6th Cll‘ 20_20). |
Acéording to Dehus, the X-ray suggests ﬂ;at the birdshot entered at an angle. If true, that means
Phillips pplled the trigger while staﬁding off G'loldo’s centerline. |

But is thls characteriz'ation. true? Dehus conc.edes he has little eXp_erience readin'g.x—r'ays
‘because he isn’t a doctor. That in_efcpérience became apparent during thé evident_iai"-y hearing when
he repeatedly miéintexpretea the skull’s orie_nfatién within th¢ image. Dr. Schott, by contrast, ﬁas
plenty of practice handling x-rays ;J.nd a medical degree to boot. She tesﬁﬁed that the lack of an
additioﬁal image showing Glodo’s skull frorﬁ the .s;ide made it imp.oss'ible to deduce ényﬁhjﬁg about
. ’;he angie of P]ﬁl_lips’ shot. 'After. listening to bo£h expeﬁs, the district court found Dehus’ testimony

unreliable. See Phillips v. Vale.nz‘ine','No. 6:13-22, 2018 WL 4976801, at *2 (E.D. Ky; Oct. 15,
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2018). We may dishlifb that finding of fact only if it sinks to clear error. . See Bennett v. Brewer,

| 940 F.3d 279, 286 (6th Cir. 2019).

(32 of 35)

Even granting Phillips the benefit of the doubt aBoﬁt what the x-ray establishes, his

argument does little. The State never argued, not once, tﬁat Phillips shot Glédo execution style.

Duﬁng opening and closing remarks the prosecutor promised only to show that Phillips “took a

 12-gauge shotgun and'inteﬁtionally pulled ﬂl@ trigger >and shot [} Glodo in the back of tﬁe head.”

ROA at 77, 367. The jury could convict Phillips of intentional murdér, he ai‘gued, 1f it found that -

© he “intentionally act[edj?’ (by pointing his gun at Glodo and pulling the trigger) with “[a] result in

mind” (kﬂlingGlodo). Id. at 373. Nothing in the statements deﬁends on the angle of Phillip‘s’ _

shot.

Dr. Schott, _frue, testified th_at' the birdshot travelled from “back to front” in Glodo’s head. -

Id. at 190. Andthe prOsecﬁtor, true also, dis.counted'in closing argument that the birdshot merely

“grazed” Glodo .by ﬁoting that it went “directly from [Glodo’s] back into his head.” Id. at 373.

But the x-ray supports both statements. As for Dr. Schott’s.statément, the birdshot did move from

' th@ back of Glodo’s head tpward the front. That it also lm'oved laterally soﬁewhat (thgt is, from
+ the center of Glodo’s head to one. éide) is neither here nor there. As for the prosecutor’s ;tatement,
the birdshot did go “into [qudo’s] head,” and the pellets di(i enter hié head “directly from ﬁis
. back” Id D'ehﬁ.s said as much: “[L]et’s be clear, the v'ic.:tim was shot in the back 6f the head.”
R. 137 ét 13. The prosecutor’s comments deécn'be only the shot’s placement 611 thé skull, not j:he
. angle of entry. The x-ray does nothiﬁg to change tﬁat. So it could not have undermined, let alone

.“i)lainly discredited,” the .“alctuali theory .upon which the prosecutibn oﬁtained a ‘conviction.”

Carusone, 966 F.3d at 479.
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All of this, it should be remembered trvas put in the clearest context'for the jury and would |
have been put in the same clear context with the x—ray the autopsy photos of Glodo. Those photos. '

-drspel any doubt that Glodo sustamed a direct shotgun blast to the back of his head. - Look at
Appendlx A to see one of them for yourself. |

In the face of this photo and others like it submitted to the j ]ury, ankle-bltmg d1sputes about
_-the precise direction of the shotgun blast—from back to front directly or from back to front atan

_ angle—represent the epitome of non—materral information. That is-all the more true in view of

_ what the jury‘did. It acquitted Phillips of intentional murder as is, lmaking non—evidence-based'
talk hbout an enecution-st;de murder irrelevant to that count. ,S"ee.Kyles, 514 U.S. at‘4-43 n.14.
And the p'r_ecise angle of Phillips’ shot could not have dissuaded a reasonable juror from conuicting
him of Wanton murder. The jury had instructions to convict Phillfps of that offense if it found that
-he engaged in conduct that “created 2 grave risk of danger to énother” in a manner “manifesting [
extreme indifference to human life.” ROA at 344; see also Ky. Rev. Stat. § 507.020. Discharging
a shotgun in the general d1rect1on of a person, even wrthout anmng the shotgun clears that bar by
a large and comfortable margin.. See, e.g., Crane v. Kentucky, 833 S.W.2d 8_13, 817 (Ky. 1992);
Km;'eiv. Kentucky, 704 S.W.2d 192, 193 (Ky. 1985). | | |

Nor could the ‘X-l‘a}f have‘-swayed any reasonable juror to favor convicting Phillips of
manslaughter or reckless homicide. Those offenses differ from uvanton murder in that they concern
circumstances where the defendant had the privilege to act in self—defense and misapprehended the
need to use force or mis_tooh the degree of force required. Se_e Ky. Rev. Stat. §§ 507.030, 507.050.
Evidence that Phﬂlips’ shot eame in at an angle%but still from the back of the head—does not

bear on any apprehension of risk.
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The court suggests another possible b'e.neﬁt. of Phillips having the x-ray. It could incline
“the judge or jury towardg lenity during sentencing. But fnﬁe court offers no explanation why the
X-ray coﬂd have th Phillips sympathy. This was a murder- trial, not a marksmaﬁship_ contest.
That Pﬁilﬁps did not hit Glpdo squarely might say something .about his airﬁ, but it says nothing
about the dulpgbility of di_schargfng a Weap'on'at, Or evennear, a peréon when they are turned away.
If | anything, the X-ra-.y’_s tendency to undermine hié 'self—de'fens‘e theory in_creésed thé risk of
receiving a harsher sentence. While Phjllips’ 30-year sentence exceeds the 20-yeér statutory
minimum for wanton murder,lit does not approach thé statutory maximum of life in prison. |

I respectfully dissent.
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Appendix A to dissent of Sutton, J.
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No. 18-6184 : . _FILED
. ‘ Oct 09, 2020
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS ;
\ FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT | DEBORAHS. HUNT, Clerk
JOHNNY PHILLIPS,
Petifrioner—Appellant;
V. '
ORDER

ANNA VALENTINE, WARDEN,

Respondent-Appellee. .

e N M e e e e S e S o e

A

BEFORE;' COLE, Chiéf Judge; and.BOGGS and SU_TfON, Circuit Judges. »

The court received a petition for rehearing én banc. Tﬁe'_origin.al panel héé‘reyiéwed the
peﬁﬁoﬁ for rehearing and conciudes that the issues raised in the petition \A.lére fljlly considered
- uponthe original submisgi_o.n.eind decision '61‘ the case. The_. petition then wés cifctjlated to the full
) cléurt'.* No judge has requested a vcﬁé on the sugg'estion for rehearing' en banc.

| Therefore, the peﬁtibn is denied. 'J.ud'ge Sutton would grant .rehearing.f.or the reasons

stéted in his dissent.

ENTERED BY ORDER OF THE COURT

[ 1

_Deborah S. Hunt, Clerk

'*J"udg.e Thapar recused himself from .parti'oipation in this ruling.
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' Appendlx C
No. 18-6184
| | | FILED
‘UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS DEBOR%CIEI 189,_ ﬁSiOT e |
FORTI—IESDC]?H CIRCUIT PR TN er.
JOHNNY R. PHILLIPS, )
o | \
Petiﬁoncr—Appellant, Yy, -
. )
v ) ORDER
_ | )
- ANNA VALENTINE, Wérden, )
. . ' o )
Rgspond_ent—Appellee.' )

' Before: COLE, Chief Tudge; BOGGS and SUTTON, Circuit Judges.

The appellee moves for a étay of the mandate in this métter where the.-épini_o'n issued
' Sepfember 1, 202(.),. and en banc revi.e;w was deﬁied By order enter;ad October 9, 2020. -The
appellant movés for release pending appeél.,
| The court being fully adviseci, it is hereby ORDERED that the rﬁoﬁoﬁ -td stay the
mandaté is DENIED The motion for releése pending ap_'éeal is also DENIED. T_hé petitioner
may seek release from the district court in the first mstance

ENTERED BY ORDER OF T.EIE", COURT

bl dhot

" Deborah S. Hunt, Clerk
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Appendik D

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS .
' FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT

Mo 18-6184

“Filed: October 19, 2020 -

JOHNNY R. PHILLIPS

Petitioner - Appellant

V.
ANNA. VALENTINE, Warden
.Bkspoﬁdeni—f¥gpeﬂee
MANDATE
Pursuant to the court's disposition that was ﬁléd Q9/0 172020 tﬁe mandate for this case heréby
issues today. |
COSTS: None
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY

SOUTHERN DIVISION
~ ATLONDON
JOHNNY PHILLIPS, GIVIL ACTION NO. 6:13-22
Petltloner, ) ' ' ' ‘
A : OPINION AND ORDER.

ANNA VALENTINE, Warden
. Respondent. .

A %k ok kR K K K

. This-matter is before the Court on the petitioner’s motion for a writ of habeas corpus -
under 28 U.S.C. § 2254 (DE 1, 68) dnd’ on the petitioner’s motion to etmend his §'2254 petitidn
(DE 134). The |

The facts and procedural hi_stor;t of this inatter have been set forth now in' multiple
opinions, including an opinion by the Kentucky Supreme Court, Phillips V. Commonwéalth, No.
2009-SC-000633-MR, 2010 WL 2471669 at *6 (Ky June 17, 2010). ijemse Magistrate _
Judge Edward B. Atkms and former U.S. DlStI'lCt Judge Amul Thapar have set forth the relevant
facts and history in opmlons m the record of this matter (DE 85, Repert and Recommendatton;
DE 89, May 25, 2017 Order.) |

In brief, the plamtlff Johnny Ph1111ps was found guﬂty in state court of Wanton murder in

_ the death ofhis fnend Ph1111p Glodo. He was sentenced to 30 years imprisonment. Mag13trate
Judge Atkins and Judge Thapar interpreted his .habeas petition to assert three constitutional errors
in the state court proeeedtngs: first, that the trial court violated his constitutional rights by
. instructing the jury on wanton murder '(W_iﬂ’_l a related argument that there was insufficient

evidence to convict him of this chérge) ; second, that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing
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to seek a directed Verdict on the wénton—murder charge, for failing to object to the jury being
instructed on wanton murder, for failing to offer prdof at triai to rebut the §vanton—murder charge,
for failing to request an occupied—vehi;:le instruction, and for failing to caﬂ two experts; and
third, that the government failed to disclose exculpatory evidence to him m violation of Brady v.
Marjl)land, l373 U.S. 83 (1963). (DE 85, Recommendation at 3; DE 89, Order.)

Judge Atkins entered a recommendation that Phillips’ petition be denied as to all claims.
In his May 25, 2017 order, Judge Thapar accepted that recommendation with regard to all but ’Fhe
Brady claim. As to that ciaim, Phillip's argued that the government had failed to provide him
post-mortem x-rays of Glodo’s skull. There_ié no dispute that the governinent denied the x-rays

* existed and Phillips eventually obtained one x-rdy through an opeﬁ-records request.

' Magistrate Judge Atkins ruled that Phillips had not demonstrated any prejudice from the
failure to.disclo-se the x-ray. Phillips argued that the x-ray would show that Glodo was not shot in
the back of the head but rather from the side _of the head as a result of a struggle for the gun. (DE
85, Recommendation at 20.) Phillips asserted that the x-ray helped prove that he shot Glodo in
self-defense. J udge Thapar ruled that, in order to determine whether the x-ray is “ﬁnaterial” as
necessary to excuse Phillips’ failure to raise the Brady issue on direct appeal in state court, an
evidentiary hearing was necessary. (DE 89, Order at 18.) Af_tér Judge Thapar was confirmed as 2
judge on the‘ Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals, the ﬁaﬁer was reassighed to the undersigngd.

Under Brady, “the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable.to an acéuséd
upon fequést violates due proceés where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment,
irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.” Brady, 373 U.S. at 87. “Evidence
is material under Brady if a feasonable probability exists that, had the evidence been disclosed to

 the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Jells v. Mitchell, 538 F.3d
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478, 50102 (6th Cir. 2008). “A reasonable probability is one th;t sufficiently undermines
confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Id. “The question is not whether the defendaht would
more likely than not have received a different verdict with the evidence, but whether in its
absence he received a fau* 1_:rial,- understood as a trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence.”
Id. (quoting Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 434 (1995)). |

The Court appointed counsel to répresent Phillips and conducted a hearing on the
materiality of the x-ray. After hearing the evidence, the Court concludes that the x-ray is not

favorable to the defendant. Nor is it material.
| In his petition, Phillips argues that the x—re;y proves. that Glodo “was not shot straight-on
in the back of the head, as 'allegeci by the prosecutién, but was struck by a shot from the side of
the head as aresult of a sﬁuggle.” (DE 1, Petition at 8.) He argues that the x-ray “totally refut[es]
that the victim was shbt from behind.” (DE 68, Petition at 3.) He asserts that the x-ray supports
his argument that he shot Glodo accidentally during a struggle after Giodo charged after him
with a knife, (DE 1.3, Pefition at20)

At ;che hearing,' Larry M. Dehus, a forensic scientist, festiﬁed on Phillips’ behalf. He
testified that “the vict-im was shot in the back of t];{e head with a shotgun.” (DE 137, Tr. at 13.)
However, Dehus opined that the victim was not shot “at close range straight oﬁ.” (DE 137, Tr. at
13.) Further, Dehus opined that Phillips was shot at “a signiﬁcant angle from left to right.” (DE
137, Tr. at 13-14.) Dehus opined that the shooting “wasn’t just execution style, walking up
behind th¢ individual and shooting squarely in the back of the head.” (DE 137, Tr.. at 14.)

Nevertheless, much of this opinion was not derived from j:he x;ray. Dehus opined by a
letter dated April 7, 2011 — years 1Vbefore the x-ray was produced ~‘that “this was not a direct shot

to the back of the head, but was more likely at an angle.” (Pf. Ex. A.) He made that
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determination based not on the x-ray but on “[t]he fact that tﬁe shotgun wadding did not enter the
wound with the shot.” (Pf. Ex. A.) He explained at the ﬁearing that his conclusion that Glodo -
was shot in the back of the head but not at “close range straight on” was based on the fact that, if
Glodo had been shot at a distance of less than four feet: 1) the entrance wound would have been
much smaller;‘ 2) the shotguﬁ wadding would have entered the wound; and 3) there would likely

- have been destructive damage to Glodo’s face. (DE 137, Tr. at 13.) These facts were known
without the x-ray. |

Dehus testified that the only information he obtained from the x-ray that he could not
obtain from the photographs and other evidence in the record was the “direction of the shot and
the relative quantity of the shot.” (DE 137, Tr. at 19.) Thus, according to Dehus, the relevance of
the x-ray is that it shows that Glodo was shot in the back of the head but at an angle; from left to
right.

Further, Dehus’s testimony about the significance of the x-ray is nbt reliable. He testified
thaf “as best [he could] tell,” the x-ray was taken from the back of Glodo’s head. (DE 137, Tr. at
19, 20-21, 50.) Jennifer Schott, ‘t]ﬁe medical doctor who performed the autopsy of Glodo,
however, testified that the x-ray was taken front to back. (DE 137, Tr. at 31.) Dehus conceded
that he wag not qualified to say whether the x-ray was taken from fhe front or the back b_ecause
his is not a medical doctor. (DE 137, Tr. at 52.) Dr. Schott is a medical doctor. Further, she
served as the medical examiner for the Kentucky Department of Iﬁstice (Pf.Ex. I, Tr. at 2-3) and
would necessarily be-more familiar with its procedures. Thus, her testimony on the aﬁgle of the
x—rﬁy is more credible. Because Dehus believed the x-ray was taken from the back of Glodo’s

head, any conclusions that he drew from the x-ray are unreliable.
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Even assuming, however, that Dehus’s opinion is correct and that Glodo was shot from
behind at an angle and at a distance, that does not undermine confidence in the jury’s ﬁnding that
Phillips committed wanton murder. A person is guilty of wanton murder under Kenfucky law
when he “waﬁtonly engages in conduct which creates d gralve risk of death to another person and
thereby causes” the peréon’s death. KRS § 507.020(1)(b). Evidence that Phillips shot Glodo from
behind at a distance is not inconsistent with the jury’s verdict. Wanton murder does not require a
finding that Glodo was shot “execu’uon style” in the back of the head. If anythmg, evidence that

' Ph1111ps shot Glodo in the back of the head from a distance contradicts Ph1111ps claim that he
shot Glodo in self—_defense. Further, Dr. Schott did not testify at trial that Glodo was shot
“execution S’Eyle.” In the portion of the trial testimony that Phillipé provided the Court at the
hearing, Dr. Schott, téstiﬁed that Glodo was shot at “three feet distance of more.” (DE 137, Tr. at .
' 35; Pf. Ex. I, Tr. at 13; DE 30-7, Com. Bf. at 13.)

For all these reasons, the Court does not find the x-ray favorable to Phillips or material to
his guﬂt.

After the hearing, Phillips filed a motion to amend his petition. This motion is bésed on
Dr. Schott’s testimony that, during the course of the autopsy, she made a diagram of the injuries
to Glodo. (DE 137, Tr. at 27 ) Phillips states that this d1agram was not provided to him during the
trial. The Court did not permit testimony about the dlagram at the hearing. (DE 137 Tr. at 30.)
Phllhps argues, however, that the government’s failure to provide him the diagram during trial
violated Brady.

Phillips states.- that the diagram is “material” because it disprovés the governmgnt’s theory -
that Glodo “was _shot in the back of the head exeéution style with the shot [t]raveling from back

to front.” (DE 134-1, Mem. at 3.) Again, however, Dr. Schott’s testimony at trial was that the
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shot to Glédo’s head was from a distance of at least three feet, not that hé was shét evxecution

- style. Further, even Phillips” expert Dehus testified unequivocally that “the victim Was shot in the
back of the head with a sh0£gL;n.” (DE 137, Tr. at 13.) He testified that “obviously the victim was
shot in the back of the head.” The relevance of the x-ray, according to Dehus, was that if showed
that the shot was at an angle, “a significant angle from left to right.” (DE 137, Tr. at 13-14.) .

Even aséuming that Phillips shot Glodo in the back of the head but at an angle ﬁom left
to right, as explained above, it does not undermine confidence in the jury’s verdicf that Phillips
committed wanton murder. Further, as also eﬁplained above, testimony that Glodo was shot in

~ the back of the head at a distance contradicts Phillips’ argument that he. shot Glodo in self-
defense. Like the x-réy, the diagram is neither favorable to Phillips nor material to his guilf.

For all these reasons and those stated in the magistrate judge’s report and
recommendation (DE 85) and the Court’s May 25, 2017 opinion (DE 89), the Couﬁ hereby
ORDERS as follows: o |

1) The petition for writ of habeas coipus (1, .68) is DENIED; and

2) The ‘petitioner’s motion to amend his petitioﬁ for writ of habeas corpus (DE .134) is

DENIED. |
Dated October 1'5,.201 8.

i

KAREN K. CALDWELL, CHIEF JUDGE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
BASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
SOUTHERN DIVISION at LONDON

* CIVIL ACTIONNO. 6:13-22-ART -

JOHNNY PHILLIPS, | | | PETITIONER,
V. - MAGISTRATE JUDGE’S REPORT
AND RECOMMENDATION
DONBOTTOMS, | |
Warden, Northpoint Training Center, A - RESPONDENT.
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I. INTRODUCTION

Johnny Phillips (hereinafter “Phillips”), was found guilty of x;\'zanton murder in the Laurel
Circuit Court and sentencé;d to thirty (30) years imprisonment. [R 1]. In this action brought
. under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, Phillips cﬁallenges his conviction arguing that it was the result of errors
in the trial court’s instruction to the jury ﬁn ‘wanton mufdgr,'_and constitutionally ,in_effec.tiVC
assiété.nce of counsel. These claims were previously presented to the state’ls highest cdurts for
consideration and allowed him no relief. For the reasons _s.tated more fu]ly below, they ﬁke“dse-.
provide no relief m this action. |

Phillips also contends that his conviction was the result of the Commonwealth’s failure to

préduce material as required by Brady v. Mﬁlwd, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). This claim was not
raised ‘t;y Phillips on &irect appeal from his conviction for wanton murder, but- upon arguing th;

claim in his RCr 11.42 motion and appeal, the Kentucky Court of Appeals 'f(.)und this claim to be
procedurally defau'lte&, and declined to consider the argument.' As a result, the undersigned finds

that Phillips® Brady claim is procedurally defaulted, and beéaus'e he fails to show cause for
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failure to timely present the claim, and resulting prejudice, it provides him no relief in this

action.

I FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Following his conviction ort the charge of wanton murder in the -Laﬁrel Circuit Court, -

| Phillips appealed to the Kentltcky Supreme Court, which summarized the facts of this case as -
_foliows: |

Phillips and victim Phillip Glodo were friends. On October 18, 2007, they
traveled together to Tennessee to. get a boat license. Afterward, they returned to
Phillips's home. At some point Phillips made a comment which Gledo construed
as accusing him of stealing $50.00 from Phillips. Glodo became upset at Phillips

© ‘because of the comment, and remained so until the shooting later that evening.

Phillips and Glodo had a mutual friend, Randy Capps, who testified at trial. Capps
testified that when he first saw Phillips and Glodo at his residence on October 18,
2007, it appeared to him that both men had been drinking. After a short time the
two left to get the boat license. Later that same day, Glodo called Capps. Capps
said that Phillips was blaming him for stealing $50.00, and that he was going to
“kick [Phillip s] ass.” After Capps returned home, he received another phone call
from Glodo in which Glodo threatened to sic his two Great Danes on Phillips.
Glodo also made several calls to Phillips that day.

Later that evening, Phillips retirned to the Capps residence A few minutes before
10:00 p.m., Glodo arrived at the residence and began to argue with Phillips.
Because Cappss children were home, Phillips suggested that they take their
argument elsewhere.

Phillips and Glodo both got into their trucks to leave. As Phillips prepared to pull
- away Glodo yelled “I'll ram your ass.” The two then drove off in the direction of
Phillips's residence.

As Phillips drove down the narrow road he came upon a truck pulling a horse
trailer coming in the opposite direction. In order to let the truck by, Phillips pulled
over into a church parking lot. Glodo pulled in behind him. The two men got out
of their vehicles, and, ultimately, Phillips shot Glodo in the back of the head with
a twelve-gauge shotgun
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As further discussed below, foliowing the shooting Phillips gave a statement to
"the police in which he claimed, inconsistently, that the shooting was both
accidental and done in self-defense.

On November 16, 2007, Phillips was indicted for Glodo's murder. Following a
jury trial, Phillips was convicted of wanton murder, and the jury recommended a
sentence of thirty years' imprisonment. On September 28, 2009, the trial court
entered final judgment consistent with the jury's verdict and sentencing
recommendation. This appeal followed.

Phillips v. Commonwealth, No.- 2009-SC-633-MR, 2010 WL .2471669, at *1 (Ky. June 17,
2010). |
In his appeal, Phillips argued: (i) that the tﬁal court erred by instructing the jury on
wanton murder, when the evidence as a whole only suinported the theory that the shooting was
intentional, and in self-defense; (2) that the trial court ‘erred by denying his motion for a directed
verdict on the murder charge; (3) that the trial court erred by admitting into gvidence gralﬁhic
postmortem photographs of the victim; and (4) that érror occurred during the sentencing phase
when the probation officer incorrectly stated Phillips’ parole eligibility under the violent offeﬁder
statute.  Upon consideration of these arguments, the Kenfucky ‘Supreme Court afﬁrmed- his
conviction.
He'then filed a motibn %or poéf—conviction relief under RCr 11.42, raising various claims
of ineffective assistance of counsel, including: (1) failure to file 4 motion to suppress
: 1'1"1cr1'1’nina’c:in,c.rD statements Philliﬁs made When De_:tective Charlie Loomis continued to question |
him after invoking his right td remain silent; (2). failure to present testimony of 'ex‘culpatory
‘ witnesses;. (3) failure to retain a DNA éxpert; (4) failing to retﬁin a ballistics expert to clarify
the distance and -angle of the shot that killed the victim; (5) féilure to object during the
Commonwealth’s closing argument; (6) failure to tender an appropriate jury instruction; and (7)

failure to present mitigaﬁng evidence. His motion was denied without an evidentiary hearing,

N
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and the circuit court’s ruling was affirmed on his subsequent appeal to the Kentucky Court of

Appeals. Ehillips v. Commonwealth, No. 2011-CA-002169-MR, 2012 WL 5457645, at *3-6,
(Ky. App. Nov. 9, 2012). | ,

On January 23, 2013, Phillipé filed the instant action under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, asselrtingr -
that his due process rights were violated when the trial court instructed the jury on the charge of
wanton murder. [R.1]. Phillipé also claims that his right to effective assistance of counsel was
violated when counsel faﬂed to seek suppressiori of statements he made in résponse to police
interrogation without first being advised of his rights under Lrah@e_tﬁ He argues that this
violation was compoﬁnded when Detective Loomis took statements from him after invoking his .
right to counsel. He brings additional claims of ineffectiveness, including: that trial counsel was -
ineffective for failing to retain a DNA expert to aésist in examining available evidence and to
properly cross examination the‘state’s expert; that counsel failed to submit proper jury
instructions and ‘failed to object to impfopér instructions submitted to the jury by the Court; and,
that counsel failed to investigate, ,pfepare, and present evidence in mitigation of his conviction.
Finally, Philliios confends that the prosecution failed to produce exculpatory evidence in the form
of x-rays of the victim taken during the autopsy. The Commbnwealth has responded by arguing
that the petition should be denied because Phillips’ claim that the prosecution withheld Brady |
material has been procedﬁrally defaulted, and that he cannot éhow that the state courts’ rulings
regarding the remaining claims were contrary to, or an unreasonable application of controlling
law. [R. 30].

III.STANDARD OF REVIEW

Petitioner filed his habeas petition on January 23, 2013, [R. 1]. Thus, it is subject to the

provisions of the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act 6f 1996 (hereinafter “AEDPA”),
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Pub. L. No. 104-132, Tit. I, § 101 (1996) (effective April 1996). See Lindh v. Murphy, 521 U.S.

320, 336 (1997). Inrelevant part, the AEDPA (amended 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)) directs that an
application for'a writ _of habeas corpus shall not be granted with respéct to any claim “unless the
adjudication of the ciaim: (1) resulted in .a decision that was cohtrary to, or involved an
unreasonable application of, cleaﬂy established Federal law, as determined by the Supreme
Court of the United States; or (2) resulted in a decision that was based on an unreasonable
determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State couﬁ proceeding.”

To clarify the standard, the United States Supfeme Court has held_ that, “a federal habeas
court may not issue the‘writ simply because that gourt concludes in its independent judgment that

the relevant state court decision applied clearly established federal law eﬁoneously or

incorrectly. Rather, that application must also be unreasonable.” Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S.
362, 411 (2000) (emphasis added). The AEDPA imposes a “highly deferential standard for

evaluating state-court rulings,” Lindh, 521 U.S. at 333, n.7, which effectively “demands that

state-court decisions be given the benefit of the doubt.” Woodford v. Viscotti, 537 U.S. 19, 24
(2002). It is not the role of the reviewing court “to reexamine state-court determinations on

state-law questions.” Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 68 (1991). Réther, “a federal courtis

limited to deciding whether a conviction violated the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United
States.” Id. A federal habeas court must give complete deference to evidentiary-supported state

court findings of fact pursuant to the presumption of correctness now found in 28 U.S.C. §

2254(e)(1). Sumner v. Mata, 455 U.S. 591, 597 .(1982). All factual findings made by a state

court are presumed correct unless rebutted by clear and convincing evidence. 28 U.S.C. §

2254(e)(1); Postv. Bradshaw, 621 F.3d 406, 413 (6™ Cir. 2010). Likewise, this being a pro se
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petition, the undersigned is mindful that it is held to a less stringent standard than those drafted

by legal counsel. See Cruz v. Beto, 405 U.S. 319 (1972).

JURY INSTRUCTION ON WANTON MURDER

In his petition for relief, Phillips claims that the trial couﬁ violated his due process rights,
as guaranteed under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments- of the United States Constitution
when it instructed the jury on wanton murder. [R 1 at 5]. Beyond merely alleging a due process
violation, Phillips presents nothing to show a valid claim arising under' the United States
Constitution. He argués that because the trial court gave the jury a self-defense instruction 1t Wés .
improper for the court to also give the jury a wanton murder instruction, because if he acted in
‘sélf-defense then he could not have acted with the “extreme indifference to human life” that is
required for a wantoﬁ murder conviction. Therefore, he contends,' it was error to instruct the jury
on both standards. [R. 1 -at'5]. 'i"hese arguments Wére previously addressed by the Kentucky
Supreme Court on his direct appeal from the judgment of conviction. In its decisién_ denying
Phillips; appe;al on this issue, the Kentucky Supreme Court conducted the following analysis:

As noted, following the shooting, Phillips gave a statement to poliée in which,

among other things, he claimed that the shooting was an accident. For example, in

the statement Phjllips said:

“Tt was an accident.... It really was an accident. The gun went off
prematurely. C

I used it [the shotgun] to push him away from me and it went off....
He was standing like this at me and had something in this hand....
When he come at me.... He rushed my truck, he rushed to the side
of my truck, I pushed him away from the truck with my truck door,
know what I mean.... He come up to my truck. I was watching him
in the mirror and they weren't moving quick enough for me to go
on the horses and stuff coming down that hill.... I pushed him off,
basically used my door to get some room to get out of the truck,
and as I come out of the truck I come with the gun, I pulled a

6
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shotgun out beside me. I was trying to scream at him get back in
your damn truck, get the hell away from me and leave me alone

" and he was coming like this and his hand was at his side. In this
hand right here is the one he had had the knife in, all I could see
was shiny chrome and he carries a .44 that long .... in that hand
cause he was coming at me like this, know what I mean, with this
arm extended, with his forearm like extended....

That's when he come at me with his foréarm, I didn't know if he
was going to try and push me.... I raised that gun up cause he had
that thing in his left hand when I raised the gun up. He was coming
at me and I took the gun and give it that and he didn't move four
inches and the gun went off.

I swear on my mother's grave I didn't mean to shoot that man.”

As reflected by his statement, Phillips straightforwardly claimed that the shooting
was an accident. An accidental act is the opposite of an intentional act. Thus,

* contrary to Phillips's argument, the evidence as a whole supports not only the
theory that his shooting of Glodo was intentional and was done so in self-defense,
but also that the shooting was not intentional, but, rather, was an “accident.” The
question then becomes if the jury believed the shooting was unintentional,
whether Phillips's conduct sat1sﬁes the elements of wanton murder.

The. evidence presented regarding the unintentional shooting theory is that Phillips

- pointed a loaded shotgun at Glodo, and pushed him away with the weapon while,
it may be inferred (the shotgun fired), his finger was on the trigger.
Unquestionably the foregoing conduct could be found by a jury to be wanton
because of the high likelihood the shotgun could fire under the circumstances
described. Moreover, we believe it is self-evident that a reasonable jury could
conclude that pointing a loaded shotgun at a person and prodding him with it with
a finger on the trigger manifests an extreme indifference to human life and creates
a grave risk of death. -

Thus, sufficient evidence was presented for a reasonable jury to conclude that the
elements of wanton murder were satisfied. Harris v. Commonwealth, 793 S.W.2d
802, 804 (Ky.1990) (A trial judge properly instructs the jury on wanton murder
where the evidence shows that the defendant was carrying a loaded, cocked pistol
and he admits an intent to point it at the victim but not an intent to cause her
death.) “The decision as to whether the aggravating circumstances (extreme
indifference to human life and grave risk of death to another) were present is best
left to the jury to decide.” Cook v. Commonwealth, 129 S.W.3d 351, 363
(Ky.2004). (citations omitted.)"

Thus, since the evidence supported a wanton murder instruction, the trial court did
not err by presenting the question to the jury. RCr 9.54(1).
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[R: 30-4 at 6-7].

A federal court may not grant relief on any claim, unless the state court decision on the
1an controllitig.that claim was contrary to or involved an unreasorlable applicatibn of clearly
established federal law, as determined by the Supreme Court. of th_e United States. Williams V.
M,' 529 U.S. 363 (2000). Furthermore, “[ilt is not the province of a federal habeés bourr to

- reexamine state-court determinations on stﬁte—law questions. In'conducting habeas review, a
federal court is limited to deciding whether a conviction violated the Cdnstitution, laws,' or
treaties of the United States.” Estelle, 502 U.S. 62 at 68. A federal court ;‘will_ not revierv a
question of federal le_tw ciecided by a state court if the decision of that courf rests on a state law
ground that is independent of the federal quéstiqn and adequate to support the judgment.”

Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 725 (1991). In this case, Phillips merely raises general

aliegations that his constitut_ibnal rights were violated when thé trral court gave an instruction on
the crime of wanton murder. In doing so, he cites numerous Kentucky cases dealing with the.
interpretation and application of state iaws. [R. 1-3]. This, however, i8 insufﬁcierrt to raise a
constitutional challenge ro his conviction.

The issue that Phillips raises is whether it was correct under Kentucky law to give jury
instructions on both'self-defenée and wanton murder. These are state law ivssues, presented as
state law issues.and, analyzed as state law issues. As previously stated, under the AEDPA, the

_ Court must give complete deference to evidentiary-supported state court ﬁndings of fact pursuant
to the presumption of correctness now found i m 28US.C. § 2254(6)(1) Sumner 455U.8S. 591 at
597 In the instant case, the Kentucky Supreme Court reviewed the case and, based upon state .

law, determined that both self-defense and wanton murder instructions were supported by the

evidence at trial.” These issues are not for review b}r the Court. See Taylor v. Morgan, 2006 WL
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2475349 (W.D.K.Y. 2006). Accordingly, petitionef is not entitled to habeas relief based on

claims arising from the trial court’s decision to allow a wanton murder instruction.

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNEL CLAIMS

In hils petition for habeas relief, Phillips claims that he was denied effective assistance of
counsel when his attorney faﬂed seek the suppression of statemeﬁts he made to the police during
interrogation and after invoking his right to counsél. [R. 1 at 3]. Phillips also claiﬁns that his
counsel was ineffective by failing to retain an expert witness. [R. 1 at 3]. He also claims counsel
Wés ineffective for failing to tender appropriate jufy instructions and for failing to iject to
improper jury instructions given by tﬁe court. [R.1 at 3]. Finally, Phillips élaims coﬁ.nsel was
ineffective when his attorney failed to invésﬁéate, and/or present mitigating evidence during the
éentencing phase of trial. [R. 1 at 3].'- Phillips asserted all of these élaﬁﬁs 1n his RCr 11.42
motion and the appeal of the denial of that motion to the Kentucky Court of Appeals. [R. 1, 1-3].
The state circuit court found that.Phillips failed to show thét counsel made eﬁors so serious that
counsel was not functioning as ‘counsel’ nor that he sﬁffered any prejudice by the allega;tions of

verrors. [R.1-3 at 14]. The Kentucky Court of Appeals affirmed eaéh of those holdings. [R. 30- |
8], |
| For purposes of this Section 2254 proceeding, the Court must énalyze whether the
Kéntucky '-Court of Appeals reasonably applied clearly established federal law in denying'
| Phillips’ claims. The Supremc_CQurt of the United States; preslently holds that in order- for a
defendant to have his or hef conviction overturned based upon ineffecﬁx-fe assistance of counsel,
two elements must be satisfied: (1) the ‘defendant must show that counsel’s performance was so

defective that he/she was not functioning as counsel as guaranteed under the Sixth Amendment;
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and (2) the defendant must show that prejudice resulted from the defective performance.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). Under the Strickland analysis, the
performance inquiry focuses on whethér counsel’s as.sistzinc'e was reasonable considering the
totality of the circumstanéés. Id. at 68 8. The prejudice inquiry focuses on Whether the defendant
is able to establisﬁ a reasonable probability that, but for coﬁnsel’s unprofessional errors, the
result of the proceedings would have been different. Id. at 694. Thus an error by counsel, even
if professionally unreasonable, does hot warrant setting aside the conviction if the error did not
affect the outcome. Id. at 691. |

Signiﬁcantly, both prongé, of the Strickland tesf must be met for a finding of ineffective
assistance, but courts are not required to conduct‘an analysis under bdth; thus, a court need not
address the question of competence if it is easier to dispose of the claim due to the lack of

prejudice. Strickland,-466 U.S. at 697; Baze v. Pérker 371 F.3d 310, 321 (6th Cir. 2004). In

addition, the reviewing court “should recognize that counsel is strongly presumed to have
rendered adequate assistance and made all sigﬁiﬁcént decisions in the exercise of reasonable
professional judgment.” Id. at 690. “Defendants alleging the ineffective assistance of counsel

bear “a heavy burden of proof.”” Pough v. United States, 442 F.3d 959, 966 (6th Cir. 2006)

(citing Whiting v Burt, 395 F.3d 602, 617 (6th Cir. 2005)). And, under AEDPA, a state court’s

ruling on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim presented below must be an unreasonable
application of the Strickland standard in order to justify federal habeas relief. Bell v. Cone, 535

U.S. 685, 693-94 (2002); Scott v. Elo, 302 F.3d 598, 606-07 (6th Cir. 2002); Mongo v. Edwards,

281 F.Bd 568, 582-83 (6th Cir. 2002). Furthermore, a determination of a factual issue made by a

state court shall be presumed correct and the applicant shall have the burden of rebutting the -

presumption by clear and convincing evidenée. McAdoo v. Elo, 365 F.3d 487, 493-94 (6th Cir.

10
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2004. This presumption of correctness also applies to the factual findings of a state appellate

court made on its review of the state trial record. Mitchell v. Mason, 320 F.3d 604, 614 (6th Cir.

2003).

Phillip’s first claim is that counsei was ineffective by failing to file a motion to suppress .
statements he made to Detective Charlie Loomis. Phillips claims that he asserted his right to
remain silent aﬁd right to counsel during preliminary questioning; howevef, Loomis continued

- the interrogation in violation of Phillip’s constitutional rights. [R. 30-8 at 6]. Detective Loomis
testified at trial that f’hiliips was given his Miranda WMnmgs both at the scene of the incident
and again at the sheriff’s office, and that Phillips never invoked his rigﬁts. - [R.' 30-8 at 6].
Counsei at trial specifically questioned Loomis about Whethér Loomis had advised Phillips of his
right to remain silent and his right to counsel. The Kentucky Court of Appeals found that the
re'cord.refutes. Phillips® claim rega;ding this issue. Upon review, the court did not find that
Phillip’s éouﬂsel was deficient, and found that no evidentiary hearing on the fssue was
warrénted. [R. 30-8 at 6]. Furthermore, the state court made a factuél finding that Phillips. was
read his Miranda rights at the scene prior to making any statements and never invoked his right |
to counsel. [R.30-8 at 6]. As previously stated, there is a presumption of correctness with regard
to the state court’s finding of fact and the record supports such finding. McAdoo, 365 F.3d 487
at 493-94. Phillips has failed fo rebut this presumption by clear and convincing evidence -and
this claim should be denied. |

Phillips next claims counsel was ineffective “when he failed to retain the assistance of a
DNA expeﬁ to .assist him n 'examjning the availglble evidence, and to prepare his cfpss
examination of the state’s expert.” [R. 1 at 11]. The Kentucky Couﬁ of Appeals found that

Phillips failed to establish prejudice based on the failure of counsel to hire a DNA expert.
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Every criminal case does not require defense counsel to retain a rebuttal expert
witness. Thompson v. Commonwealth, 177 S.W.3d 782, 786 (Ky. 2005). Here,
counsel thoroughly cross-examined Tunstill [the Commonwealth’s DNA expert]
on her findings, emphasizing that her tests clearly established that Phillips did not
. possess the knife. Further, Tunstill explained that the results for the victim were
“inconclusive” because there was not enough DNA on the knife to conclusively
determine whether the victim handled the knife. Based on Tunstill’s testimony
the jury could have inferred that the victim possessed the knife, which defense
counsel vigorously argued to the jury. Under the totality of the circumstances,
counsel performed reasonably, and Phillips failed to establish that he was
prejudiced by counsel’s decision.

[R. 30-8 at 9].
Phillips argues that counsel’s failure to obtain an independent DNA expert denied him
“the right of effective cross-examination Which is constitutional error of the first magnitude.”

Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974). While Phillips is correct in that the right to

effectively cross-examine a witness is a constitutional right, he is incorrect that this right extends
to the right to call an independent expert witness: ‘The Supreme Court has held that “Strickland

does not enact Newton’s third law for the presentation of evidence, requiring for every

prosecution .'expert an equal and opposite éxpert from the defense.” Harrington v. Rich’;er, 131
.S.Ct. 770, 791 (2011) (holdiﬁg that the failure of trial counsel to consult blood evidence experts
to offer their expert festi’mony did not warrant federal habeas relief). Phillips further argues that
a jury would havé believed any potential testimony the Defense’s DNA expeﬁ might have given
- more than the Commonwealth’s DNA expert who actually did testify at trial. [R. 1-3]. Th'is type

of speculative afgument does not demonstrate the required prejudice under Strickland. See

Hodge v. Haeberlin, 579 F.3d 627, 640 (6th Cir. 2009); Clark v. Waller, 490 F.3d 551, 558 (6th
' C1r 2007 (holding that a petitioner failed to demonstrate prejudice by asserting that an uncalled
" witness would have aided his defensé). Baéed on this énalysis, the Kéntucky Court of Appeals’

decision on this issue was not contrary to or an unreasonable application of federal law and
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Phillips has failed to show that he was prejudiced by trial counsel’s decision not to call its own
expert DNA witness and therefore this claim for habeas relief should be denied.

Phillips next argues that “[c]ounsel rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance when .'
- he failed to submit proper jury instructions to the court, and when he failed to object to the
improper instructions submitted to the jury by the court.” [R. 1-3 at 31]. Phillips states that
counsel should have requested a more specific self-defénse jury instructionwfhat included a
provision regarding the use of force against someone who was in the process of forcibly entering
an oecupied vehicle. The Kentucky Court of Appeals denied this claim when raised on appeal.
The Court stated:

[a] defendant is entitled to jury instructions that are “applicable to every state of

the case deducible or supported to any extent by the testimony.” Taylor v.

Commonwealth, 995 S.W.2d 355, 360 (Ky. 1999). In this case Phillips gave

conflicting statements to the police regarding how the shooting occurred. -

Although one of his statements indicated he saw the victim in the rearview mirror,

there was never an allegation that the victim attempted to forcibly enter the

vehicle. As the evidence did not support an occupied vehicle instruction we

conclude counsel was not deficient on this issue, and an evidentiary hearing was
not warranted. Commonwealth v. Davis, 14 S.W.3d, 11 (Ky. 1999).

[R. 30-8 at 12].

As previously stated, Whether a jury instruction is supported by the evidence pursuant to
state law is not an issue that is eognizabie on federal habeas reyiew. See Estelle, 502 U.S. 62 at
68. On a federal habeas review the Court is bound to accept the state suiafeme court’s decision

as to the validity of the jury instructions given at trial. Davis v. Morgan, 89 Fed.Appx. 932, 937

(6th Cir. 2003). “If the jury instructions were proper as we must assume, then [Defendant’s]
counsel could not have rendered ineffective assistance by failing to Ob_] ect to them.” Id. Based
on this analysis, Phillips’ claim that his trial couhsel was ineffective by failing to object to or

tender proper jury instructions is without merit and should be denied.
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Philiips next argues that “[cJounsel provideci constitutionally ineffective aésistance when
he failed to investigate, prepare, and present evidénce in mitigation of Petitioner’s conviction.’;
[R.I at 14]. Phillips argues that if counsel had not failed to investigate, document or present
Petitioner’s extensive history of phyéical abuse and exposure to violence during his childhooc_l _
and adolescence, he would have received a lesser sentence. The Kentucky Court. of Appéals
dlsagreed with this claim and concluded the following: |

The record indicates that Phillips’s best friend testified during the guﬂt phase, and
Phillips’s wife, Angie, testified during both phases of the trial. Counsel elicited
testimony regarding Phillips’s positive attributes, including owning a business,
being an avid hunter, and spending time with his two children. -Angie also
explained that Phillips lived with a serious back ailment. In the penalty phase
closing argument, defense counsel implored the jury to give Phillips the minimum
twenty-year sentence. It is clear that Phillips’s post-conviction argument
regarding potential mitigation evidence relies on conclusory allegations;
consequently, an evidentiary hearing was not warranted on this issue. Sanders, 89
S.W.3d at 385. :

[R. 30-8 at 13].
The Sixth Circuit has held that when counsel puts on a reasonable mitigation case there

has not been deficient performance. Hodges v. Colson, 727 F.3d 517, 545 (6th Cir. 2013). The

record is clear that Phillips® defense counsel introduced evidence of employment history,
- hobbies, family interaction and physical ailments. [R. 30-8 at 13]. “The [federal court’s] role on
habeas review is not to nitpick gratuitously counsel’s performance. After all, the constitutional

right at issue here is ultimately the right to a fair trial, not to prefect répresentation.” Smith v.

Mitchell, 348 F.3d 177, 206 (6th Cir. 2003) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 684). Here, the
Kentucky Court of Appeals’ finding that Phillips® was not prejudiced by his counsel’s failure to
present more mitigating evidence at sentencing is not contrary to or ‘an unreasonable application

of federal law and therefore this ground for relief is without merit.
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As previouély stated, the AEDPA imposés a “highly deferential standard for evaluating
state-court rulings,” Lindh, 521 U.S. at 333, n.7, which effectively “demands that state-court
dec131ons be given the beneﬁt of the doubt.” Woodford 537 U.8. 19 at 24. The Kentucky Court
of Appeals decision was not. contrary to er an unreasonable application of clearly established
federal law and therefore Phillips claims that he received ineffective assistance of counsel are

without merit and should be dismissed.

EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE

In his final ground for relief, Phillips claims the prosecution violated his Brady rights
when it failed, and/or refused to produce exculpatory evidence. [R. 1]. In his instant 2254
~ motion, Phillips lists the following evidence: pictures of the victim’s truck, a second knife found
in the victim’s truck, a second ‘swab’ taken from the victim’s knife which might po'ssibly have -
been tested for DNA; and finally, post-mortem x-rays of the victim’s skull. [R. 1]. While
Phillips mentions all of these items as exculpatory evidence in his 2254 motion, he fails to
discuss them further in his memorandum of support. The onlﬁf item which Phillips® discusses in
greater detail and gives an explanation for are the post-mortem X—_rays. The Commonwealth told
Phillips that no x-rays of Glodo’s skull were ever taken. In its response to Phillips’ RCr 11.42
~appeal, dated May 7, 2012, the Commonwealth stated: -
“INJo X-Rays were taken during the au’topéy of the victim and none were
introduced at trial. The trial court also concluded that the appellant’s assertion
that X-Rays were taken-was without any factual basis and denied him relief on
this issue.- The court based this conclusion on the appellant’s own motion which
contained a letter from Larry Dehus of Law-Science Technologies, in which Mr.
_ Dehus reviewed the autopsy and wrote that there was no indication that an X-Ray
was taken of the deceased’s head. Based upon the appellant’s own motion, the

appellant’s allegation that the Commonwealth failed to turn over X—Rays is
without ment ”
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[R. 30-7].

On December 3, 2013, an Open Records Act request Was made to the Justice and Public
Safety Cabiﬁet of Kentucky for “the radiolqu reports and films that resulted from the October
19, 2007, .autopsy of Phil Glodo that was performed by the Kentucky Medical Examiner.” [R.
42-1 a;c 51]. This request was 'on'ginally denied. waever, in a letter dated April 22, 2014, the
Kentucky Attorney General’s Office stated that the denial of the request was a violation of the
Open Records Act. [R. 42-1 at 51]. In'that letter, the Attorney General’s Office granted the
~ request for the x-ra§ and also stated that thére was nev.er aﬁy radiology report generated after Mr.
Glodo’s head was x-rayed. [R. 42-1 at 52]. Following this ruling, in a letter dated April 28,
2014, the State Medical Examiner’s Office explained how a photographic copy of the x-ray
could be purchased, or that the actual x-ray film could be made available by appointment at-the
Medical Examiner’s Office. [R. 42-1 at 48]. ‘Phillips has filed a picture of what appears to be
. the x-ray at issue in his Motion to Expand the Record. [R. 42-1 at 49]. |

Specifically, Phillips argues thét there is a reasonable prébability that had the evidence
been disclosed to him, the result of the trial would have been different. The Commonwealth, in
its response, argues that this claim should have been raiéed on direct appeal and therefore it is
procédurally defaulted. tR. 30]. Phillips argues that he should be allowed to bring this claim
because he was not aware of the existence of the evidence at iésﬁe? post-mortem x-rays of the
victim’s skull, until after his direct appeal had been filed. [Record No. 1-3].

As previously discussed, under the doctrine of procedural default; “a federal court.will'
not review the merits of a claim, including consfittitional claims that a state court declined to
hear because the priéoner failed to abide by a state procedural rule.” Mértinez, 132 8.Ct. 1309 at

1316, The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals has articulated a four-part test to determine whether a
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he_tbeas claim has been pfocedurally defaulted: “(1) whether there is a state prqcedural rule that is.
_ 'applicable to the petitioner’s claim; (2) whether the petitioner failed to comply with that rule; (3)
whether the procedural rule was actually enforced in the petitioner’s case; and (4) whether the
state procedural forfeiture is an adequate aﬁd independent state ground on which the staté can
rely to foreclose review of a federal constitutional claim.” Howard, 405‘ F.3d 459 at 477. Under
the first three.prongs, “a procedﬁal default does not bar consideration of a federal claim on
habeas corpus review unless the last stafe court rendering a reasc;ned opinion in the case ‘clearly

2%

“and expressly states that its judgment rests on a state procedural bar.”” Thompson, 580 F 3d 423
at 437. As to the fourth prong, a state procedural rule is “adequate” if it’s “firmly established

and regularly followed.” Wilson v. Mltchell 479 F.3d 491, 499 (6th Cir. 2007) -(citations

omltted) A state procedural rule is considered “independent” when it does not rely on federal
law. Id.

In its decision denying Phillips® RCr 11.42 motion, the Kéntuéky Court of Appeé.ls
declined to address Plﬁllips’ aréunient related to an alleged‘ Brady violation .by the
Commonwealth. The court held that the issue should have been raised on his direct appeal. [R. .

30-8 at 9]. In its holding the court cited Martin v. Commonwealth, 203 S.W.3d 173 (Ky. App.

2006). In that case, the court held, “it is not the purpose of RCr 11.42 to permit a convicted
defendant to retry issues which could and should have been raised in the original proceeding, nor

those that were raised in the trial court and upon an appeal considered by this court.” Id. (citing

Thabker v. Commonwealth, 476 S.W. 2d 838, 839 (Ky. 1972)). Therefore,‘the Commonwealth
now contends that Phillips’ arguments regarding Brady violations are procedurally defaulted and

provide him with no relief in this action.
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However, the “failure to raise a particular claim on appeal is to be scrutinized under the
cause and prejudice standard when that failure is treated as a procedural default b}f the state

courts. Murray v. Carrier, 477_ U.S. 478 492 (1986). Procedural default of Phillips’ claims can

be “excused by an adequate showing of cause and prejudice.” Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S: 263,

282 (1999). Thereforé, a determination must be made as to whether Phillips claim can survive a
c‘;mse and prejudice analysis. As explained bélow, assuming that Phillips has made a showing of
cause, he has failed to show prejudice and therefore this claim $hould be denied. |

The ‘cause’ analysis is used to determine why.a Deff_endant failed to raise a Brady claim

at an earlier proceeding. Strickler, 527 U.S. 263 at 283. “A state’s suﬁpression of Brady

evidence constitutes cause under the procedural-default doctrin_e.”' Brooks v. Tennessee, 626
F.3d 878, 890 (6th Cir. 2010). “[TThe existence of causé for a procedural default must‘ordjnarﬂy
turn.on whether the prisoner can show that some objective factor external.to the defense impéded
counsel’s efforts to comply with the State’s procedural rule.” m_rrgy, 477 U._S. 478 at 488.
Here, Phillfps along ﬁm his counsel was told multiple times that fhe x-rays did not exist, when
in fact they did. This denial by the Commonwealth and later detenninétion that the x-rays did
exist is an objective extemal factor as to why Phillips did not raise this cleﬁm e.arlier.' Thﬁs,
P_hillipé has shown that this claim must be considered based oﬁ adequate cause. The next step is
to 'deterihine whether Phillips was prejudiéed by the failure of the Commonwealth to dis.close the
post;mortem x-réys. |

| “The éuppression of evidence by the prosecution of evidenc‘e favorable to an accused

upon request violates due process ‘where the evidence is material to guilt or to punishment,

18
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irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.” Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83,
88 (1963). To demonstrate. that the withholding of the x-rays was a Brady violation, Phillips
“must prove that “(1) the evidence at issue is favorable to him; (2) the S,téte, éither willfully or .

inadvertently, suppressed that evidence; and (3) prejudice ensued.” Harbison v. Bell, 408 F.3d

823, 830 (6th Cir. 2005); guoting Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999).

In the case at hand, it is apparent the Commonwealth failed to discl_ose the x-rays and
therefore cause has been established. Therefore, the inquiry is now whether the x-rays are
favorable to Phillips, and whether he lwas ;;rejl_ldiced by their suppression. “There is never a real |
Brady violation unless the nondisclosuré was so serious that there is a reasonable probability that

the suppressed evidence would have produced a different verdi¢t.” Strickler, 527 U.S. 263 at |

281. “To determine whether there is such probability, the withheld evidence must be considered

collectively.” Harbison, 408 F.3d 823 at 830 (citing Castleberry v. Brigano, 349 F.3d 286, 291

(6th Cir. 20035. The degree of prejudice shoﬁld be evaluated using the total context of the events

at trial and not by simply viéwing the evidence at issue alone. U.S. v. Frady, 456 U.S. 152, 169

(1982). ““For purposes of determining reasonable probability, ‘[t]he question is not whethef the
defendant would more likely' than not have received a different verdict with the évidence, but

Whefher in its absencé he received a fair triaﬂ.’” Casﬂéber_ry_ , 349 F.3d 286 at 291 (éuoﬁng Kyles

v. Whitney, 514 U.S. 419, 434 (1995).

Phillips claims the inclusion of the post—morterh x-rays of the skull would likely have
resulfed in a not-guilty verdict becausé they show the victim was not shot straight-on m the béck
of the head, but rather shot from tile side of the head as a result -of a struggle for the’shotgun. R.
1]. Phillips ié incorrect in this argument. Due to the amount of other é;vidence presented, the

failure of the Commonwealth to deliver the post-mortem x-rays did not result in an unfair trial.

19

62 a



Case: 6:13-cv-00022-KKC-EBA Doc #: 54 Filed: 12/09/14 Page: 20 of 25 - Page |D#:
: 1548

“Evidence that is ‘merely cumulative’ to evidence presented at trial is ‘not material” for purposes

of Brady analysis.” Brooks, 626 F.3d at 893 (quoting C:arter v. Mitchell, 443 F.3d 517, 533 (6th
Cir. 2006)). |
| At Phillips® trial, the Commonwealth presented a variety of evidence and expert
witnesses that is cumulative to 'the issue Phillips claims the x—rayé prove; how and where Glodo
' | was shot. At trial, the Commonwealth presented the testimon}} of G. Dwight Deskins, é.forensic _
scientist with the Eastern Regional Forensic Laboratory who specializes in firearms, and Dr.
Jennifer Schott, the State Medical Examiner for the Deﬁartment of Justice of the Commonwealth
“of Kentilcky: [R. 30-’7]. Mr. Deskins testified that the shotgun which Phillips shot Glodo had no
" malfunctions and had a common trigger weight. [R. 30-7]. In her testimony, Dr. Schott
explained that the pellets from the-shotgun shell traveled from the back of Glodo’s head toward
the front. [R. 30-7]. Dr. Schott also téstiﬁed that the spread pattern of satellite lesions on’
Glodo’s skull indicated that the gunshot wound Wr;1s -not'a contact \;vound and that Glodo was. shot
from-a distance of at least ‘. threé '(3) feet. [R. 30-7]. During Df. Sch‘étt’s testimony, the
Commonwealth introduced two photos of the- wound to the back of Glodo’s head. [R.30-7]. In
~ one of these photos the back of Glodo’s head was shaved, making it easier to see the details of
. the wound.‘ [R. 30-7]. | i | |
Looking at all of the evidence presented at trial, the jury heard evidence related to how-
-Glodo was shot and thé specific type of gunshot wound he suffered. Defense counsel had ample
opportunity to cross-examine these witnesses and to caﬂ its own experts to refute the evidence.
Because so mﬁch evidence was presented at trial on this issue, Phﬂlips Waé not prejudiced by not
having access to the x-ray of Glodo’s skull. Fu;thermore, it is uncertain whether presenting the

x-ray at trial would even have been beneficial to Phillips’ case. Phillips argues that the x-rays
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would “totally refute the C»ommonwealth’s theory of the case.” [R: 1-3]. This assertion is
simply not true. In his melzmorandum of éupport, Phillips claims that Dr. Schott’s testimony was
inconsistent Wi;th what the photographs of Glodo’s skull show [R. 1-3] but he_fails to definitively
explain why the exclusion of the x-rays resulted in an unfair trial. Based on all of this evidence;
Phillips has nof demonstrated that the post-mortem x-rays would have been beneficial to his case
nor has he proven that he was prejudiced by their suppression. Accordingly, it is recommended

| that Phillips® claim that the prosecution violated his due process rights when it failed to produce.
exculpatory evidence should be denied.

e

IV.OTHER MOTIONS

Phillips has also filed into the record motions for an evidentiary heariné [R. 14, 39],
motions to appoint counsel [R; 15, 38], motions to amend His 2254 petition and expand the .
record [R. 40, 42], ﬁnotion forldiscovery [R. 47], and motion to proceed in formﬁ pauperis [R.
44]. For the reasons stated below, these mbtions should be cienied.

At issué first are Phillips’ motions for an evidentiafy hearing. [R. 14, 40]. The AEDPA
limits the ability of federal courts to grant an evidentiary hearing. In pertinent part, the statute
provides:

| (2) If the applicant has failed to develop the factual basis of a claim
in State court proceedings, the court shall not hold an evidentiary

hearing on the claim unless the applicant shows that —

(A) the claim relies on—
@) a new rule of constitutional law ...; ot

(i) & factual predicate that could not have been previously -
discovered through the exercise of due diligence; and
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(B) the facts underlying the claim would be sufficient to establish
by clear and convincing evidence that but for constitutional
error, no reasonable fact finder would have found the applicant
guilty of the underlymg offense.

28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(2).

In Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 420 (2000) the Supreme Court held that, “[ulnder the

opening clause of 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(2) a failure to develop the factual basis of a claim is not
established unless there is lack of d111gence or some greater fault, attributable to the prisoner or
~ the prisoner’s cqunsel.” “Diligence for purposes of the opening clause depends upon whether -
the prisoner ﬁlade a reasonable attempt, in Iig]st of the information available at the time, to
investigate and pursue claims in state court; it does not depend... upon whether those efforts
could have been successful.’_’ Furthermore, “in determining whether to grant an evidentiary
hearing, a habeas court must ‘consider whether such a hearing could enable an applicant to prove
_the petition’s factual allegatiohs, which, if true, would entitle the applicant to federal habeas

relief.”” Muniz v. Smith, 647 F.3d 619, 625 (6th Cir. 2011); quoting Schriro v. Landrigan, 550

U.S. 465, 474 (2007).

Here, Phillips passes the “due diligence” requirement because, as previously discussed,
he bcould not have known about the post-mortem x-rays. However, Phillips fails the second part
of the analysis, in that “the facts underlying the claim Would be sufficient to establish by clear
and convincing evidence that but for constitutional error, no reasonable fact finder would have
found the applicant guilty of the underlying offense.” 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(2)(B). In this matter,
the iﬁclusion of the post-mortem x-rays would not have been beneficial to Phillips’ defense and
would simply have been cumulative to the other ev1dence that was presented by the prosecution

at tr1a1 There is nothing to indicate that had the x-rays been dlsclosed then no reasonable fact
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| finder wéuld have found Phillips guilty of murder. Also, if sﬁch é heaﬁng were held, Phillips
‘would not be able to prove entitlement to the relief he cle;ims. Accordingly, Phillips’ motions for
an evidentiary hearing [R. 14, 39] will be denied,
| Phillips has also filed a motion for discovery [R. 47]. In his motion Phillips requests an
order requiring the Kentucky State Police Crime Lab to provide the parties with copies of all -
original, unredacted copies of reports and data compiied in connection with- Peﬁtioner’s
prosecution in state court.. “For good cause shown, the district court has the discretion to permit
| diécovery in a habeas proceeding, see 28 U.S.C‘ § 2254 Rule 6(a), ‘prdvided that the habeas
petitioner preseﬁts specific allegations 'showing reason to believe that the facts, if fully
developed, may lead the district éourt to believe that federal habeas relief is appropriate.”” Post
v. Bradshaw, 621 F.3d 406, 425 (6th Cir. 2010); guoting Lott v. Coyle, 261 F.3d 594, 602 (6th
Cir. 2001). In this case, as previousl_y discussed, there has been no showing of good cause that
further diséovery would lead ﬁis Court to believe that federal habeas relief is appropriate and
" therefore Phillipsv’ Motion for Discovery [R. 47] will be denied.
Phillips has also filed motions to amend his 2254 petition‘ énd expand the Ire'cord. [R. 40,
42]. In his motions, Phillips requests that the Court expénd the record to include his RCr 11.42 .
motion and the post—morteni x-ray evidence. In writing this Report and Recommendations, the
undersigned took into cdnsideraﬁon all evic:l_ence filed iﬁto the record, including the RCr 11.42
motion and the post-mortem x-rays. Because thié eﬁdence has already been filed into the record
and considered while méking this recommendation, Phillips’ motions [R. 40, 42] will be denied
as moot. |
Phillips has also made two fnotions for the aiopqintment of counsel [R. 15, 38], and a

renewed motion to proceed in forma pauperis [R. 44]. In his moﬁons, Phillips requests the
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appointment of counsel due to the complexity of the issues in his case, his limited access to legal

research and due to the fact that he is taking bi-weekly injections of the arthritis drug Humira. A

petitioner doesl not have a constitutional right to habeas counsel. Post v, Bradshew, 422 F.3d
419, 423. (6th Cir. 2005). A federal court has the discretion to appoint counsel for any petitioner
seeking habeas relief, if the petitioner is proceeding as a pauper and the initerests of justice so
reqﬁire. See U.S.C. § 2254(h); 18 U.S.C.—,§ 3006A(a)(2)(B). In exercising its discretion, the
court -should .consider the legal_ and factual complexity of the case, petitioner’s ability to
investigate and present his claims, and any other factors relevant to the given case. Hoggard v.
'.M, 29 F3d 469, 417 (8th Cir. 1994). Here, Phillips has demonstrated his ability to
investigate and preseﬁt his claims to the court as demonstrated by his .thorougbly researehed
motions and memorande presented to the court. The issues _Phtllips has presented to the court,
While numeroué, are not so complex that the appointntent of counsel is necessary in the interests
of justice and therefore Phillips’s motiens to appoint counsel [R. ‘15, 38] will -be denied.
Furthermore, because there is no rteed for a hearing, to appoint counsel or further discovery in
this matter there is no need to proceed as a pauper and-therefore Phillips’ ntotion to proceéd in
forma f)auperis [R. 44] will be denied as r‘noot.

V. CONCLUSION

Therefore, for the reasons stated within, IT IS ORDERED that Phillips’ Motions for an
evidentiary hearing [R. 14, 39], motions to appoint counsel [R. 15, 38], motions to amend his
2254 petition and expand the record [R. 40, 42], motion for discovery [R. 47], and motion to

proceed in forma pauperis [R. 44], are DENIED.
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In addition, this Court does not find that the state courts’ rulings represent an

unreasonable application of clearly established federal law. The Kentucky courts reasonably

applied the correct federal equivalents to all of Phillips® claims, and found no grounds for relief.

This Court agrees With'.the Kentﬁcky courts’ findings and Phillips has been unable to meét his
burdens of proving otherwise. Therefore;, for the reasons set forth above, thé undersigned
RECOMMENDS that Phillips’ Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus [R. 1] be DENIED.

Thf: parties are directed to 28 U.S.C. § 63 6(5)(1) for a review of appeal rights‘ governjng

this Report and Recommendation. Specific objections to this Report and Recommendation must

be filed within fourteeﬁ (14) days from the date of service thereof or further appeal is waived..

' United States v. Campbell, 261 F.3d 628, 632 (6th Cir. 2001); Thomas v. Ann, 728 F.2d 813,

815 (6th Cir. 1984). General objections or objections that require a judge’s interpretation are

insufficient to pfeserve the right to appeal. Cowherd v. Million, 380 F.3d 909, 912 (6th Cir.

2004); Miller v. Currie, 50 F.3d 373, 380 (6th Cir. 1995).

Signed December 9, 2014.

Signed By:
Edward B. Atkins fgk
. United States Magistrate Judge
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MEMORANDUM OPINION Of THE COURT
‘ AFFIRMING

.Appellant, Johnny Phillips, appeals as a matter of right! from a judgment
of the Laurel Cir¢uit Court convicting him of wanton murder. Pursuant to the .
jury’s recommendation, he was sentenced to thirty years’ imprisonment.

On appeal, Phillips raises the following claims: (i) that the trial court
erred by instructing the jufy on wanton murder; (2) that the trial court erred by
- denying his rhotion for a directed verdict on the murder charge; (3) that the
trial court erred by admitting into evidence graphic postmortem photographs of
the victim; and (4) that error occurred during the sentencing phase When the
probation officer incorrectly stated Phillips’s parole eligibility under the violent

offender statute. Finding no error, we affirm.

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

1 Ky. Const. § 110(2)(b).
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Phillips and victim Phillip Glodo were friends. On October 18, 2007, they
traveled together to Tennessee to get a boat license. Afterward, they returned
té Phillips’s home. At some point Phillips made a comfnent which Glodo
construed as accusing him of stealing $50.00 from Phillips. Glodo became
-~ upset at Phillips because of the comment, and remained so until the shooting
later that evening.

Phillips and Glodo had a mqtual friend, Randy Capps, who testified at
trial. Capps testified that when he first saw Phillips and Glodo ét his residence
.on October 18, 2007, it appeared to him that both men had been drinking.
After a short time the WVO- left to get the boat license. Later that same day,
Glodo called Capps. Capps said that Phillips v&as blaming him for stealing
$50.00, and that he was going to “kick [Phillip’s] ass.” After Capps returned
home, he received another phone cail from Giodo in which Glddo threatened to
sic his two Great Danes-on Phillips. Glodo also made several calls to Philiips
that day. |

Later that evening, Phillipé r¢t‘u1"ned to the Capps ;esidence. A few
minutes before 10:00 p.m., Glodo arrived at the resicience and began to argue
with Phillips. Because Capps’s children were home, Phillips éuggested that
they take their argument elsewhere.

Phillips and Glodo both got into fheir trucks to leave. As Phillips
prepared to pull away Glodo yelled “I'll ram your ass.” The two then drove off

in the direction of Phillips’s residence.
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As Phillips drove down the narrow road he came upon é truck pulling a
horse trailer coming in the opposite direction. In order to let the truck by,
Phillips pulled over into a church parking lot. Glodo pulled in behind him.
The two_meri got out of their vehicics, and, ultimately, Phillips shot Glodo in
the back of the head with a twelve-gauge shotgun.

As further discussed below, following the shooting Phillips gave a
statement to the police in which he claimed, inconsistently, that the shooting '
was both accidental and done in self-defense.

On November 16, 2007, Phillips was indicted for Glodo’s murder.
Following a jury trial, Phillips was convicted of wanton murder, and the jury
recommended a sentence of thirty yéars’ imprisonment. On September 28,
2009, the triallcourt entered ﬁnai judgment consisfent with the jury’s verdict-‘
and sentencing recommendation. This appeal folloWed.

[I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GAVE A WANTON MURDER INSTRUCTION

Phillips first contends that the trial court erred by instructing the jury on
wanton murder. He argues that the evidence as a whole oniy supports the
theory that the shooting was intentional — and was done so‘in self-defe_née.
Because, following the shooting, Phillips claimed in his statement to police that
- the shooting was accidental, we disagxfee.

“In a criminal case, it is the duty of the trial judge to prepare and give
instructions on the whole law of the case, and thié rule requires instructions

applicable to every state of the case deducible or supported to any extent by the
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testimony.” RCr 9.54(1); Taylor v. Commonwealth, 995 S.W.2d 355, 360 (Ky.
1999). Further, intentional murder and wanton murder are the same offense
undér Kentucky law and, if supported by thé evidence, it is proper to instruct
the jury on both alterna"ce theories of liability. Evans v. Commonwealtﬁ, 45
S.W.3d 445; 447 (Ky. 2001) (citing Ice v. Commonwealth, 667 S.wW.2d 671, 677
(Ky. 1984)); KRS 507.020. |

The wanton murder provisions contained in KRS 507.020(1)(b) provide as
follows: | |

(1) A person is guilty of murder when:

(b) Including, but not limited to, the operation of a motor vehicle
under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to human
life, he wantonly engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of
death to another person and thereby causes the death of another -
person. Cos :

(emphasis added).

Thus, the culpable mental state for wanton murder is wantonness,
exce.pt- that to fall under the wanton murder statute the wanton conduct must
also involve the statutory aggravating factors of (1) manifesting extreme |

indifference to human life, and (2) the creation of grave risk of death to another
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person.Q KRS 501.020(3) defines “wantonly” as follows:

“Wantonly” - A person acts wantonly with respect to a result or to a
circumstance described by a statute defining an offense when he is
aware of and consciously disregards a substantial and
unjustifiable risk that the result will occur or that the
circumstance exists. The risk must be of such nature and degree
that disregard thereof constitutes a gross deviation from the
standard of conduct that a reasonable person would observe in the
situation. A person who creates such a risk but is unaware thereof
solely by reason of voluntary intoxication also acts Wantonly with
respect thereto

The term “wantonly” as used in KRS 507.020(b) was clarified in Elliott v.
Commonwealth, 976 S.W.2d 416 (Ky. 1998). “The definition] ] of ‘wantonly’ ...
.make([s] no reference to the defendaﬁt's state of mind with respect to his
conduct, but refer[s] only to his state of mind with respect to the result of that
conduct or to the circumstance which prompted the conduct.” Id. at 419. So,
[e]veh though he did not intend to kill, if he was aware of and
consciously disregarded a substantial and unjustifiable risk that
his conduct would result in the death of another person, he is
guilty of second-degree manslaughter or, if accompanied by the
statutory aggravating circumstances, wanton murder.
Id.
As noted, following the shoeting, Phillips gave a statement to police in

which, among other things, he claimed that the.shooting was an accident. For

example, in the statement Phillips said:

2 Causing the death of another with a wanton mental state without the aggravating
factors contained in the wanton murder statute is second-degree manslaughter.
KRS 507.040 provides, in relevant part, as follows: “(1) A person is guilty of
manslaughter in the second degree when he wantonly causes the death of another
person, including, but not limited to, situations where the death results from the
person's: (a) Operation of a motor vehicle; or (b) Leaving a child under the age of
eight (8) years in a motor vehicle under circumstances which manifest an extreme
indifference to human life and which create a grave risk of death to the child, '
thereby causing the death of the child.” In this proceeding, the jury was also
instructed on second- degree manslaughter and reckless homlclde

5
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It was an accident . . . . It really was an accident. The gun went
off prematurely.

- I used it [the shotgun] to push him away from me and it went off. :
He was standing like this at me and had something in this

hand . ... When he come at me . ... He rushed my truck, he
rushed to the side of my truck, I pushed him away from the truck
with my truck door, know what I mean . ... He come up to my

truck. I was watchirig him in the mirror and they weren’t moving

. quick enough for me to go on the horses and stuff coming down
that hill . . . . I pushed him off, basically used my door to get some
room to get out of the truck, and as I come out of the truck I come
with the gun, I pulled a shotgun out beside me. I was trying to
scream at him get back in your damn truck, get the hell away from
me and leave me alone and he was coming like this and his hand
was at his side. In this hand right here is the one he had had the

~ knife in, all [ could see was shiny chrome and he carries a .44 that
long . ... in that hand cause he was coming at me like this, know
what I mean, with this arm extended, with his forearm like
extended . . ..

That’s when he come at me with his forearm, I didn’t know if he
was going to try and push me . . .. I raised that gun up cause he
had that thing in his left hand when 1 raised the gun up. He was

coming at me and I took the gun and give it that and he didn’t
move four inches and the gun went off.

I swear on my mother’s grave I didn’t mean to shoot that man.

As reflected by his statement, Phillips straightforw;ardly_claimed that j:he
shooting was an accident. An accidental éct is the opposite of an intentional
act. Thus, contrary to Phillips’s argument, the evidence as a whole é_upports
not only the theory that his shooting of Glodo was intentional and was done so
in self-defense, but also that theé shooting was not intentionai, but, rather, was

an “accident.” The question then becomes if the jury believed the shooting was
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unintentional, whether Phillips’s conduct satisfies the elements of wanton
murder. |

| The évidence presented regarding the unintentional shooting theory is
that Phillipé poihted a loaded éhotgun at Glodo, and pushed him away with the
weapon While, it may be inferred (the shotgun fired), his finger was on the

‘ triglgerT Unquestionably the foregoing conduct could be found by a jury to be
wanton because of the high likelihood the shotgun could fire .undér the
circumstances desc.ribed. Moreover, we believe it is self-evident that a
rea‘sonablé jury could conclude that pointing a loaded shotgun at a person and
proddipg him with it with a finger on fhe trfgger manifests an extfeme_
indifference to human life and creates a grave risk of death.

Thus, sufficient evidence was preserited for a reasonable jury to conclude
that the‘ elements of wanton murder Were satisfied. Harris v. Commonwealth,
793 S.W.2d 802, 804 (Ky. 19§O)‘(A trial judge properly instructs.the jury on
wanton murder where the evidence shows that the defendant was carrying a
‘ loaded, cocked pistol and he admits an intent to point it at the victim but not
| an intent to cause her death.) “The decision as to whether the aggrax‘fating |
circumstances (extreme indifference to human life and grave 'risk of death to
another) were pfesent is best left to the jury to decide.” Cook v.

- Commonwealth, 129 S.W.3d 351, 363 (Ky. 2004). (citations omitted.)
Thus, since the evidence supported-a wanton mu,fder instruction, the

trial court did not err by presenting the question to the jury. RCr 9.54(1).
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II. PHILLIPS WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A DIRECTED VERDICT

Phillips next contends that he was entitled to a directed verdict of
acquittal on the murder charge because, based upon the evidence presented at
trial, “the prosecution failed to meet their burden of proof that [he] did ﬁot act
in self-defense.” Phillips alleges that it would be clearly unreasonable for a jury
to conclude that he did not act in self-defense. As explaihed above, sufficient
evidence was presented to support a jury verdict that Phillips engaged in
wanton mufder. Moreover, because Glodo was shot from behind, a jury issue -
was presented upon the issue of self-defense.

On motion for directed verdict, the trial court must draw all fair and

reasonable inferences from the evidence in favor of the

Commonwealth. If the evidence is sufficient to induce a reasonable

‘juror to believe beyond a réasonable doubt that the defendant is
guilty, a directed verdict should not be given. For the purpose of
ruling on the motion, the trial court must assume that the evidence

for the Commonwealth is true, but reserving to the jury questions as
to the credibility and weight to be given to such testimony.

On appellate review, the test of a directed verdict is, if under the

evidence as a whole, it would be clearly unreasonable for a jury to

find guilt, only then the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict of
" acquittal.

. . . [Tlhere must be evidence of substance, and the trial court is

expressly authorized to direct a verdict for the defendant if the

prosecution produces no more than a mere scintilla of evidence.
Commonwealth v. Benham, 816 S.W.2d 186, 187-188 (Ky. 1991) (citations
omitted).

It is uncontroverted that Glodo was shot in the back of the head. While

not determinative, a shot from behind, for obvious reasons, raises a jury
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question concerniﬁg whether Phillips, in fact, was acting in self-defense. The
difficulties of an attack by a victim while faced away from the défendant are
clear. Commonwealth v. Yanoff;, 690 A.éd 260, 265 (Pa.Super. 1997) (“The fact -
thét Appellant shot the V_ictim in the back-clearly undermines his claim of self-
defense.”) Thus, a jury question was presen.ted-upon the issue of whether
Phillips shot Glodo in éelf—defense.

‘Rarely is a defendant relying upon self-defense entitled to a directed
verdict.” Only in the wunusual case in which the evidence
conclusively establishes justification and all of the elements of self-
defense are present is it proper for the trial court to direct a verdict
of not guilty. Similarly, in Taul v. Commonwealth, 249 S.W.2d 45
(Ky. 1952), it was held that a defendant's statement that he acted in
self-defense or his description of events which show such to be the
case need not be accepted at face value where the jury may
reasonably infer from his incredibility or the improbability of the
circumstances that one or more of the elements necessary to qualify
for self-defense is missing. In Townsend v. Commonwealth, 474
S.W.2d 352 (Ky. 1971), we held that if the evidence relied upon to
establish self-defense is contradicted or if there is other evidence
from which the jury could reasonably conclude that some element of
self—defense is absent, a directed verdict should not be given

'Whlle the Commonwealth always bears the burden of proving every
element of the crime charged a defendant relying upon self-defense
bears the risk that the jury will not be persuaded of his version of
the facts. Collins v. Commonwealth, 309 Ky. 572, 218 S.W.2d 393
(1949). '
West v. Commonwealth, 780 S.W.2d 600, 601 (Ky. 1989).
While much of the efridence presented in this case was circumstantial,
we have no reluctance in holding that sufficient evidence was presented to

justify submitting the issue of whether Phillips acted in self-defense to the jury.

- Wills v. Commonwealth, 502 S.W.2d 60 (Ky. 1973); Pruitt v. Commonwealth,
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490 S.W.2d 486 (Ky. 1972); West, 780 S.W.2d at 601. Thus, Phillips was not
entitled to a directed verdict because there was sufficient evidence to support a
jury vérdict of guilt on either of the Commonwealth’s theories regarding the |
murder charge. BenMﬁ, 816 S.W.2d at 187-188.

IV. THE POSTMORTEM PHOTOGRAPHS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED

Phillips next atrgues that the trial court erred by permitting the
éommonwealth to i.ntroduce. autopsy photographs depicting the wound to the
back of Glodo’s head. | He contends that the photographs should not have been
admitted because the fact that the victim was shot in tho baok of the head was
uncontested, and therefore the photographs were not necessary to prove any
element of the prosecution’s case. He also alléges that evidence con.cerning the
wo'und could have been presented Withotlt the use of the photographs, and that
the overiy graphic nature of the photographs prejudicially inflamed the
hassions of the jury.

In determining admissibility of the photographs, we must first consider
whether the photographs are relevant. Relevant evidence is deﬁned as
“eyidence having any tendency to make the existence of any faot that is of |
consequence to the deterrhinaﬁon of thé_ action more proboble or less probable -
than it would be without the evidence.” KRE 401. The aﬁtopsy photographs of
Glodo’s fatal injuries were relevant to demonstrate that he was, indeed, killed
by gunshot wounds as stated in the indictment. Hunt v. Commonwealth, 304

S.W.3d 15, 40-41 (Ky. 2009). Moreover, the position of the wound in the back

10
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of Glodo’s head was relevant to refute Phillips’s claim of self-defense.

Next, the adniissibility of photos must be examined under KRE 403,
which states: “Although relevant, evideime maiy bé exsluded if its probative
value is substantially outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice, confusion
of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of. undue delay, or
needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” KRE 403 (emphasis addsd).
Thus, we must discern whether the photographs were sufficiently gruesome so
as to find the probative value “substantially outweighed” -by. the prejudiéial
effect.

As a general rule, f)hotographs do not become inadmissible simply
because they are gruesome. Foley v. Commonuwealth, 953 S.W.2d 924, 935 (Ky.
1997). Such eviderice loses its admissibility when the photographs depict a.
body that has been “niatei-ially altered by mutilation, autopsy, decomposition
or other extraneous causes, not related fo commission of the crime, so that the

' pictures tend to arouse passion and abpall the viewer.” Clarkl v.
Commonwealth, 833 S.W.2d 793, 794 (Ky. 1991). |

While tl‘ie autopsy photographs ih this case may have been gruesome,
thé threshold is much higher than rriere gruesomehess for a photo to be
inadmissible. For example, a photograph of a young child victim, where his
scalp was pulled back to show there was an intent to kill, Was not gruesome
enough to preclude the photo evidence from the jury. Quarels v.

| Commonwealth, 142 S.W.3d 73, 85 (Ky. 2004). In another case, a videotape of '

11
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the murder scene showing burned bodies of victims, as well as numerous
photographé depicting the same, were an accurate description of the crime
scene and were properly admissible. McKinney v. Commonwealth, 60 S.W.Sd_
499, 509 (Ky. 2001).

Thus, the autopsy photographs were properly admitted because they
were relevant to show Glodo’s injuries and weré not so gruesome as to create
- undue prejvudice. Hunt, 304 S.W.3d at 41.

V. THE PROBATION OFFICER’S MISSTATEMENT OF PAROLE
ELIGIBILITY WAS TIMELY CORRECTED BY THE TRIAL COURT

Phillips ngxt argues that error occurred during the sentencing phase as a
result of misstatements made concerning Phillips’s parole eligibility. Th¢
Commonwealtﬁ concedes that the applicable rule was misstated. While the
probation and parol_e officer, Pam Handy, did indeed, misétate the applicable
parole eligibiﬁty' rules for a violent offender, the trial court timely corrected the
misstatement and admonished the jﬁry concerning the correct principle of law,
thereby negating the error. | |

Pursuant fo the violent offender statute, KRS 439.3401,3 a violent

offender, under all circumstances, must serve eighty-five percent of his

3 KRS 439.3401(3) provides “(3) A violent offender who has been convicted of a capital
offense or Class A felony with a sentence of a term of years or Class B felony who is
a violent offender shall not be released on probation or parole until he has served at
least eighty-five percent (85%) of the sentence imposed.” KRS 439.3401(4) provides
“(4) A violent offender may not be awarded any credit on his sentence authorized by
KRS 197.045(1), except the educational credit. A violent offender may, at the
discretion of the commissioner, receive credit on his sentence authorized by KRS
197.045(3). In no event shall a violent offender be given credit on his sentence if the
credit reduces the term of imprisonment to less than eighty-five percent (85%) of the
sentence.” {emphasis added). '

12
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senténce before he is eligible for parole. During her testimony, Handy
incorrectly indicated that there may be factors which may reduce parole
eligibility period to Below eighty-five percent. She was under fhe impression
that various credits may produce this result, but was unable to explain how
this would occur in practicé. -We are cited to no ,autho.rity in support of
Handy’s_ théory.

After an unsuccéssful attempt to have Handy correct herself, trial

counsel approached th-e bench and asked the trial court to take judicial notice
.of the statute regarding the rigid éighty—ﬁve per cent requirement and instruct
the jury accordingly. The trial court agreed, and addressed the jury as follows:
| Members of the jury, the Court has taken judicial notice and you B
will accept as evidence in your deliberations of the sentence that
the statute would require the defendant to take or to serve eight-
- five percent of any sentence you may, at least eighty-five percent of

any sentence you would impose. ‘

“The trial court's admonition putlthis issue to rest. A jury is presumed
to follo& an admonition to disrégard evidence and the admonition thus cures
any error.” Johnson v.- Commonwealth, 105 S.W.3d 430, 441 (KyT 2003). As
such, we must presume that the jury followed the trial court’s admonition
concerning the correct parole mlé under the violent offender statute, there_:by
negating Handy’s misstatement. Moreover, Phillips receivéd all the relief that
he requested. If a party fails to move’ for a mistrial after oﬁjecting and receiving
an admonition from the trial coﬁrt, such failure indicates that party's |

satisfaction with the admonition. West, 780 S.W.2d at 602. As Phillips took

13
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no further action after the trial court's admonition, he is ‘présumed to be
satisfied with the remedy. Thus, no error occurred.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the judgment and sentence of the Laurel
Circuit Court is affirmed.

All sitting. All concur.
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(Proceedings in open court, April 30, 2018, 3:57 p.m.)
THE COURT: Would the clerk please call the matter to
come before the Court.

THE CLERK: Yes, Your Honor. London Civil Action

‘Number 13-22, Johnny R. Phillips versus Scott Jordan, called

for evidentiary hearing.

THE COURT: Would counsel for the plaintiff, Johnny

Phillips, please make his appearance for the record.

MR. OUSLEY: Yes, Ybur Honor. Greg Ousley on behalf
‘of Johnny phi_llipé. |
THE COURT: Mr. Ousley. Mr. Phillips.
And for the defensei |
MS. HIGHTOWER: Courtney Hightower with the Attorney
General's Office on behalf of the warden.
THE COU#T: Ms. Hightower.' Thank you very much.

This matter is before the Court fér an evidentiary
hearing. In this case, the dgfendant has persisted in terms of
a habeas corpus petition in actual innocence, in that the
defendant was denied access to an x-ray that would have
exonerated him if presented to the‘ﬁufy.

In this instance, I believe it would be up to the
petitioner to come forward with the evidence. Mi. Ousley, are
you prepared to do so?

MR. OUSLEY: Yes, Your ﬁonor;

THE COURT: You may proceed.
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MR. OUSLEY: Your Honor, may I make a brief

statement --

THE COURT: You may.

MR. OUSLEY: -- before I call the witness?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. OUSLEY: Your Honor, I went off of Judge Tﬁapar's
order.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. OUSLEY: And tried to pinpoint exactly what the
issue is so i don't waste everyone's time here. Specifically,
and the parties can disagree with me if I'm incorrect,.but
we're here today and we're prebared to show that én X-ray,
which was not turned over to the defendanﬁ, and tHe government
concedes that it was not turned over, now has been found. And
the issue that Judge Thapar presented in his opinion was the
simple legal question, is this x-ray material? And he said I
neea help in deciding whether or not that is,materiél or not.

Well, the first thing that I want to do is to ascertain
what is material. And there'é two cases that -- they are
recent cases, Turner v. United States, i37 Supreme Court 1885,
and Wearry v. Cain, 136 Supreme Court 1002.

Iﬁ those, and I believe Judge Thapar mentions this, that
evidence is material within the meaning of Brady when there is
a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed,

the result of the proceeding would be different. . A reasonable
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probability of a different result is one in which the
suppressed evidence undermines the confidence in the outcome of

the trial.

Here, Your Honor, the petitioner is prepared to show that,

‘as acknowledged in the court order by Judge Thapar, the

government's argument, their cornerstone, if you will, is that
the petitioner shot the alleged victim in the-back of the head
taking away his so-called self-defense.

Now that we have this x—ray,-the petitionér is prepared to
call an expert to lay the fqundation that not only is this
x-ray beneficial, that's not the test, is it material in
nature. And we're prépared to bring a ballistic forensic
individual expert; I'm prepared to call him now, to talk about
the x-ray as well as the other things that he's looked at in
this case.. | |

THE COURT: Vefy well. Has this report been-
disclosed to the opposition?

Mk. QUSLEY: There was no report.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. OUSLEY: There was reports done in 2011. There
was a report done which I believe is part of the iecord.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. OUSLEY: But I do have copies here ana_I'll walk
over to tﬁe --

THE COURT: Yes, you may.
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LARRY DEHUS - DIRECT

MS. HIGHTOWER: Thank you.
MR. OUSLEY: And the petitioner at the time would
cail Larfy Dehus. |
THE COUﬁT: You may.
LARRY DEHUS, PLAINTIFF WITNESS, SWORN
THE COURT: You may prbceed, Mr. Ousley.
MR. OUSLEY: Thank you, Youf Honor.
| LARRY.DEHUS
»DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. OUSLEY:

Q. Sir, state your name fbr the Court.

A. Yes, Larry M. Dehus. Last name is spelled D-é;h-u4s.

Q. - And how are you employed, sir?.

A. I'm a forensic scientisty I own .and operate an independent

testing and consulting léboratory called Law-Science

Technologies.
Q. How long have you operated that?
A. Since 1981.

Q. Tell the judge specifically what -- what kind of things
that Law-Science Technologies, what service they provide.

A. ,Well, there's three other technical péréons in addition to
myself. I lLave two people that do vehicle accident
reconstructién, both criminal and civil. _And aﬁ individual
that does fire ofigin and cause investigatiéns for both

criminal and civil cases. And I do the evaluation of evidence
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in criminal cases, as well as some other types of forensic

examinations.
Q. And how long have you done that?
A. I began my career in forensic science in 1973. I worked

for a police crime laboratory for ten years before leaving that

‘organiZAtion and starting my own business.

Q. And the types of things -- would it be fair to say that
you would look at phdtographé or look at‘differént pieces of
evidence and'tiy to determine‘—— in regards to the ballistics,
try to determine basically what happened in a case?

A. Yes. Basically recomnstruct -~ recoﬁstruction of a
shooting, and that may -- it depends on what's available. I
may have the evideﬁce to examine and test myself or I may only
have photographs and reports to reviéw and eyaluate;

Q. Specifically, have you testified in Kentucky, in the

.courts in Kentucky as an expert?

A, I have many times. And I was looking, just before the
court convened, looking to see the number of actual firearms
cases that I've testified on in Kentucky, and it looks like

it's seven.

Q. ' Have you testified in federal court?
A. I have. Yes.
Q. Do you know if it was in the Western or Eastern District

in federal court?

A. Well, I believe -- I believe I've. testified actually in
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this courtroom many yearsbago. And I've also testified over in
the Eastern District as well. |
0. Okay. ' Thank yoﬁ.

I wént to taik specifically about a case regarding Johnny
Phillips. Do you recall at some point in April of 2011 being
contacted by Mr. Phillips or someone from his defense team?

A. Yes. Actually, I had coﬁversations, I think, earlier than
that with an attormey by the name of Brenda Popplewell, and she
héd, you know, given me some information about the case and |
asked if I might be of assista;ce.

And then my follow-up communications was with Mr. Phillips
by letter.

Q. I want to hand you what's marked Petitioner's Exhibit A.
THE COURT: 1Is this the report?
MR. OUSLEY: It is,.Your Homnor.
THE COURT:i Okay.
BY MR. OUSLEY:
Q. I handed to you what's been marked Petitioner's Exhibit A.
If you would, tell the Judge what that exhibit is.
A. That's a report that's dated April 7th, 2011 that was
prepared by myself. And it indicates the materials I had
received from Mr. Phillips and some preliminary thoughts, I
should say.
Q. And would it be fair to say that you were being solicited

regarding your opinion on whether or not Mr. Johnny Phillips,
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looking at thgleﬁidence that's listed here, yéu have listed
what you've reviewed/ yoﬁ give an opinion basically regarding
if he was shot in the back.of the head or not, or directly in
the back of the head?

A. Yes.

Q. And if you would, can you read yoﬁr resulfs fo the‘COurt,
the A and B there on the second page?

A. Sure. There is no indication that an x-ray was taken of
the deceased's head to detefmine the direction -- the
distribution, direction and number of pellets that entered the
head. The autopsy répor; noted that 19 rep;esentative pellets
were removed from the victim, but there was no coﬁnt as to the
‘actual nuﬁbef of pellets that entered the head. |

And-then B, he reported that thé prosecutor in this case
argued that the victim ﬁad been shot from behind at a distance
of three feet. There is no mention of the recovery of the
plastic shotgun wadding from the wound or any mention of it
being found in the areé of the scene.

-If a -- in a direct shot to.the-back of a head at a
distance of three feet, a wound would be.expec;ed -- it would
be expected that thelplastic shotgun‘wadding wouldvfravel with
the shot and enter the.wound in the head.

Q. éo on and read the next paragraph.
A. With‘this limited information available, it is impossible

for this examiner to determine the direction of the shot with
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respect ;o thelplane of the body. The fact that the shotgun
wadding did not enter the wound Qith the shot is an indication
that this was not a direct shot to the back of fhe head, but
was more likely at an angle. An x-ray of the head should have
been taken to show the location and distribuﬁioh of the shot.
This wduld have permitted a more definitive determination as to
the direction of the shot. |

Q. At some point are you contacted on or about April 2013
with a request from Brandy Cobb?

A. Yes.

Q. I'm going to show you what's been marked Petitioner's
Exhibit B.. If you would look at that and identify it for the
Céurt?

A.  Yes, Exhibit B is a letter I prepared dated April 9th,
2013.

Q. . What was the nature of the question? And tell the Court

~what was your response.

A. Well, it's probably easier if I just read it.
Q. That's fine.
A. This office received -a request from Brandy Cobb requesting

this examiner to prepare a report with respect to a specific
Question. That specific question was as follows: What would
happen to the human skull if there was a direct shot to the
back of a head at less than four feet with Remington number 5

shot; Franchi 12 gauge shotgun.
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J

And then my response is: Number 5 shot is approximately
.12 inches in diameter. And there would be approximateiy 170
to 220 pellets in a single shotgﬁn-shell, depending on the size
of the load. At a distance of less than four feet, the pellefs
would be traveling as é mass and would enter the skin of the
séalp and tﬁe skuil producihg an entréﬁce wound oflone to one
and a half inches in diametef. These pellets would then enter
the brain causing massive destruction to the brain.
Q. At some point did you review the éptopsy report?
A. Yes, I did. |
0. Didvyou notiée in there that the doctor who did that said

that the brain was unremarkable?

A Yes.
Q. Did you also look at the autopsy photos?
A. I did.

Q. And when you looked at those, did they indicate anything

to you?
A. ' Well, it shows a gaping wound across the back of the head
that has -- appeafs to have horizontal directionality to it

from left to right.

Q. I'ﬁ goihg to hand you what's been marked Petitiomer's
Exhibit C. Can yoﬁ identify that exhibit, please?

A. Yes, Exﬁibit C is a photograph of an x-ray of the skull.
It appears to be taken from the rear.

Q. And is that a photograph that you received from me?
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A. .,I think I received it firstlﬁrom Mr. Philiips and also
from YOu as Well.
Q. And did you receive correspondence from me asking your
opinion regarding that x-ray?
A. Yes.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor, I'mlgoing to object. I
‘don't thinklhe's qﬁalified to testify regardiﬁg the x-ray.
He's a ballistic expert and not a medical examiner or a medical
doctor.

THE COURT: Mr. Ousley, would you like to lay some
additioﬁél foundation? . |

MR. OUSLEY: Yes.

BY MR. OUSLEY:

0. Sir, you're not a medical doctor, are you?
A. I am not.
Q. Are you aware of the damage that a projectile froﬁ a

firearm doés to the human body?

A, Yes.

Q. And can you teli the Judge‘specifically your training and
expérience ih,regards ﬁo 1ooking at photographs, x-rays, dead
bodies and being able to look at and ascertain how a weapon or
what type of weapon waé used to c¢reate damage to the body?‘

A. Surei Well, my experience involves, as you kind of
outlined, locking at bodies, bodies of shooting victims to

observe the type of damage that occurs from different types of
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shots, from differeﬁt types of guns, as‘well as reviewing
photographs in hundreds of cases. And performing tests on pié
H skulls in a couple of different cases to test the effects of a
shot with a specific type of weapon.

'MR. OUSLEY: &nd specifically, Your Homor, we'ﬁe had
the government's expert actually téétifylat the underlying
trial, and she went on to opiﬁe that éhe's not qualified to
talk about the ballistic side of what a round or a projectile
might -- what effect it has on the body. And howlto ascertain
information from a wound tﬁat‘s been caused by a firearm.

Speéifically, what he can add to this x-fay is what the

x-ray shows. Specifically, it shows fragments in the head.

THE COURT: But ordinarily this witness would be
called t; testify in order to identify the kind of gun that was
used to commit the. crime.
| MR. OUSLEY:. No.

THE COURT: Is that ordinaril& what you testify to?

THE WITNESS: That's correct. But also I've been
asked on many occaéions to opine as to direction of shot.

MR. OUSLEY: And that's where we're at here, Your
Honor, the direction.

THE COURT: All riéht. I'm going to hear the
testimony and then we can talk about whether I ought to hear
about it later. This is a bench hearing, so let's get all the

evidence onto the record and then we'll talk about the rest of
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it. Go ahead.
MR. OUSLEY: Thank you, Your Hondr.

BY MR. OUSLEY:
Q. Given your training and experience, and given the question
that you were asked back in 2011, was this individual -- does
the forensic science, does the evidence, physical evidence
support that this individual was shot in the back of.the head
with a shotgun, bird shot? And in 2011, you opine on that, but
you even mention, in 2011, that you would like to'have an x-ray
that we didn't ﬁhink exists. Now you have that x—rayiv

Does it help you in your determination on deciding whether
or not the defendant shot the victim in the back of the head
with a shotgun?v
A. Well, I mean let's be cléar, the victim was shot in the
back of the head with a shotgun. But he wasn't shot in the
back of the head at ciose range straight on. |
Q; How do you know that?
A. Well, for several reasons. Number one, the entrance wound
would have beén, at less than four feet, would have been much
smallef, would have been like an inch to én inch and a half.
And the shotgun wadding would have entered the wound and there
would likely have been destructive damage to the face, if it
had been a direct wound, a direct shot from the back.

And obviously the victim was shot in the back of the head,

but all the evidence indicates that it was at an angle,
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significant angle from left to right.

Q. . Would that support a theory that thére was a struégle and
during the stfuggle the éhotgun went off? Would that support
that theory?

.~ MS. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor, I'm going to object
again. That's speculation. I don't think he can testify as to
whether there was'a'struggle.'

THE COURT: You want to lay some --

 MS. HIGHTOWER: The x-ray is not going-té be
indicative of whether there was a struggle or not.

THE COURT: Yes, whether there was a struggle, I
think we can argue that. But what angle was he shot at is what
I'm‘interested,in. |
BY MR. OUSLEY:

Q. So could you answer that?

A. Well, yeah. .I mean, as the Judge has said, I can't.opine
was there a struggle or exactly how it occﬁrred. All‘I can say
is it was from a éide angle. It wasn't just execution style,
walking up behind the individual and shooting‘squarely in the
back of the head.

Q. So with the x-ray, with the benefit of the x-ray, is it

more conclusive, your opinion?

A. Yes, most definitely.
Q. And does the x-ray, does it show a wadding in the skull?
A, It does not.
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1 Q. Is that significant to you, there's nb shotgun wadding in
2 lthe_skull? |

3 A. Yes. Because a close-range shot with that type of

4 ammunition, theVWadding would have entered the wound behind the
5 shot.

6 Q. ‘Also,'from looking at the wound, there appears to be metal
7 fragments. Do you know what those would be?

8 A, You're referring to the x-ray?

9 Q. Yes.

10 A. Yes. Well, yeah. The opaque particles are pieces of
11 || shot.
12 0. And are you familiar with the type of projectile that was

13 used in this case?

14 A. It was birdshot ammunition, yes.
15 || . Explain to the Court what birdshot. is.
16 A, Well, it's a large number of small BBs. And I think

17 indicated, when I read the report, about .12 inches in.

18 || diameter. And depending on‘thé size of the load, there could
19 be anywhere from 170 to 220 pellefs in that type of birdshot.
20 || Q. And it would be fair to say‘that the x-ray that we have,
21 there's not 200 birdshot‘in the skull, is there?

22 A. It cértainly doesn't appear to be that number. It's not
23 possible from the x-ray to individually count each pellet. But
- 24 it doesn;t seem -- it doesnFt appear to be anywhere near that

25 number.
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1 Q. And the autopsy photo or the autopsy report which you

2 réviewed, it actually says that 19 different.metal fragments

3 weré taken from the head.

4 A. Yes.

5 Q. So that begs the question; what happened to the othér 200
6 or so birdshot if it's not iﬁ the skull?

7 A. That's correct.

8 0. If an individual was shot from the back with a shotguﬁ,

9 shot in the back of the head, would all those pellets go into

10 the skull normally?

11 A. Yes.
12 Q. And would they exit?
13 A. It's possible. They could exit from the front or they

14 could simply stay within the skull. But there would be severe
15 bruising and damage to the front, to the face.

16 Q. But you know from this x-ray that that's not the case in
17 this situation, correct? |

18 A. That's correct.

19 Q. The x-ray shows a very sﬁall amount of projectiles or

20 birdshot in the skull?

21 A. That's correct.
22 MR. OUSLEY: May I have just a second, Your Honor?
23 THE COURT: You may. Do you have a copy of the x-ray

24 || or a photo of the x-ray?

25 |i MR. OUSLEY: Yes, Your Honor.

98 a




Case;

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

6:13-cv-00022-KKC-EBA Doc #: 137 Filed: 06/08/18 Page: 17 of 68 - Page ID#:
, 2866 _ - 17
LARRY DEHUS - DIRECT

BY MR.»OUSLEY:

Q. I'm going_to show ydu Exhibits D, E, F, G. I believe
you've reviewed thesé‘before; They are autopsy photos of the
'décedent in this case.

A. Yes, I have.

Q. Something that struck me when I first read this case, I

guess I didn't understand, is that this individual has a face.

a. His face looks relatively normal and without trauma and
damage.
Q. How could a person be shot in the back of the head with a

shotgun and still have a face?

A.‘ .At a straighf-on angie, there would be damage to-the face.
Q.. Does the x-ray indicate that a straight-on angle occurred?
A. No. | |

Q; At a jury triai where the issue may be self-defense, wou1d

you testify that looking at this‘x-;ay, coupled with all the
other evidence that you have looked at, would you give an
opinion_that this-individual_could have been shot during a
struggle?

‘MS. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor, I'm going to object
again. I think that's outside his expertise.

THE_COURT: Mr. Ousiey.

MR. OUSLEY: Yoﬁr-Honor,_I'll rephrase it.

THE COURT: All right.

‘BY MR. OUSLEY:
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Q. Let me ask you this. Moie importantly, at trial the
Commbnwealth argued that he ﬁas shot in the back of the heéd
execution.stylé.. Does this x-ray, coupled with all the other
evidence, support that claim?

A. It would be my conclusive opinion that it does not'support
that and that did not occur.

Q. The Judge aéked you a minute ago abouf some of ﬁhe things
that you.decide or you help the trier of fact with as an
expert. Thingsrsuch as: Would you haﬁe any idea of what

distance you're looking at from the muzzle to the head,

‘distance of a wéapon that is used or the different type of

direction or the projectile that is used. Are those the types
of questions that you help with?

A. Yeah. That's probably -- ip shooting cases, that's
probably the most common analjsié that I do, is muzzle to
target distance. Aqd_then second-most .common, I gﬁeSs is
trajectory or angle. |

Q. I think we ﬁentioned this; you'looked.over the autopsy
photo. And éven with having this x-ray, coupled with the
autopsy, the autopsy says that the brain is unremarkable. And
then we have this x-ray that_you can,see_metal prdjectiles.
What does that tel; you, if the braiﬁ is unremarkable but-we
see the projectile?

A. I can't opine on that because I don't know what the

medical examiner was trying to relay when he said it was
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unremarkable. I mean, to me, it means there wasbno_damage.
But I -- that just doesn't make sense.

MR. OUSLEY: Pass the witness, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I have just a couple of questions.

Now, you said that if it had been a close-range shot,
there would have been damage to the face; is that correct?

THE WITNESS: I'm sorry, damage to --

THE COURT: That if there had been a closé-range
shot, that there would have been likely damage to the face.

'_THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: You can téllbthat from the photographs
then?

THE WITNESS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: What does the presence of this x-ray tell
you that you could not.already tell from the photographs and
the examination of the other evidence?

THE WITNESS: It tells me the direction of the shot
and the relative quantity of the shot. |

THE COURT: What angle is this x-ray taken from?

THE WITNESS: As best I can tell, it's taken from the
rear.

THE COURT: It looks like I see a shadow of a jaw
there. Was it taken straight on frém.the rear or is it taken
at an angle? |

THE WITNESS: - It may be slightly at an angle, like
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‘this. 1It's always best for whoever is takihg the x-ray to

clearly explain, délineate the plane on-whidh it was taken.
THE;COURT: Thank you, I'llblet you cross-examine.
Thank you. Ms. Hightower. |
CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MS. HIGHTOWER:

Q. It's Mr. -- is it Mr. -- could you pronounce your last
name?
A. Dehus.
Q. Dehus. 1Is it mister or doctor?
A. Mister.
| Q. 'So Mr. Dehus, you're not a medical doctor?
A. Correct.
Q. You were not presént at the autopsy when Dr.chhott

performed her examination on the victim?
A, Correct.
Q. The only thing that you reviewed in this case were some

photos that you were given, the photos from the autopsy,

corréct?
A. That's correct.
Q. Were you -- and -- when was the first time that you saw

the x-ray we're talking about today?
A. I believe it was in late 2014.
Q. ~Okay. And you -- your testimony here today is that it's

from the back to the front, the x-ray view.
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A. Or at a.-—

Q. or a slight angle?
A. Yeah. Yes.
Q. Are you aware that the testimony at trial from Dr. Schott

was that the shot, the fatal shot to the victim in this case
was from three feet or more?

A. No, I'm not.

Q. And your testimony here today is that the viétim was
indeed shot in the back of the head?

A. Yes.

Q. I would like to -- do you have a copy of the medical
examiner's report, autopsy report?

A. I do. |

Q. Can you go to page number 4 where she talks about the site
of the lodgement. I'll give you a minute to find it.

A...‘And referring to what now?

Q. Can you go to page number 4 under -- it's subsection
number 3 under shdtgun wound to the head. Site of lodgement.
A, Yes.

Q. I would like to diféct your attention, it says here that
multiple pellets and pellet fragments are recovered from the
cranial cavity and brain. So it doesn't say that 19 fragments
‘were recovered from the brain, does it?

A. No, it does say that. It says 19'representative.pe11et

and pellets fragments are submitted to Detective Charles.
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Loomis.

Q. It dqesn't say those 19 -- I mean, it says -- before that,
though, it says multiple pellet and peliet fragments were
recovered from the cranial‘cavity. And then it says 19
representative pellets and pellet fragments were submitted. So
it seems like it's a little bit inconsistent. It says multiple
fragments were recovered from the brain, but then it says 19
representative. Do you know what-that means?

A. I assume it means that not all of the pellets were
recovered from the bfain. That iust 19 were recoﬁered and
submitted.

Q. Are yoﬁ aware of the purpose that fhe medical -- of taking
an x-ray during autopsy?

A. Well, it can be for various reasons. But fof gunshot

wounds, it's to show the location where the bullet or the shot

ends ub.
Q. Okay.

MS. HIGHTOWER: No further questions.

THE -COURT: All right. Any redirect?

MR. OUSLEY: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Ahd let me just ask another
question.

This x-ray, its origin, where did it come from? Did the
medical examiner take this x-ray?

MR. OUSLEY: Yes, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: Okay.
MR. OUSLEY: My understanding, it came from an open'

records request, which I will address more in my closing

_remarks.

THE COURT: All right.
Sir, you may step down. Thank YOu very much.
THE WITNESS: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Ousley, you may call your next

witness.

MR. OUSLEY: Your Honor, I don't have any other

witnesses. I would like to submit, for what it's worth, an

affidavit of the underlying trial attorney, Mr. Dayid Hoskins,

who I have spoke with about this case. He tried this case in

London in state court.

And after speaking with him, he's signed an affidavit
regarding this x-ray aﬁd that if the x-ray did exist, he feelé
that it would rebut'the‘Commonwealth's‘argument ﬁhat he was
shot execution style in the back of the head.

.THE COURT: dbjection or --

MS. HIGHTOWER:‘ No.

THE COURT: All right. You may place it in. ~Is that
Exhibit F? |

MR. OUSLEY: Yes, Your'Honor, at this time I would

make all exhibits -- move them into evidence.

THE COURT: You may.
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(Petitioner's Exhibits A-H were admitted.)

THE COURT: For the Commbnwéalth.

MS. HIGHTOWER: I'm sorry, Your ﬁonoré

THE COURT: ﬁo you have any witnesses you would like
to offer?

'MS. HIGHTOWER: Yes, ma'am. We would like to call
Dr. Jennifer Schdtt, the mediéal examiner in this case.

THE COURT: You may.

MR. OUéLEY: Your Honor, I would object for the
record. She testified at trial, we have her transcriﬁt here.'
I would agree to let the transcript come in as evidence. I
don't know wh? —QFI mean, she's aiready testifiéd and'had her
bite at the apple at the jury trial.

"THE COURT: Ms. Hightower.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Well, it's'our position that it's her
testimony, given the testimony of Mr. Dehus, that the ﬁedical
examiner who actually performed the autopsy and did the
interior exam of the Qictim's brain in this case would be the
best evidence.as to éctually, like, what the ---and she's also
the person who took the x—fay, what the purpose of the x-ray
was in this caée. So her testimoqy is vital for ué rebutting
their position.

THE COURT: I am going to allow her to testify. I
think it's critical. I can't tell from looking at this what

angle it was taken at, so I would like to hear about the x-ray,
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1 what it shows and why it waén't made a part of her original

2 report;

3 So I'11l permit you to examine her. To the extent you

4 covered a lot of this with her in the original testimoﬁy, let's

5 try not to be too repetitive.

6 ' MS. HIGHTOWER: Okay. Yes, Your Honor.
7 THE COURT: You may call her.
8 MS. HIGHTOWER: She's actually waiting outside..

9 Dr. Jennifer Schott.

10 Your Honor, do you have any objection from me questioning

11 her from counsel table?

12 v THE COURT:» No, not at all, as long as I can hear
13 you. |

14 JENNIFER SCHOTT, M.D., DEFENDANT WITNESS, SWORN

15 THE COURT: Ms. Hightower.

i6 MS. HIGHTOWER: Thank you, Your Honor.

17 JENNIFER SCHOTT, M.D.

18 ' . | DIRECT EXAMINATION

19 || BY MS. HIGHTOWER:

20 Q. Would you introduce yourself to the Court today, please.
21 A. Yes. Excuse me, my name is Dr. Jennifer Schott.

22 Q.. And what is your current position?

23 A, I am a deputy coroner and forensic pathologist emplo?ed at

24 the Hamilton County Coroner's Office in Cincinnati.

25 Q. Where did you work in October 2007, 2008?
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A. I worked at the State Medical Examinex's Office in
Frankfort, Kentucky. |
Q. How long did you work'thére?
A. I was there for four years.
Q. Can yéu explain your involvement in this case,

Commonwealth versus Phillips?

A. Yes, I autopsied the body of Mr. Glodo.

Q. In preparation for‘the-héaring today, did yéu receive ~-
request and receive the medical examiner's file-ffom that
'autopsy?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And have you had a chance to:refresh your memory as far-as
reports, diagrams,.photos that were taken during the course of
the autopsy? |

A.  Yes.

Q. Okay. With regard to your report of auto?sy, wheﬁ we go
to the séction.of injuries,. external and internal, can you

explain the wound, the injury to Mr. Glodo's head?

| A. Yes. There wés a penétrating shotgun wound of the head.
Q. Can you tell the Court where that wound- was?
A, Sure. Thé wound was located centered five inches below
the midline, which is the center of the head -- excuse me --

five inches below the top of the head at the midline, at the
occiput of the head, which‘occiput is the back of the head.

Q. Can you just point to your head and show where that ig?
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1 A. Right. So the back of the head, I'll turn around, on the

2 back of the head (indicating).

3 Q. During the course of the autopsy, did you make a diagram

4 of the injuries to the victim that yoﬁ found?

5 A. Yes, I did.

6 Q. Did you bring that with yéu today?

7 A. I did. T brbught seﬁerél diagrams --

.8 Q. Okay.

S A. -- frpm the file.

10 MS. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor, may I approach the

11 witness?

12 . ‘ . THE COURT: You may. If you all want to put some of
13 this on Ehe ELMO, so couﬁsel and I can see them, it might be
14 helpful. And the witness can see it all too.

15 | MR. OUSLEY: Your Homor, in talking with my client, -
16 we don't have any diagrams, they weren't used at trial. I

17 meaﬁ, it soundé like more Brady material that showed up today.
18 ' _ THE COURT: Do you want to take é recess and let them
‘18 look at them?

20 MS. HIGHTOWER: Sure. I mean, it's in the medical

21 examiner's file. And he did an open records request and got an
22 x-ray, SO hé could have gotten it. |

23 . " THE COURT: It should have been in the medical -- it
24 should have been in the file.

25 |I MS. HIGHTOWER: I mean, it is contained in the file.
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MR. OUSLEY: Well, I don't have it. I mean, it's --

THE COURT: All right. Let's take a recess and let
you look at it for now. And I'll see you back here in about 15
minutes or whenever you'rg ready. |

Counsel, Why don't you all get together with the expert so
you can look énd be sure that you got everything.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Okay.

THE COURT: Ckay. Thank you.

(& recess was taken from 4:48 p.m. to 4:59 p.m.)

THE COURT: Let the record réflect that parties and
counsel are present in the courtroom, the witnesses is seated
on the stand, having previously been sworn.

Mr. Ousley, did you get a chance to 1ook at the report?

MR. OUSLEY: I have a copy of the chart that was
mentioned. I will say this is -- my client says he never got
this in any of the criminal discovery nor the open records
request,.which the Attorney General found that the open records
requests were violated. And then ultimately the AG's office or
the medical examiner's office gave what we thought was the
entire file. Eut today the medical examiner shows up with
things in her file that have.never been given to the defendant.

THE COURT: I'm going to ask the medical examiner's
file be made a part of this record. An open records request
should produce all of the documents that are available in any

file. This open records request was made when?
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MR. OUSLEY: One was made in 2014, aﬁd they were
within six months of each other. |

THE COURT: All _rightT So three years ‘ago?

MR. OUSLEY: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sq a lot can happen in three years to a
record, isn't that correct, in the posséssion of a prisoner?

MR. OUSLEY: iYes, Your Honor.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor, I don't -- I'm not sure
where -- it's my understanding that the open iecords request
was specific for the x-ray.

THE COURT: So they may not have provided the whole

MS. HIGHTOWER: So it may not have been -- they may
not have provided the rest of the fiie. ‘I'm not goiné to sﬁear
to that. But that's -- because I think what happened was
Mr. Phillips said there was an x—fay; and then thé_Commonwealth
attorney said no, there wasan't an x-ray; and then he ended up
doing an open -—,énd then somebody found the x-ray and s§ he
did an open recérds request. I think that's my memory of it.

THE COURT: Okay. So here's what we'relgoing‘to do,
because tﬁé defendant or -- it's hard in thése cases because
we‘fe talking about the criminal defendant, now the petitiomner,
_would_not have requeéted this‘ihformation, and I don't know
what the testimony was ét trial about this particular

information.
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What I'm interested in learning is, how does this x-ray
change anything? Why is.it or is it not material to the
medical examiner's determination? So what I want to do is have
her rely on her prior testimony. And let's talk about where
this x-ray came from, why it was taken, what it shows and
whether-or not that even diffefs with her original testimony.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Ckay. Ss you want me to proceed just
directly and talk about the xX-ray? |

THE COURT:‘ Yes.

MS. HIGHTOWER: All right. Your Honor, I printed a
color copy of the x-ray for Dr. Schott feor her to use? Would
you like -- how would you 1iké me -- would you like a copy of
one of these? _I have two copies.

THE COURT: I ﬁould, yes. I would like one.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Would you like me to mark one as our
exhibit as well?

THE COURT: Please. Yes.

MS. HIGHTOWER: So here, let me get ﬁine.

BY MS. HIGHTOWER:. |

0. Okay. Dr. Schott, let's talk speEifically about the
x-ray. First of all, just as a foundation -- why do you,
during an autopsy, why do yoﬁ.take an x-ray af all?

A. An x-réy is takeﬁ in the case of a gunshot wound case so
that I can see if there are any projectiles in the head. It

tells me if there is a bullet or if there are pellets or if
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there are fragments of a bullet or multiple bulléts.L.It gives
me‘a general idea of distribution of pellets or of the bullet.
That's prett? much about it.
Q. So in locking at that particular x-ray, can you feil the
Court_what view is that?
A. This is what's called an AP view. It's a little bit off.
It's not -- most of our x-rays in the medical examiner's office
aren't perfectly straight on like they should be. Our x-rays
ére done by our autopsy technicians. So they try to get them
AP; so anterior to_posterior, froﬁt to back.
Q. So it's front to back?
A. Yes. This is mostly front to back. But the chin is
turned slightly.

THE COURT: So this is the front of the decedent's
face? |

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT; This is the same x-ray, just in color?

THE WIINESS: ‘Yes, Your Honor.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Yes.
BY MS. HIGHTOWER:
0. So do you use the x-ray in determining the location of the
injury or the path of ﬁhe bullet or anything like that?
A, No, none of those things. I use the x-ray to guide my
recovery of projectiles. So in>this case, 1f I look at this

x-ray, when I initially see the injury itself on the back of
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the head, then I don't know exactly what that came from, it

could be from a gunshot wound, or it could be from a shotgun

wound. And then I can look at the x-ray and I see oh, there

are shot pellets, so this is a shotgun wound .

Q. So can you tell from the x-ray how many pellets are in --
in the hgad?

A. No.

Q. In looking aﬁ thét x-réy, doés anytﬁing that you see in
that x-ray contradict oi change your determination from your
autopsy or your exam of the victim that. the victim‘was shot in
the back of the head?

A. No. This x-ray was available to me prior to the autopsy.
Q. Okay. So it -- but it doéén't -- and then after you have
the x-ray, then you do the internal exam éf the victim's brain
to find the injury?

A.  That's right. |

Q. But nothing -- in looking at the x-ray, it would never --
it would not change what you put in your autopsy repo:t,-that
the victim was shot in thé_back of the head, thére were
multiple pellets and it was back to front?

A. Righf. .No,‘this has no bearing on direction of the

injury. X-rays are a 2D f£ilm, you have to keep in mind. So it

‘may look like it's in the front on the picfure but you don't

have what's called a lateral film. Unless you have an AP and a

lateral, then you can't pinpoint exactly where something is.
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And the only thing this tells me is that this is a shotgun
wound and that I cén expect to be recovering shot pellets and
not a bullet or a slug. |
Q. In your autopsy report, it says that there were 19 -- do

you remember how many pellets you recovered from --

A. No -- well, actually, yes. I read that it was 19.
Q. Okay.
A. But I don't make any attempt to recover all pellets. I

try to recover somewhere between close to 20, if I can, for the
purpose of them being examined. But it's not an attempt to

recover all pellets at all.

Q. So there could have been more pellets?
A, I'm sure there were.
Q; Okay. And, lastly, with regard to the brain injury, could

you tell the Court the extent of the brain injury in this case
upon performiﬁg the autopsy?
A. Yes. Theré were perforatioqs. In other words, injuries
of the bilateral, so both sides, parietal and 6ccipital lobes.
The occipital lobes are the lobes of the brain in the back of
the brain. Thg parietal lobes are kind of in the middle of the
brain and on the top.

Also injuriés of basal ganglia, thalamus, corpus callosum,
these are structufes that are in the center of the brain.

And also the bilateral cerebella, which is kind of in the

bottom of the brain and also in the back.
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Q. So he had injuries, if I'm -- I'm not a medical person, so

he has injuries.on the outside and then in the middle, like
towards --

A. Right. So I should have mentioned there were multiple
skull fractures of the bilateral parietal and occipital bomnes.
So these are the bones that cover the back of the head.

And I'm going to demonstrate. So the occipital bbnes are
at the very back of the head here. Parietal bones are going to
be kind of on the top of the head and the sides.

And there were what I would cali comminuted fractures; in
other words, lots of interéecting fractures of all foﬁr of
thosei-- all three of those bones.
| MS. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor, I thiﬁk that's all I
have.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Ousley.
CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. OUSLEY:

Q. 'Doctor, you testified before the jury, correct?
A.  Yes.
Q. And you were asked specifically, weremn't you, to give your

opinion on perhaps the distance of the shooter to the deceased?
A. I haven't reviewed‘my testimony, but I wouldn't be
‘surprised if that Qould have been one of the‘questions.
Q. Typically, if you're asked a_questioﬁ, more of a firearm's

examiner question, if you will -- and at trial you were asked:
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Do you have any idea as to what‘the‘distance we're looking at‘
When Mr. Glodo was shot with a shotgun?

And you said: I believe for a more definité answer, you-
would need a firearm's examiner.

So it's fair to say that a médical examinef, unless you're
specifically trained on the béilistics and the pathology of
balliétics; you éan't réally ascertain distance and perhaps the
direction, if yoﬁ Will, of the shHot? Would that be correqt?

A. No, I'm sorry; that would be incorrect. Would you 1like

 for me to explain?

Q. Wéil, let me ask you this. When you wefe asked to give
your opinion about the'distancé, you éouldn't do it, could you?
A, Did i offer -- was that the only answer thét I gave? Like
I said, I didn't review my £estimony.

Q. Well, let me ask you this. The deputy sheriff, who also
came to Frankfort; and he_ésked the two medicél examiners if
they could determine the angle of the:wound; in other wdrdé,
the angle of the shot, how it was fired, and you and

br. Hunsaker said no, that's out of ourlrealm or we can't tell

you that with any certainty.

A. The only thinng can -- I'm sorry, were yoﬁ asking me a
question?

0. Yes. Do you agree with.that?

A. The only thing that I can answer to that would bé the

injuries were comsistent with an injury from going from back to
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front.. Now, in terms of the direqtion of a w&und, that's
exactly what a forensic pathologist is trained to do.'
0. Lét.me ask youlfhat -
A Not a firearms exéminer.. If youvwould like for me to
explain the rest of it, I can.
Q. No, that's fine. Let me ask you this, in this case, the
prosecutidn used your testimony and they told the jury that
this man was shot point blank, point blank in the back of the
head with a shotgun within three feet.
Looking at the autopsy photos, they are exhibits --

“MR. OUSLEY: Your Honér, can thé witness see the last
few exhibits, the autopsy photos?

THE COURT: She could.
BY MR. OUSLEY: |
Q. What type of round was used in the shotgun in this case?
A. I'm sorry, what type of round?
Q. Yes. Shotgun'shell?
A. That would be a firearms question. It would be
inappropriate for me to answer that.
Q. So you wouldn't know if it's a projectile frgm, let's say,
a .38 or a rifle or a shotgun?
A. So it's a shotgun injury, that's as specific as I can get.
Q. So as specific as we can get, like in this case, we know
it's a shotgun. And we know that because of the x-ray that

shows birdshot, correct?
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1 jta. We know that because I recovered shot from the head.
2 Q. And that x-ray helped you recover it, correct?
3 A. Yes.
4 Q. And you take x-rays, it'é standard operating procedure, to

5 ‘take an x-ray in every autopsy, correct?

6 A. No.

7 || . It's not?

8 A. No.

) 0. In this case, did you take more than one x-ray of the

10 || head?

lll A. Again, it was a long time égo. Generally there would have

12 been one x-ray from anterior to posterior. The medical
13 examiner's office in Frankfort doesn't have the capability to

14 do a lateral x-ray, so they can't shoot the x-ray from side to

15 side.

16 || MR. OUSLEY: May I see those exhibits, Your Honor?
17 THE COURT; Which ones, the photographs of the body?
18 _ MR?-OUSLEY: Yes,>the photographs.

18 BY MR. OUSLEY:
20 Q. In your testimony at the triai, I believe you testified

21 that this appeared to be the entrance wound; is that correct?

22 ||A. That's correct.

23 Q. Where is the exit wound?

24 || A. ' There is no exit wound in this.case.
25 Q.. There's not?
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A. Noﬂ

0. And so he was shot in the back'of the Head three feet with
a shoﬁgun, and he has a face?

A. . I'm not sure where the three feet came from.

Q. Uh-huhi

A. Is that something that I testified earlier, did I say it

was within three feet?

0. Yes.

A. ‘okay..

Q. You said it was close proximity.
A. I sald it was within three feet?.
Q. Yes.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor --

THE COURT: There's an objéctioﬁ. Why don't we let
her look at what the tesﬁimony was? This isﬁ!t a triék
question. Whatevér she testified to, she testified to.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Well, Your Honor, in the Magistrate's
report, his.original :epért, I don't have the -- I mean, we
don't have the record of thevtrial.—- I don't have it right.
here. But in the Magistrate's report, it says specifically,
“Duriﬁg Dr. Schétt's testimony, the Commonwealth introduced tWo.
photos of the wound to.the back of Glodo's head. Recordr30-37.
In oné.OE ﬁhese photos the back of Glédo's head was shéved,
making it easier to see the details of the woundﬂ' Record

30-37. 37. Based on these photos, Dr. Schott testified that
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the spread patterns" --

THE CQURT: Can you slow down a little bit? Our
court reporter's machine is burning up.

Mé. HIGHTOWER: Oh,ISOrry. "Based" upon -- "Based on
these photos, Dr. Schott testified that the spread pattern of
the satellite lesions.on Glodo's skull indicated that the
gunshot wound was not a contact wound, that Glodo was shot from
a distance of at least three feet, and that the pellets from
the shotgﬁn shell traveled from the back of Glodo's head toward
the front. Record 30 to 37." |

So there's been no testimoﬁy that it was three feet. She
said three feet or more, so it could have been a greéter
distance than three feet.

THE COURT: Mr. Ousley. a

MR. OUSLEY: Your Honor, at this time I have the
transcript'df the trial on June 2, 2009, of her testimony. I
would like to make it part of the record.

THE COURT: You can make it part of the record, but
please show it to her. We're making a record aPout what other
people said she said. I would like td kﬁow what'she actually
said.

(Petitioner's Exhibit I was admitted.)

MS. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor, I}m going to have to -- I
have not seen that transcript, and I don't know that it's an

accurate depiction of the --
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THE COURT: How come everybody came to this hearing

without having seen anything?
| MS. HIGHTOWER: I'm SOrry, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You know, the defendant doesn't have the
autopsy report. The government doesn't have the transcripts.
It seems to me that this is a pretty important hearing for
people not to know too much about it. The defendant hasn't
been provided with her testimqﬁy to -- excuse me, the witness
hash't reviewed her testimony before she comes in. It seems to
me tﬁat people could be a little bit more p;epared'given the
importance of this proceeding.

So I'm going to give the witness a few minutes to look at
what she testified to. What we're trying to figure out, Madam
Witness, is what you said about the distance from which this
victim was shot, if you séid anything.

Do you see it in that transcript?

THE WITNESS: I do, Your Honor.

TﬁE COURT: All right. Take a look at it and see if
it refreshes your recoliection.

THE WITNESS: It looks hefe like I was answeriﬁg
questions about satellite injuries, satellite wounds which were
present in this case. There were five satellite wounds around
the injury.

And during that discussion, I was asked: Do you have any

idea as to what distance you're loocking at from the muzzle?
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And I said: I‘beliéve, for a definitive answer, yéu would
need a.firearms’examinér.

And then T said; In general, a rule of thumb would be
about three feet distanée or more. Again, it depends on the
gun and other factors. |

THE COURT: Three feet distance or more is what the
transcript says. And I think that's consistent with what the
Comﬁonwealth has said. Let's put this transcript in thé
record.

It is an officiai-transctiét of the trial, Mr. Ousley?

'MR. OUSLEY: Your Honor, I received this transcript
from my client. "It says it's a true and accurate transcripﬁ.

I cap't - I believe_it.is, Your Honor; I believe it is. I
would provide --

THE COURT: I'll puﬁ it in the record apd I'1ll note
that ‘it's not necessarily been authenticated.

But is that consistent with what you recall your testimony
to have been? |

THE WITNESS: Your Homor, I don't recall my testimony
ffom the first trial;_

THE COURT: All right. I'm going to put it in the
record and. note that the Commonwéalth objecﬁs to it.
Nevertheless, it's consistent with the Commonwealth's position,
so for ﬁhat it's worth.

Okay. Mr. Ousley, you may continue.
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BY MR. OUSLEY:
0. At the jury trial, would it be fair to say that you were

brought in to testify about the location of the wound?

A. I'm not sure about the motives of the prosecution in
bringing me in. But generally, my -- I'm usually brought in to
describe and explain the aufopsy findings.

Q. And I know you didmn't have time to reéd the whole
transcript, but would'it be fair to say that you were not
qualified, or at least in this case you weren't able ﬁo give

your opinion regarding the angle of the shot and how it was

fired?
A. I'm not sure what you mean by "angle."
Q. Well, I guess this. The prosecutor basically said, and

used your testimony'to support thét the defendant used a
shotgun and shot this individual in the back of the head. our
contention is there was a struggle going on and the shotgun
went. off and it grazed the back of his head causing this wound,
causing the projectiles, birdshot, to Qo -- some stay in the
head and some escaping. |

You testified that you don't know how many birdshot was in .
this round, do you?
A. Nb, no.
0. éo if I said there was over 200 birdshot, you couldn'tﬁ_
-refute that, could you?

A. No. And generally that's a firearms question. So in
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other words, I submit the pellets to the -- usually law

enforcement who are investigating the case. And they'would
submit those pellets to thé lab that they are using. And often
in Kentucky, it was the Kentucky State Lab. And then a
firearms examiner would determine whaﬁ size pellets those are
and what those would be consistent with in terms of what type
of shotgun ammunitipn. So theﬁ they would determine-generally
how many would be in fhat ammunitioﬁ, in thé shell. But ﬁhat;s
not something that I would be answering.

Q. So that person that would be answering that, would it help

them or aid them in creating their opinion to have your £full

report?
A. I'm sorry, can you rephrase that?
Q. An expert, a firearms expert, would it help them in

forming an opinion to have your full report, including the
X~-ray?

A. Are you asking me would it help a firearms expert to form
an opinion on what?

Q. On anything.

A. On anything?

Q. >Yes. Maybe the trajectory or direction. Would it be
important to have your file?

A. I don't know what kind of information a firearms

examiner -- Ilgﬁess you're asking me if I told them how many

pellets were in the head, would it help them determine how many
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o1 were in the shell?
2 || . No. What I'm asking --
3 A. I'm misunderstanding.
4 Q. Today, when you came to testify, ydu brought your medical
5 examiner's report, correét?
6 A. Yes.
7 || Q- And that report would be important to have, let's say, to

8 a defense attorney, to give to an expert to review it;_correct?
9 A. I don't know if firearms experts review autopsy reports at
10 all.

11 Q. They don't?

12 - Ms. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor, I'm going to object.

13 A. I don't know,

14 MS. HIGHTOWER: We're getting far afield from the
15 k—ray.

16 : THE COURT: She said she.didn't_know, Continue on.

17 BY MR. OUSLEY:

18 Q. So the x-ray was not important?
19 A. I'm sorry, that's not what I said. Would you like me to
20 explain again?

21 Q. Why did you take the x-réy?

22 A. So we take x-rays in evéry gunshot wound case. We don't
23 ﬁake x-rays on every single death. But if we seélan,injury
24 that looks like it might be a gunshot wound, we'll take an

25 - jI x-ray.
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1 The purpose in taking the x-ray is to help me in the

2 recovery process. So if I see shotgun pellets, shot pellets,
3 like in this case, I know that I'm recovering peilets and I'm
4 not. recovering a slug or é bullet or a bullet with a jacket or
5 bullet fragments.

6 Q. Let me sﬁop you there.

7 A. I know generally what I'm recovering.

S,A Q. Wouldnft that be important? Don't you think,that would be
S important to a ballistics expert, that x-ray, to say oh, yeah,
10 || that's bifdshot, I've seen that a thousand times? |

11 || A. I'm sorry. I don't know why you want me to read the mind
12 of a ballistics expert. I -don't know.

13 "THE COURT: Okay, wait. She said she doesn't know.
14 The questionvhas been asked and answered. Please move on.

15 BY MR. QUSLEY: |

16 Q. Was the x-ray taken contemporaneously with your

17 examination?

18 || A. The x;ray was taken prior to my examination.

19 Q. And is it all,_the‘x—ray as well as your diagrams and

20 whatnot, all kept in one file?

21 A. Sorry. I'ﬁ‘no lohger,at the medical examiner's office.
2é bAt the time thaﬁ I was at the ME's office, the x-ray fiims were
23 actual films. In the office that I'm in currently, the films
24 are digital. I don't know if they.have gone digital. At the

25 time that I was there, all of the films were kept in a storage
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area together. &and théy were just too big to be in the file.
And all of the fiie was kept in a file cabinet. But I don't
know if they've been moved or things have been shifted since
then. |

MR; OUSLEY: That's all the questions, Yoﬁr Hénor.

THE COURT: Any redirect? .

MS. HIGHTOWER: Yes, Your Honor.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. HIGHTOWER:
Q. So just to be clear, the purpose of the x-ray is omnly to
determine where buliet or bullet fragments are located in the
skull?
‘A. That's right.
Q. And then after that, after you located those pellets, then
you do your interior exam and whatever you do with the autopsy,
look at the brain, look at different parts of the brain to
determine a cause of‘death and, like, extent of the injuriés
and the cause of death?
A. Actually, I said that's right. I should step back. It
doesn't tell me exactly where the'pelléts were. Again, because
I only have an AP x-ray, I don't have a lateral x-ray.
Q. Right.
A. In this case, it just.tells'me there are pellets and that
they are in both sides of the head and that there's not a

bullet.
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1 Q. So you don;t use the x-ray at all for like any sort of --
2 because -- like location‘bf the woﬁnd, path of the bullet,
3 anything like fhat? |
4 A. No. Those things wouldn't be‘visiblé on an x-ray, that's

5 the purpose of a foremnsic pathology examination.
6 ||.Q- Right. So you could do an interior dissection or
7 examination of the injury to determine cause of death?

8 [|a.  That's right.

9 | MS. HIGHTOWER: No further questions.
10 THE COURT: All right. The witness may step down.
11 THE WITNESS: Thank you.
12 | THE COURT: Does the Commonwealth have any additional
_13 evidence?
14 || ’ 'MS. HIGHTOWER: We do not, Your Honc'Jr,
15 ' THE COURT: Very ﬁellt Mr. Oﬁsley, I notice I didn't

16 ask for an introductory statemeﬁt from‘you or you didn't really
17 offer one, but I assume ybu{d just make a summary,statgment.
18 Is that correct, Ms. Hightower?.

19 MS. HIGHTOWER: Yes, Your Honor. Dr. Schoﬁt, is she
20 free to tfavel back to Cincinﬁati?

21 - THE COURT: Yes. .Thank you very much.

22 | THE WITNESS: You're welcome.

23 | THE COURT: All right. 1Is this your only-witness?.
24 ~ MS. HIGHTOWER: Yes, ma'am.

25 _ THE COURT: Mr. Ousley, do you have any rebuttal
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witnesses?

MR. OUSLEY: Your Honor, I guess I would recall our
expert. |

THE COURT: I'1l permit it. Sir, I'll remind ?ou you
remain under oath.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

'BY MR. OUSLEY:

Q. So I guess you were in the courtroom, you heard the
testimony. My question to you; and as the Judge asked and why
we're here today, as a foremnsic gun ballistic person, does the
x-ray mean something to you, éoupled with all of the othe}
eviaence?
A. Absolﬁtely.

THE COURT: I can't hear you, sir.

THE WITNESS: Absdiutely.

THE COURT: . Okay.

MS. HIGHTOWER: Your Honor, I'm goihg to object. He

didn't -- the expert didn't even know what angle the x-ray was

from. So I'm not -- I'm going to object to him being able to
testify to 'anything like that.
THE COURT: All right. You might want to lay some

foundation, because he did testify that it looked like the

‘x—ray was from back to front, not front to back.

BY MR. OUSLEY:

Q.  What does -- I guess, number one, what does it show you?
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And does it matter -- or what does it not show you? The x-ray.
Explain how the x-ray is helpful to you.
A. First of all, the doctor testified that a technician took

the x-ray. And if it's front to back, then‘the deceased is
laying on his back and the x-ray machine is téking it from
above.

Just as easily, and becauée the wound was theré, the x-ray
could have been takep from back to front by simply turning the
lbody over. And she said they don't have thé ability to take
lateral x-réys. Well, all you have to do is turn fhe-
deceased's head to the side. So that makes no sense ﬁo me.

Q. What does the x-ray show you as a ballistics person?

A. If YOu know where the entrance wound is and you know where
the bullet or the‘méjority of the shot ends up, then that can
give you an indication of(the direction'of travel of the bullet

‘or shot in the body.

Q. And in this case, did it show you that?

A. Yes.

lQ. What direction did it show you?

A. In my opinion, it's -- the shot ended up in the right side

of the head, and the entrance was towards the left side of the
head.

MR. OUSLEY: That's all, Ypur Honor.

THE COURT? Thank you. Cross-examination.

RECROSS-EXAMINATION
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1 || BY MS. HIGHTOWER: | N

2 Q. .When‘you reviewed this case -- so it's your contention

'3 that you'sti11>bé1ieve that that x-ray is from the back?

4 A. That's qorrect.

5 Q. Even though a medical doctor has said that it's from the
6 frqnt and that's the way they did it at the ME's,office, so

7 you're still saying thgt it's from the back?

8 A. Well, she said'shé didn't take it énd the technician took
9 it. And it wasn't labeled on the x-ray as to what direction it
10 was taken from. Judging by the wound to the back of the heaa

11 and that x-ray, it appears to me that it was taken from the

12 back.

13 Q. I mean, she ﬁestified that it was taken from the front.
i4 So you're -- you disagree with that?

15 || A. I -- yeah, I disagree with that. And it sounded like to

16 me she said it was taken from the front based upon what they
17 generally do and what the technicians do. But she didn't take

18 it. Nobody labeled it.

19 || @. I think -- I think she testified it was takeﬁ from the
20 front.

21 And but when you -- so you -- so-ydﬁr entire expert

22 opinion is based upon the fact that if's taken -- thaﬁ that

23 x-ray is takeﬁ from the back with regard to, like, where you
24 think the angle of the shot was?.

25 A. No, that's not the entire thing, but that adds to it.
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Q.. Okay.

MS. HIGHTOWER; No further questioﬁs.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Ousley.

MR. OUSLEY: One thing.

FURTHER REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. OUSLEY:
Q. I think I asked you before, where is the wadding?
Wouldn't that be in the x-ray?
A. The wadding should show up in the x-ray. A shot at that
distance should have -~ the péllets and the wadding would be
traﬁeling together and enter the wound, and therefpre enter the
head.

THE COURT: So the further away the shot was, the
less likely it is that wadding would be in the head; is that
cérfect? That's what you're saying?

. THE WITNESS: Yes, Your Honor.
| THE COURTE If the shot was right at point blank,
there would be some wadding there because it hadn't traveled;
is that correct?
ITHE WITNESS: Yeah. Or three feet, it would still be
traveling.
THE COURT: But at three feet or more, and we can't
say what distance; what wouid happen?
THE WITNESS: Well, at greater distance, it would

separate.
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THE COURT: So the Qreater the distance, whatever
that is.

THE WITNESS: Right.

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. That's helpful.

I just want to ask you something. You can't say that this
is front or back, can yoﬁ?

THE WITNESS: It's not labeled.

THE COURT: But you don't know. Does anything in
your expertise qualify you to say whether this was from the
front or the back? °

THE WITNESS: No. As I said, I'm not a medical
doctbr.

THE COURT: All right. -Thank.you.

Anything else?
MS. HIGHTbWER: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: All right. You may step doﬁn.
‘Any more evidéncé, Mr. Ousley?
_ MR. OUSLEY: Nb, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Ail right. Would you like to make a
summary statement? |

MR. OUSLEY: Your Honor, this case has kept me up
night after night. I know I loqked at it and said, wow, what a
.prosecutor's worst nightmare. I know as a federal prosecutor
we would send Brady letters to ensure this never occurred.

State court, as a state prosecutor, I did not send those types
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of letters.

This is a situation where discovery was not turned.over.
Now, legally it might not matter if it was on purpose or not,
but reading through the record and knowing what_I know about
this case, at some point the government knew that this x-ray
existed and theylfought and they fought and they fought open
records réquésts forstop if from being given to the defendant.
Ultimately it was.

In 2611, Dehus has tesﬁified that he was. given multiple
photos and all types of different thihgs and he could notl——
could not render an opinion that was dispositive. And he even
says in there, I wish we had an x-ray. Now, just because --
that x-ray, it matters not if.itfs from the front, back, side
or whatever. What's important is what you can see. Or what's
even more important is what you cannot see.

| There were 11 women and one man on the jury. Ilfalkedsto
David Hoskiné. Anybody'that -- yoﬁ knéw what? I'shbuld have
asked Dr. Schott, has she ever shot a shotgun? vThat was one of
my questions. Because anybody that'é ever éhot a shotgun
knows, if you shot someone in the back of thé head, they're not
even going to have a face at a close range.

What this does, ﬁhat this x-ray shows, is what all the
rest of the evidence shows, and that is this. They got into a
scuffle, Johnny Phillips pulled out a shotgun, and the decedent

in this case followed him, he was the initial aggressor. He
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came after Johnny. And he comes ouf qf his vehicle and he
chargeé-him with a knife. And Johnny had a shotgun at port
arms. Johnn& ig six-five. The decedent is 230, around six
foot himself. And he goes for Johnny's waist and thére's a
struggle and the wéapon goes off.

and I would tell the Court this. And when the Court looks
at all this, there's a struggle and the shotgun goe; off and it
grazes, it doesn't go in, it grazes the back of his head and
enters and exits wheré it's described as the entrance wound;
But that birdshot, some of it goes in. There's 240-some odd
5irdshot in this rouﬁd that was uséd. How do we know that?
Becaﬁse the other rounds were taken_énd birdshot were counted.
There's anywhere froﬁ 220 to 260 birdshot. 19 birdshot was
taken from the brain. We've heard testimony today that_migﬁt
not have been all of it.

But what's important is with that bifdshot is also
wadding, the packaging. That would be in that X-ray if.it was
at close range and was point blénk. This was at close range,
but it wasn}t point blank. It was a grazing.

And you know what? He was alive for 20 to 30 minutes. CIf
you look at the 911 tape as well as the deputy that arrived on
scene, it says in his report, EMS, he got there about 15 ﬁo 18
minutes after the_Shoofing and_EMS was still working on this
man. The reason why, it was a grazing wound that went up the

back -- back, it came out here, midline. 'If he was shot at
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point blénk in the back of the head, he would be dead.

The x-fay itself,.I believe that the Commonwealth almost
proves our case that this is material because they brought in
their trial expert. We just had the battle of the experts
before the Court. This should be in ffont of a jury. Evidence
is material within the meaning of Brady when there is a
reasonable probability -- a reasonable probability, that's a
very low standard, Your Honor. That's not even -- in these
cases that I cited, that's not eve# a p?eéonderancé of the
evidence. 1It's a very.low standard, very low burden that the
defendant.has to show when there's a Brady violation -- that if
the evidence had been disclosed, the result of the proceeding
would be diffe%ent.‘ A reasonable probability of a different
result is one in which the suppressed evidence undermines the
confidénce in the outcome of the trial.

It's.legally a simple exercise, but féctually, it's very
complex. We've got a doctor, we've got this forensic expert,
and now we've got testimony from each that conflicts with one
anothéf. That, in itself, Your Honor, makes it material,

And keep in mind, Your Honor, not only dées it have to --
it goes to guilt or innocence, but alsorto an aggravator or

mitigator. If this evidence -- let's say that it might

| mitigate or show that this was some type of manslaughter, not

wanton murder. So it's important, and we point that out to the

Court, that when we talk about is it material or not, would it
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have hung the jury, would one ﬁerson, and that is something
that when we look at it, couplea with the other evidence.

Now, our expert is not coming in‘hgre just on the x-ray
alone. He;s coming here looking, like in his 2011 letter, he
had reviewéd all these different things. And then_when he got
the x-ray, and he even said in his 2011 letter, it would be
gice'to have the x-ray, perhaps it could help me. And now he
has the x-ray, he's come before this Court to offer an opinion,
right or wrong. |

I believe he would be qualified as an eXpeft in.state
court, and I believe that he would be able to render an opiniop
that would be favéfable and that would frankly.go with the
version of the events of theé defendant.

I'm prepared today, I have no problem with putting this
defendant up on the stand. I would do it right now if I
thought it wouldn't be a waste of time fqr.the Court.

And I'll say this. The fact that this is a Brady
violation, we know that it's a Brady violation. The fact we
get to, is it material? We are arguing that yes, it is. 1It's
material to his defense. It's material as a mitigator. And
lthat we}ve shown by bringing this expert in is that we could.
perhaps put reésonable_doubt in someone ~- a reasonable jﬁror's_
mind.

It's a situation wheré the Commonwealth, when looking at

this case -- and this isn't directed to Ms. Hightower because I
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know she's got this case, but having been a piosecutor in every
position in the Eastern District, I've worked for the AG's
office, I've worked as a Commonwealth attorney, worked as a
County attorney, worked as a federal prosecutor. Listen, it is
an adversarial System, but the United States and the
Commonwealth has the luxury of doing what's right.

And this man, going to trial without this X-ray, is
fundaﬁéntally wrong. And I would go to trial tomorrow. 2As a
matter of fact, I'd go to the grand jury first and have him
testify there.‘ But it is fundamentally wrong to come back and
say look, we know we didn't give you this, but it‘doesn;t help
your case, itfs not material, after'they‘fought for years to
tfy.to say it didn't exist.

But, Your Honor, this is a case whére, as Judge Thapar put
it in his order, it was a hiccup. 1It's much, much more serious
than a hiccup. It's a cardiac arrest. It's a prosecutor's
worst nigﬁtmare to go to_trial and not have turned 6ver
evidence that possibly could help the defendant. And that's
exactly what happened in this case.

Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you. Ms. Hightower.

ﬁs. HIGHTOWER: You? Honor, I'm going to take issue
with sométhing that Mr. Ousley said. I don‘t think thaf the
'Commonwealth ever fought to not give the x-ray over to

Mr. Phillips. I think what happened was, is that the
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prosecutor thought there was no x-ray. And then they found out
that there was ahd then eventually it was turned over. I don't
think that they ever fought to keep it away from Mr. Phillips.

We are here about whether the x-ray was Brady material.
And there are three components to Brady. The evidence at issue
is favorable to the accused, it was suppressed, and prejudice
ensued.

. The first component is that the evidence was favorable to
the accused. Our medical examiner came in here today and she
said -- she testified in Court that the purpose of the x-ray
was so that she could determine the location of the pelleté and
the bullets in the victim‘é brain. That was ﬁhe only purpose
of the X-ray.

So it's our contention that we don't even get past the
first component, that this evidence was even faﬁorable:tb
Mr. Phillips.

' We don't contest the fact fhat he was denied access -- or
that he didn't have access to the x-ray. So even if this Cpurt
does find that it was favorable to him, there was no prejﬁdice.
And the reason that there was no ﬁrejudice is because the
evidence at trial was very strong refuting Mr. Phillips:
contention that this was an accidental/self-defense situation.

Mr. Ousley has correctly stated the materiality, in
discussing prejudice, the question becomes was it material.

‘And the evidence is material when there is a reasonable
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1 probability that the evidence -- had the evidenée been

2 disclosed, the proceeding would have been different. A

3 || reasonable probability of a different result is one in which

4 the suppressed evidence undermines confidence in the outcome of
5 the trial. Ana that is determined in the context of the entire
6 - tria1, not in a vacuum. So you have to look at all of the

7 evidence.

8 The Commonwealth put on the medical examiner, who

9 testified regarding the extemsive nature of the wound or injury
10 to thé back of the victim's head. 'She reiterated it today. It
11 || was not unremarkable. She testified to the very extensive
12 natufe of thé wound, and it was inconsis£ent with a grazing

13 wound. |
14 - They had a firearms.expért who came in and teétified at
15 || trial, who statéd that the shotgun at_issue was fully

16 -functional, it did not malfunction. Or when he tested it, it
-_17_ did not malfunction, which refuted Mf, Phillips' contention

18 || that the gun went off accidentally.

19 So in looking at the medical examiner's testimony, which
20 ‘ refutes his coﬁteﬁtion that it'waé a self-defense sifuation,

21 || and the firearms examiner at trial who testified that the

22 shotgun was fully functioning, properly functioning, which

23 refutés his accident claim at trial, it is our contention that
24 this evidence was not material and he was not prejudiced so

25 that the outcome of the trial would have been different had the
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1 x-ray been turned over.
2 We would ask that you would affirm the Magistrate's
3 opinion below. Thank you.
4 THE COURT: Thank you. - I want to be sure I've got

'5 all the evidence that I need to look at here.

6 Mr. Ousley, we have Exhibits A through, was it F?
7 -.MR. OUSLEY: I believe so, Your Honor.

8 THE COURT: I want you to double-check with the clerk
9 herg to be sure we got everything in. th don't you iét-him

10 look at that.

11 MR. .OUSLEY:- May I approaéh?

12 THE COURT: You may. And, Ms. Hightower,; did you add

13 any exhibits? You had one, I believe.

14 ' . MS. HIGHTOWER: Well, I have the --

15 THE COURT: The diagram.

"16 MS. HIGHTOWER: I have the diagram, but I never -- I
'17 néver used it, but it is demonstrative of what she -- because

18 you difected me to only talk about the x-ray, so I didn't talk
19 about it.

20 THE COURT: That's fine. But I'm going to put your
21 copy of the x-ray in as Defense A then.

22 (Defendant's Exhibit A was admitted.)

23 MS. HIGHTOWER: Okay.
24 THE COURT: I don't need the diagram.
25 » MS. HIGHTOWER: . Okay.

142 a




Case;

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
© 17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

6:13_-cv'-00022-KKC—EBA Doc #: 137 Filed: 06/08/18 Page: 61 of 68 - Page ID#:
' 2910 61

MR. OUSLEY: A through I, Your Honor.

THE COURT: A through I. ‘A11 right.

Thank yoﬁ all very much. I appreciate your_attention to
this matter, this deserves the Court's careful attention, so
I'm going to take some time -—-Mr.IOusley, I think your client
wants to say something.

MR. PHILLIPS: 1I've never had‘an.opportunity in any
court of law to add:ess any Court, Your Honor. I mean no
disrespect. If I could briefly,.just briefly address the
Court.

THE COURT: Here's what I want you to understand, and
I'm going to let you do it. But it is not this Court's role to
determine your guilt or innocence -- '

THE DEFENDANT: .I understand. I understand.

THE COURT: -- in this case. I have a Qery
'specific -- and I certainly understand if I were in your shoes,
how you feel. But if yoﬁ have something to add regarding the
materiality of this x-ray, I'll hear it.

But you know, I don't want to gee into the facts of the
case.. And you betﬁer talk with Mr. oOusley before yoﬁ do that.
Because anything you say could be used against you in
another -- if you were to'get another trial.

MR. PHILLIPS: That's the thing. There's never been
a lie told in my case. I never hid nothing, nothing's been

contradicted as far as my version of events. I've discussed it
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at length with my counsel.
THE COURT: All right.
MR. PHILLIPS: “If at all possible.
THE COURT: You may speaki
MR. PHILLIPS: May I address the Couxt, is it okay --
TﬁEvCOURT: You can just sit still.
MR. PHILLIPS: Yes, ma'am.

The State's expert testified that there was no wadding
within the'cavitylof the brain. The autopsy report clearly
articulates she removed the brain that weighed 1420 grams. and
was unremarkable. |

Now she's provided testimony today, a deéade later, that
contradicts that written record that was within the record of
this Cburt. All right?

My exbert testified verbally and in written reports that a
12-gauge shotgun would produce an entrance wound of a little
over an inch. If you loék at the depiction in the photographs“
and the exploding.view of the x-ray, regardless if it's taken
from the f?ont or back, it shows fractures of ﬁhe human skull
from oné side of the skull to the other. That is iﬁ no form
cumulative of the evidence pﬁt'forth at trial.

. The Commonwealth's theory of this case, just about quoting
verbatim, was that he was prodded at»three to four feet, which
is.actually accurate of the distance this happened; A large

size male's arm, mine's 30-some inches long, and his hand
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slipped off the barrel, pulling on it, trying to take the
weapon from me. That's how this happened, just like this.
Your .Honor, just like'this, from the side, pﬁlling on that
barrel.

THE COURT: ©Now we're getting into what‘happened.
And I'm sorry, I don't want to cut you off, but I can't take
that into consideration.

MR. PHILLIPS: That's what the x-ray depicts. The
fractures in the x-rays; that's what they depidt. She
testified clearly that she could not make those determinations
from the x-ray. That's fhe materiality of the x-ray, enﬁirely
right there. |

If T would have had the X-ray priorité trial -- there's an
affidavitvnpw in the record from my trial counsel thét says
absolutely, he would have brought this. expert forth, who would
have investigated the record, just like he done post trial,
discoveied there was no x-ray included, ﬁe would have had the
x~ray, he would have examined and testified before the Court at
triallfqr what he's testified here today, refuting the
assertion that this man was shbt execution style.

With that being said, it would have changed the entire
tenor of the trial. My entire defense was based upon what has
never been refuted, the facts of this case.

As far as the standard, both my counsel and the

Commonwealth has articulated the standard precisely but they
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stoppad short. There's ona_qther step ia that standard,
whether or-not I was denied a fair trial.

"And if you look at the availability of science and what
could have been done pretrial in an investigation, as far as
retaining this experf, presenting this to the jury -- when you
think.about the Commonwealth's'theory of the case, prodding him
in the back of the head fiom behind, from back to front,
there's an additional expert's report attached to my amended
habeas claim -- habeas petition.

Brass Fletcher, he articulated clearly there's a photo of
him taking the same gun, the same kind of gun, the same.kind of
ammunition and shooting ballistic gelatin at 12 feet. ,At
12 feet. And the wadding'traveled.with the shot and entered
the ballistic gelatin. It had to be in ahera for their theory
to be correct. That x-ray shows it's not in there. . You're
talking about 12 feet. The Commonwealth's distance is correct,
I concede their distance, three to four feet is correct. Large
isize male, 30-some inches. When it slips off the end of the
barrel, that's how it happened. So that's accurate.

But the science, the x-ray proves the scientific testimony
from Mr. Dehus. It's unrefutable. It had to ba in there for
their theory to be correct. She said there was no exit wound.
If you count the projectiles located by the x-ray on the side,
that's what she retrieved. ©Now, the other 200, not shown.

Where did they go? You can see the ones she retrieved, you can
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just count the ones on the x-ray, 19 to 20 fragments. They are
identified perfectly in the x-ray. There was no other 220.
If you look at this, the gaping skin on this side was

caused by pushing flesh to the side. It wasn't caused by --

' these are exiting pellets on one side of the head. The X-ray

depicts that completely by the fracﬁures her expert identified
during the testimony. She testified bones of the human skull
left, center and right. ‘;f an entrance wound is one inch, how
do you get a éix-inch wound? For her own theory to be cdrrect,
it refutes the entire theory. Do you see what I'm saying?

You can't have it both ways. She testified the X-rays
proved conclusively the fracture started on this side of the

human skull, stated the bones specifically, traveled across,

'upward and to the right, fracturing the occiput, all the way

over té the right-hand sidé. ~Perfect match to what Mr. Dehus
conclusively stated it would have done up there.

You have got Brass Fetcher, the other expert's report
that's in there, the medicél-legal examples thét's:out of that
forensic pathology college book that's attached to my amended
habeas, it's got other victims’ examples, textbéok'examples
that match fhis talking about the materiality.of this x-ray.

It don't just stop at whether or not it proves shot
direction. What ﬁhe standard, as you are very -- nobody needs
to cite the standard to you, you know if it denies you a fair

trial, that's all I want. 1I've never told a lie in this case.
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Not one person in this trial record -- you got the video
record, YOu got the transcripts -- have ever made a

contradictory_statement about the facts of this case.

I 1efr my own home;- It's all within the recordt My
affidavit's in the record that's attached to my original
habeas. They don't even dispute that. Nothing in this is
disputed. )

As far as materiality, the difference in a‘jurdrFs mind of
him being prodded at point black in the back of the head, or
whether this happened in a struggle and it fired from the.side
is astronomical. One's capital murder, wanton murder, wanton
‘conduct,emanifesting'extreme indifference to ﬁhe value of human
life by prodding an individual unprovoked in the back of head.
The other is my version of the events. It clearly proves I
told the truth.

I stood at the scene. Called 9i1, stood at the scene.

911 dispatch said almost 30 minutes later while I was screaming
for air med coordinates to get a chopper in there to get my
friend help.' He was still alive. First officer on the scene,
Richard Sapcutt's police report articulates clearly he'svgot ;'
cannonball size hole in the side of his head, not in the back,
inlrhe side of his head. The first and only man to see him at
the scene. You look at the transcript from the 911 dispatch,
he's in there. That officer depicted that wound precisely.

THE COURT: Thank you very much.
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MR. PHILLIPS: I just want a fair day in court.

That's all I want.

THE COURT: I understand. Thank you for your

comments.

'MR. PHILLIPS: Thank you for your time.

THE COURT: Mr. Ousley, anything elsge?

MR. OUSLEY: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Anything else?

MS. HIGHTOWER: No, Your Homnor.
THE COURT: Okay. Thank you'all very much.

concludes this hearing. We'll be in recess.

(Proceedings concluded at 6:00 p.m.)

CERTIPFICATE
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